Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster

by

Travis J. Rapp

B.S.E., Civil and Environmental Engineering, Duke University, 2011

Submitted to the Department of Mechanical Engineering and Sloan School of Management in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degrees of

Naval Engineer and Master of Science in Engineering and Management

in conjunction with the Naval Construction and Engineering and the System Design and Management Programs

at the

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

June 2019

© 2019 Travis J. Rapp. All rights reserved.

The author hereby grants to MIT permission to reproduce and to distribute publicly paper and electronic copies of this thesis document in whole or in part in any medium now known or hereafter created.

-Signature redacted



.

Disclaimer

The views expressed and observations made in this document are those of the author and do not reflect the official position or polices of the United States Navy, Department of Defense, or any entity of the Government.

Certain commercial entities, equipment, products, or materials are identified in this thesis in order to describe a procedure or concept adequately or to trace the history of the procedures and practices used. Such identification is not intended to imply recommendation, endorsement, or implication that the entities, products, materials, or equipment are necessarily the best available for the purpose.

Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster

by

Travis J. Rapp

Submitted to the Department of Mechanical Engineering and Sloan School of Management on May 2, 2019 in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degrees of Naval Engineer and Master of Science in Engineering and Management

Abstract

As the nation's security needs call for a growing naval fleet, the public-private industrial base for construction and weapon system acquisition will be stressed to perform at a high level of operational excellence. While reaching the required fleet size is a major challenge, ships are the delivery vehicles for complex weapons systems whose design and production is equally critical to deliver capability that the Fleet needs. Underperformance in defense acquisitions is found to be caused by complexity, uncertainty, and risk manifested through poor requirements that are unadaptable to the changing reality of the global security landscape.

This thesis hypothesizes that use of model-based engineering (MBE) will enable the needed efficiency and responsiveness. MBE consists of digital tools motivated by the principles of traceability and high-velocity design iteration that collectively connect requirements to technical specifications in a model-centric format in contrast to the document-based form prevalent today. Given the problem of disengagement between the request for proposal and the finished product, prior case examples of using MBE elsewhere in the defense and industrial establishment show a bridge for the divide between capability requirements and technical realization.

An original process-based shipbuilding production model further demonstrates how understanding effects of component changes affects overall system production. Changes in a ship's required operational capabilities, translated to technical design parameters, are mapped to production steps. The simulated performance is compared across three successive stages of construction when the change is ordered. Results of model simulations demonstrate that similar MBE applications contribute to increased early requirement fidelity, decreases in rework through missed changes, and more rapid design iteration when the models used are properly verified and validated.

Verification and validation (V&V) must be performed in a very specific environment to engender confidence in model usage through a systemic framework. One method of V&V, System Theoretic Process Analysis for Security, is illustrated using an original concept illustration of a Fictional Submarine Strategic Missile. The domain of MBE is expanded to include definition of cybersecurity requirements for a new weapon system to illustrate an iteration of model-based system design. The modeling of these requirements contributes to validated resilience upon delivery, decreasing the likelihood that cyber-physical systems will be forced to rely on time-consuming updates that delay the capability delivery.

Thesis Supervisor: Dr. Steven Spear Title: Senior Lecturer, MIT Sloan School of Management

Thesis Supervisor: Prof. Daniel Frey Title: Professor of Mechanical Engineering

Acknowledgements

I will be eternally grateful for the opportunity afforded to me by the U.S. Navy for graduate study at MIT. The journey that culminated in the thesis was far from an individual effort. I owe a debt of gratitude to my talented classmates that have helped and taught me so much along the way.

Much gratitude goes to my advisors, Steve Spear and Dan Frey for agreeing to support my project and providing the inspiration and guidance necessary to turn my ideas into a finished product.

From the MIT Materials System Laboratory – many thanks to Richard Roth for sharing his research on shipyard manufacturing processes and providing key guidance for my process-based cost model. Fred Kautz and Neil Brock at Draper helped to formulate the problem concepts in cybersecurity and provided continuous guidance and feedback as I sought to explore some non-traditional domains and topics.

<u>Many others</u> personally lent their time, effort, expertise, and guidance without which this thesis would not have been possible. For the numerous phone calls, site visits, and consultations - thank you for serving as a critical resource in my understanding of production work and illuminating challenges that take place in designing and delivering naval sea systems.

Finally, the incredible support of my family and friends has been and will be a constant presence in my life and my enduring source of strength.

Contents

List of Figures	. 13
List of Tables	. 15
Key Acronyms	. 17
1.0 Introduction	. 19
1.1 Navy the Nation Needs	. 19
1.2 Imperative of Global Competition	. 20
1.3 Resilient Acquisition	. 21
1.4 Model-Based Engineering in Focus	. 22
1.5 High-Velocity Learning Line of Effort	. 23
1.6 Thesis Outline: Chain of Causality	. 24
1.7 Starting Point	. 25
2.0 Production Underperformance – Why?	. 27
2.1 Enemies of Progress	. 29
2.1.1 Complexity	. 30
2.1.2 Uncertainty	. 32
2.1.3 Risk	. 35
2.2 Requirement Generation	. 36
2.2.1 Ambiguity	. 37
2.2.2 Navy Acquisition Program Record	. 38
2.2.3 Shipyard Production Challenges	. 40
2.2.4 Changing Methods and Documentation	. 42
2.3 Hypothesis: Collective Solution	. 43
3.0 Model-Based Engineering: Focus on System Production	. 47
3.1 Systems Engineering	. 47
3.1.1 Document Based Artifacts	. 48
3.2 Models Used in Systems Engineering	. 49
3.2.1 Types of Models	. 49
3.2.2 Language and Methodology Examples	. 50
3.3 Goals of Modeling	. 52
4.0 Mind the Gap: Models Connect Needs with Reality	. 55
4.1 Small Commercial Cube Satellites	. 55

4.3 Weapon System Guidance and Navigation	59
4.4 Industrial Materials Plant Machinery	60
4.5 Israeli Defense Force "Iron Dome"	62
4.6 Set Based Design Framework	64
4.7 Takeaways: Principles for Complex Systems Acquisition	67
5.0 Case Study: Shipbuilding Production Model	69
5.1 Hospital Ship Requirements Model	71
5.1.1 Required Operational Capabilities	71
5.1.2 Requirements Model	71
5.2 Engineering System Design Structure Matrix	74
5.3 Production Performance Model	78
5.3.1 Production Processes	78
5.3.2 Rate Coefficients and Simulator Tool	79
5.3.3 Requirement Change Simulation Scenario	80
5.4 Simulate Deterministic Output	81
5.4.1 Simulation Round 1- Changes to Affected Components	83
5.4.2 Simulation Round 2- Addition of Task Quantity Increases	84
5.4.3 Simulation Round 3 – Rate Coefficient Variation	85
5.4.4 Deterministic Comparison	86
5.5 Uncertainty and Sensitivity Analysis	88
5.5.1 Application of Uncertainty to Production Model	88
5.5.2 Uncertainty Observations	90
5.6 Final Case Study Test Results	91
5.6.1 Smarter Requirements	91
5.6.2 Change Codification	92
5.6.3 Right System, First Time	92
5.7 Model Verification and Validation	93
6.0 Towards the Final Hurdle: Model Verification and Validation	95
6.1 Test Like You Fly	95
6.2 Exhaustive Tracing	97
6.3 Verification and Validation During Design	99
6.3.1 System Theoretic Process Analysis	99
6.4 Execution Roadman	01

7.0 Concept Illustration: Weapon System Cybersecurity	
7.1 Concept Illustration Hypotheses	
7.2 Cybersecurity Resiliency	106
7.2.1 Resilience Throughout System Lifecycle	106
7.2.2 Threat of the Unknown	107
7.2.3 Cyber-Physical MBSE	109
7.3 STPA for Security	
7.4 Final Concepts	129
7.4.1 Next Steps	130
7.4.2 Cyber Resiliency Conclusions	130
8.0 Conclusion	135
8.1 Implications for the Defense Acquisitions Community	136
8.2 Future Work	137
8.3 Personal Takeaways	138
Appendix A: Uncertainty in U.S. Navy Force Structure Assessment	139
Appendix B: Shipyard Visits	142
Appendix C: Delivery, Test, and Certification Timeline Illustration	
Appendix D: Requirement and Component Interaction Model Detail	
Appendix E: Shipbuilding Processes and Rate Coefficients	
Appendix F: Simulation of Shipbuilding Processes for SWBS Group 580 Requir Change	ement 149
Appendix G: Cost and Schedule Simulator Views	153
Appendix H: Uncertainty Forecasts	157
Appendix I: Verification and Validation Artifacts	159
Bibliography	161

List of Figures

Figure 1: Simple closed loop controller diagram	. 21
Figure 2: "Resiliency" and "Acquisition" combined and defined	. 22
Figure 3: High-Velocity Learning and Model-Based Engineering common principles	. 23
Figure 4: Delivery delay in the lead hull of most recent eight ship classes [12]	. 27
Figure 5: Discovery process flow around production and delivery underperformance	. 28
Figure 6: "Robust" vs. "Resilient" system characteristics	. 29
Figure 7: Complicated, but not complex - Grand Seiko Spring Drive watch components [16].	. 31
Figure 8: Complex defense system uncertainty map, figure adapted by author from [20]	. 33
Figure 9: Zumwalt-Class Guided Missile Destroyer (DDG-1000) [30]	. 38
Figure 10: Global security landscape effect on DDG-1000 use context	. 39
Figure 11: Vicious cycle of acquisitions, figure adapted by author from [40]	. 44
Figure 12: Systems engineering and associated processes [25]	. 48
Figure 13: Engineering System Matrix, figure adapted by author from [8]	. 51
Figure 14: Stakeholder control structure with system information for modeling	. 54
Figure 15: Industrial plant machinery MBSE application, figures adapted by author from [61]	. 60
Figure 16: Structural-functional top-level view of a ballistic missile defense system, from [62]] 63
Figure 17: Set Based Design analysis comparing variants of a medium-surface combatant [65	65
Figure 18: Design rendering of Next Generation Hospital Ship (T-AH 21) [71]	. 69
Figure 19: Shipbuilding production process model chapter workflow	. 70
Figure 20: Production Model Step 1 - Requirements Traceability	72
Figure 21: Functionality of requirements traceability model	73
Figure 22: Production Model Step 2 – Component Interactions	. 74
Figure 23: Engineering System Matrix (ESM) model connecting ROC to System Components	s 75
Figure 24: Hospital Ship Requirement and Component-group Engineering System Matrix	76
Figure 25: Using the Requirement-Component Engineering System Matrix	77
Figure 26: Production Model Step 3 - Process Based Cost Model determines results	78
Figure 27: Example commercial boat davit in a testing configuration [71]	81
Figure 28: Location of requirement change - proposed upgrade to boat transfer davit [71]	81
Figure 29: Stage of Construction color legend used in the production model	82
Figure 30: ESM dependency changes throughout successive construction changes	83
Figure 31: Simulation Rd. 1 -accounts only for increase in tasks to execute requirements chan	nge
during three successive stages of construction	84
Figure 32: Simulation Rd. 2 - changes in task quantities (SWBS 100-Group changes shown).	85
Figure 33: Simulation Rd. 3 - variation in work rate across three stages of construction (exam	ple
figures shown illustrating a basic "1-4-8" rate heuristic)	. 86
Figure 34: Impact of requirement change on schedule, summary	87
Figure 35: Impact of requirement change on labor costs, summary	87
Figure 36: Uncertainty simulations- cost and schedule impacts for advanced stage changes	90
Figure 37: Enhanced Ground Testing (EGT) validation of guidance components [85]	97
Figure 38: Individual Specification Dedicated Verification Ledger [82]	99
Figure 39: Overview of STPA method [87]	101
Figure 40: Cyber MBE Concept Illustration lines of effort	104
Figure 41: Concept illustration process flow summary	105

Figure 42: Cybersecurity Resiliency for complex naval systems, defined	. 106
Figure 43: Abstraction of "Classification Integrity" metric vs. time	. 107
Figure 44: Typical cyber-physical defense control structure	. 108
Figure 45: Vulnerabilities in the cyber-physical defense structure	. 108
Figure 46: System adaptation using Real Options at technological junctures, or epochs	. 109
Figure 47: Notional Cyber Attack Surface, adapted by author with permission from [89]	. 110
Figure 48: OPD of the overall FSSM Weapon System with Missile and Guidance sub-system	IS
highlighted	. 113
Figure 49: Missile Subsystem basis for analysis, from public domain source [94]	. 114
Figure 50: Guidance Subsystem basis for analysis, from public domain source [94]	. 114
Figure 51: FSSM Control Structure with system acquisition, development and operations	
engagements, adapted with permission from [89]	. 117
Figure 52: FSSM Missile Subsystem Object-Process Diagram	. 119
Figure 53: FSSM Guidance Subsystem Object Process Diagram	. 120
Figure 54: Operational control structure, adapted by author from [103]	. 121
Figure 55: Sub-system DSM interface map key	. 123
Figure 56: FSSM Missile subsystem design structure matrix	. 123
Figure 57: FSSM Guidance subsystem design structure matrix	. 124
Figure 58: Double Loop Model Learning, adapted by author from [98]	. 125
Figure 59: Missile Sub-system object process diagram with selected vulnerability analysis	. 126
Figure 60: Guidance Sub-system object process diagram with selected vulnerability analysis	. 127
Figure 61: OPNAV FY19 Long Range Shipbuilding Plan [99]	. 128
Figure 62: Test or Mission simulation control structure, adapted by author from [23], [93]	. 129
Figure 63: Hierarchical decomposition model of the weapon system and associated levels of	
potential STPA-Sec applications	. 130
Figure 64: Concept Illustration hypotheses and conclusions summary	. 131
Figure 65: Why use MBE for resiliency in cyber-physical systems?	. 131
Figure 66: MBE speeds the OODA loop of production advancement	. 135

List of Tables

Table 1: Robust versus Resilient system state examples	30
Table 2: Shipyard production challenges related to requirement management	40
Table 3: Modeling purpose, adapted by author from [11]	52
Table 4: Lifecycle processes and modeling utility, adapted by author from [11]	53
Table 5: CubeSat MBSE use case/implementation blueprint [57]	56
Table 6: CubeSat Case Study gap analysis	57
Table 7: NAVAIR Case Study gap analysis [58], [59]	58
Table 8: Draper Guidance MBE Case Study gap analysis	60
Table 9: Five step process used in modularity motivated MBSE exploration [59]	61
Table 10: Industrial Case Study gap analysis	62
Table 11: Iron Dome Case Study gap analysis	64
Table 12: Set and Model-Based Engineering, table adapted by author from [67]	66
Table 13: Naval ship construction stages of construction [37], [76]	82
Table 14: Uncertainty Parameters	89
Table 15: Deterministic and uncertain simulation comparison	89
Table 16: Standardized Modular Verification Management Process	
Table 17: Eight Steps of Systems Theoretic Process Analysis for Security [93]	112
Table 18: Mission-critical failure states, adapted by author from [73]	115
Table 19: STPA-Sec Step 2 - Unacceptable Losses	116
Table 20: STPA-SEC Step 3 - System Hazards	116
Table 21: Missile sub-system element responsibility map to key activities [94]	122
Table 22: Guidance sub-system element responsibility map to key activities [94]	122
Table 23: Weapon System Cyber Resiliency, table adapted by author from [95], [96]	132

Key Acronyms

Acronym	Acronym Meaning	
AIAA	American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics	
CIWS	Close-In Weapon System	
CSDL	The Charles Stark Draper Laboratory, Inc.	
CVN	Aircraft Carrier, Nuclear	
DDG	Guided Missile Destroyer	
DoD	U.S. Department of Defense	
DSM	Design Structure Matrix	
EGT	Enhanced Ground Testing	
ESM	Engineering Systems Matrix	
FFG	Guided Missile Fast Frigate	
FSSM	Fictional Submarine Strategic Missile	
FY	Fiscal Year	
HII	Huntington Ingalls Industries	
HVL	High-Velocity Learning	
IEEE	Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers	
INCOSE	International Council on Systems Engineering	
INSURV	Board of Inspection and Survey	
JCIDS	Joint Capabilities Integration and Development System	
LCS	Littoral Combat Ship	
MBE	Model-Based Engineering	
MBSE	Model-Based Systems Engineering	
MDAO	Multi-Disciplinary Analysis and Optimization	
MSL	MIT Materials Systems Laboratory	
NAVAIR	Naval Air Systems Command	
NAVSEA	Naval Sea Systems Command	
OODA	Observe-Orient-Decide-Act	
OPD	Object Process Diagram	
OPL	Object Process Language	
OPM	Object Process Model	
RFP	Request For Proposal	
ROC	Required Operational Capability	
SBD	Set-Based Design	
SSBN	Strategic Ballistic Missile Submarine	
SSN	Attack Submarine, Nuclear	
SSP	Strategic Systems Program	
STPA	PA System Theoretic Process Analysis	
STPA-Sec	System Theoretic Process Analysis for Cybersecurity	
SWBS	Ship's Work Breakdown Structure	
SWS	Strategic Weapon System	
SysML	System Modeling Language	
T-AH	Hospital Ship	
TLYF	Test Like You Fly	
USG	United States Government	
USN	United States Navy	
V&V	Verification and Validation	

Chapter 1

1.0 Introduction

A good Navy is not a provocation to war. It is the surest guaranty of peace.

President Theodore Roosevelt Second Annual Message to Congress, December 2, 1902

As the clock struck midnight on January 1, 2019, the Fleet of the United States Navy had 287 deployable battle force ships and submarines, with 75 of those assets currently deployed protecting our national interests. Three aircraft carriers were underway projecting Naval air power – USS *Carl Vinson* (CVN 70) in the Pacific Ocean, USS *John C. Stennis* (CVN 74) in vicinity of the Middle East, and USS *George H.W. Bush* (CVN 77) in the Atlantic Ocean. Additionally, three amphibious assault ships (*Essex, Boxer*, and *Kearsarge*) were globally positioned at sea standing ready to support the U.S. Marine Corps ashore. Under the surface of the ocean, the *Ohio*-Class ballistic missile submarine force was at sea providing the maritime triad leg of the U.S. military's strategic deterrence capability, at sea, on patrol, just like every day since 1960 [1].

The figures above are presented to contextualize the numerous and diverse missions asked of the Navy by the nation and its allies. These missions evolve continually as the security environment changes. As the nature of conflict shifts, so do the requirements – ranging from capability to technical specification – levied on naval forces. Though they may change, as long as water covers 70% of the earth, sea power will remain centrally important in safeguarding U.S. national interests.

1.1 Navy the Nation Needs

It shall be the policy of the United States to have available, **as soon as practicable**, not fewer than 355 battle force ships, comprised of the optimal mix of platforms, with funding subject to the availability of appropriations or other funds.

Section 1025 of the FY2018 National Defense Authorization Act, H.R. 2810/P.L. 115-91

As the United States draws down land wars in the Middle East, the nation continues to rely on naval presence diplomacy as an effective way of showing power. Consider the humanitarian crisis in South America – the U.S. Navy's most direct response was to send a flagship of the fleet, the USNS *Comfort* (T-AH 19), the Atlantic Ocean-based hospital ship, to

establish presence of our national interest and support our allies. As the nature of warfare changes and near-peer competition rises, having more ships in more places presents as an attractive option for policy makers to respond to events across the world. The Navy must be able to offer the full breadth and depth of options.

As the nation's security needs call for a growing naval fleet, the public-private industrial base for construction and maintenance will be stressed to perform at a high level of operational excellence. With capacity increase in a nascent state, U.S. domestic shipbuilders face the prospect of understanding the complete scope of how to implement large-scale continuous improvement to maintain speed, cost, and capacity in new construction to add new hulls to the fleet better faster than can be expected now. The Congressional Research Service reports that "Navy shipbuilding rates could not be increased steeply across the board overnight... Over a period of a few to several years, with investment and management attention, Navy shipbuilding could ramp up to higher rates for achieving a 355-ship fleet over a period of 20 to 30 years" [2].

The challenge does not stop with shipbuilding. At the heart of naval vessels lies their combat and weapon systems that provide lethality as the value proposition of a combatant. These systems are designed and produced to maintain pace with both platform production rate and evolution of the threats they are designed to face.

1.2 Imperative of Global Competition

It has been decades since we last competed for sea control, sea lines of communication, access to world markets, and diplomatic partnerships. Much has changed since we last competed. We will <u>adapt to this reality</u> and <u>respond with urgency</u>.

U.S. Navy strategy document, *A Design for Maintaining Maritime Superiority 2.0*, December 2018 [3]

With a return to "great power competition," the Navy must now respond to near-peer global powers with forces that should adapt faster than potential future adversaries [3]. The Chinese People's Liberation Army (Navy), or PLA(N), appears to be executing the design-build process well with a much greater mix and production rate of combatant surface vessels in classes similar to the ones that the U.S. Navy is currently struggling with acquiring [4].

These are far from "paper tigers." As the PLA(N) fleet structure demonstrates, they are investing in high-end surface, subsurface, and aircraft carrier classes on the same technological level as the newest offerings from U.S. and allied navies [5]. With a more diverse fleet architecture (as measured by different combatant classes) than the United States Navy, Chinese progress in naval construction may indicate an adaptable production process that accommodate shifting requirements for diverse ship types that respond to modern threats.

Although numerous other instances of Chinese and other near-peer potential adversaries adapting production volume and mix to respond to U.S. Navy capabilities exist in open source literature, their progress can be summarized by designs that evolve continuously, modernize at an increasing rate, and are well adapted to the capabilities of other nations [4]. Even without precisely identifying which tools and techniques are used, it is evident that their acquisition process is resilient enough to adapt and robust enough to produce a world-class industrial product.

1.3 Resilient Acquisition

The types of ships and capabilities procured over this 30-year timespan will evolve with technology and threat advances. Protecting the baseline acquisition profiles provides long-term foundational stability for thoughtful, agile modernization, and a clearer forecast of when to evolve to the next ship design.

Hon. James F. Geurts, Assistant Secretary of the Navy, Research, Development & Acquisition Testimony to House Armed Services Committee, April 12, 2018

At its core, defense acquisition functions as a closed loop pictured in Figure 1 [6]. Like the automated ship self-defense Close-In-Weapons-System (CIWS), whose integrated radar continuously tracks a target and compensates with a corrected firing trajectory, we must adjust our designs and system mix to remain relevant to the needs presented to our forces.



Figure 1: Simple closed loop controller diagram

Resilience measures the degree to which a system can recover quickly from a major disruption while regaining or exceeding its original level of performance [7], [8]. With monolithic projects that have unparalleled bureaucratic momentum behind them, large acquisition projects can hardly adapt once they begin the design phase toward a specific set of requirements which is too late. Is it a problem that exists wholly within the realm of production or throughout the acquisition process? Figure 2 defines the core terms that underpins the solutions that this thesis seeks to identify.

Resiliency		
A system attribute defined by the ability to absorb multiple forms of disruption and continue the intended function without degrading performance level, results, or outputs		
Acquisition		
Portion of the system lifecyle from initial conceptualization to operation		
Resilient Acquisiton		
An acquistion system that delivers the full spectrum of required products on-time and on-budget in direct response to the needs of its stakeholders		

Figure 2: "Resiliency" and "Acquisition" combined and defined

1.4 Model-Based Engineering in Focus

With the Navy challenged by how it conceptualizes, designs, produces, and activates ships and weapons systems, new paradigms should be adopted to ensure that global mission requirements of presence, deterrence, and tactical operations are met. With a better connection of what we need to what is built, rework is eliminated, and production levels can be increased to meet the needs of the Fleet of the future. What this thesis contends is that full adoption of the Model Based Engineering (MBE) enterprise contributes significantly toward yielding the results needed.

Outside the U.S. Department of Defense, private sector design and build efforts are realizing these exact returns from investment in the model-based enterprise [9]. In areas in which projects typically underperformed, adoption of the digital models that capture interface effects have a causal and measurable effect on the outcome. This thesis will attempt to espouse some of the most general and fundamental aspects of MBE rather than suggest a tool that is likely only suited for a single specific application.

1.5 High-Velocity Learning Line of Effort

The U.S. Navy has been tasked with equipping the Fleet with technological advancements – an enormously complex challenge handling largely new designs and not simply iterative elaboration on existing designs. The service's record has been one of underperformance relative to need, cost and, especially, time. In alignment with a core Chief of Naval Operations "Design for Maintaining Maritime Superiority" principle, the lens through which the analysis will be conducted will be using the "High-Velocity" methodology of rapid iteration and problem seeking/solving [3], [10].

Sections in this thesis follow a pattern of systematic discovery beginning with a background, question, hypothesis, then a test method [10]. Tangible examples used in documentation of this practice address concerns that this might be applicable to a certain setting. Diversity of the success stories of following these simple global principles can convince someone else to carry this out in practice.

Combining a model-based engineering and high-velocity learning approach yields a rapid-refresh cycle along with deliberate technical connections as shown in Figure 3. This approach allows planners to take the changing world, requirements, and inputs and interpret them into something that designers use to produce the correct product sooner and more reliably. Delivering capability to the Fleet faster results from the ability to overdeliver on value while simultaneously conserving effort.



Figure 3: High-Velocity Learning and Model-Based Engineering common principles [10], [11]

1.6 Thesis Outline: Chain of Causality

The level of production that U.S. Navy systems require is difficult to achieve using today's design and specification methods. Subsequent chapters provide an overview of what MBE provides by longitudinally comparing different use cases for the technology, motivations, and results for organizations that have elected to incorporate this set of tools into their design repertoire. With multiple progressive phases of questioning and exploration, a continuous chain of causality represents the method of arriving at the conclusions of this thesis. In addition to the background phases, two representative novel case studies are explored through the creation of models to uncover background on production delays during the fabrication of a representative naval systems – both in shipbuilding and weapons systems development. Every section starts with a question that each section is aimed to answer.

In lieu of "deep diving" on a single aspect or enabling characteristic of Model Based Engineering, I have elected to present an array of options on the use of modeling in the design and production of complex systems. With a rapidly evolving uncertain future motivating the core of this study, opening the aperture as wide as possible ensures that a functionality that applies to a given situation is explored.

Chapter 2: Production Underperformance – Why? Observation of sub-standard performance raises a simple question of why – generally explained by experts and in literature as a disconnect between the physical requirements, the way in which designers manifest those requirements in the mechanical techniques of design, and the way in which we model the physical world. We will first establish that this is a plausible hypothesis by deepening an understanding of contributors to inefficiencies and rework in design and production. By observing attempts made at connecting requirements with physical products, we will draw a conclusion on the current state of the art. This section then concludes with a hypothesis that Model Based Systems Engineering can be applied as a partial solution to correct these systemic design shortfalls.

Chapter 3: Model-Based Engineering – Focus on System Production. What is the Model-Based Engineering in theory and practice? The proposition of this thesis is that the disconnect can be resolved using model-based systems engineering and design to enable faster, less expensive, and modernized "conceptualize – design – build – deliver" sequencing.

Chapter 4: Mind the Gap – Models Connect *Needs* with *Reality*. Given the problem of disengagement between the request for proposal and the finished product, how can MBE help the Navy's disconnect? Would better aligning the contract and design process to manufacture and production accelerate throughput in the shipyard? Multiple case studies contribute to a demonstration of Model Based Engineering bridging the divide between requirements and realty. External case studies will provide proof-of-concept including commercial CubeSats, military aerospace, ballistic missile guidance and navigation, and industrial plant machinery design.

Additionally, we will investigate how a nascent design framework being adopted for ship design, Set-Based Design (SBD), successfully leverages the model-based enterprise.

Chapter 5: Case Study – Shipbuilding Production Model. This application will demonstrate and seek to validate the claims in a naval construction environment by showing how the connection of required operational capabilities to technical specifications and processes yield appreciable results. Providing systematic connection of required operational capabilities to technical specifications enables key decision makers to understand requirement implications to producibility, cost, and schedule. Codification of requirement changes ensures that they propagate more effectively through production iterations.

Chapter 6: Towards the Final Hurdle – Model Verification and Validation. Models will not be useful if we are not confident. While tracing and modeling requirements – are we sure that we are asking for the right things through multiple levels? The System Theoretic Process Analysis (STPA) is presented for identifying system safety and validated operation.

Chapter 7: Concept Illustration – Weapon System Cybersecurity. The final points will be presented in this thesis through a concept illustration of the use of MBE to create requirements and technical detail in one of the most dynamic domains – cybersecurity requirements. With adversaries evolving on a minute-by-minute basis in this domain, adapting to different threats must likewise happen on a continuous basis. Foundational Model Based Engineering paradigms (DSM, OPM) contribute to verification, validation, safety, and confidence in the model's representation of the physical world. Product resiliency can be shown as enhanced through reducing uncertainty in future requirements by taking systematic approach to safety through security (STPA-Sec).

1.7 Starting Point

Policy makers have determined that the U.S Navy fleet should reach 355 ships "as soon as practicable," however the Navy struggles to maintain a total strength of 280. What can we do to get better delivery speed, quality, and cost?

Introduction Summary		
The United States needs a 355-ship Navy to contend with the modern nature of warfare and highly capable global adversaries		
Model-Based Engineering (MBE) digital tools may help to close the time gap by offering resilient design architectures to adapt to requirement changes		
High Velocity Learning methodology approaches enhance the effectiveness of the MBE tools through rapid iterations on solving production problems		

Chapter 2

2.0 Production Underperformance – Why?

Seventeen years and fourteen billion dollars of the taxpayers' money to design and build one armored vehicle...

From *The Pentagon Wars*, (fictional) HBO Movie 1998

In the modern era, developing complex weapons systems has become a multi-decade process. Lead hulls of combatant ship classes are, without exception, delivered to the Navy late and over budget. Figure 4 graphically displays the schedule slip for first-of-class delivery with schedule underperformance of up to two years [12]. Additional examples of shipbuilding projects or weapon system deliveries underperforming in terms of schedule and budget seem routine when reported [13].



Figure 4: Delivery delay in the lead hull of most recent eight ship classes [12]

The purpose of this section is to go through specific case details and interviews to narrow to a small set of specific problems that will be addressed in this thesis. While researching, I spoke with experts in the field of complex systems design, construction, and acquisition. I always led with a simple question that was general enough to investigate the root cause of delay and mismanaged delivery – how do you ensure that what you are "building" is correct? How is it that complex system acquisition professionals ensure that the systems currently under construction – with funds obligated and progress made on the production line – will be able to satisfy the requirements of the customer?

Strong experiential evidence suggests that unclear specifications and change management are primarily to blame for delays in delivering the ships that the Navy needs [12]–[15]. Although this research could never aim to uncover the full scope of acquisition complications over multiple decades, citing key contributing factors can begin to expose why acquisition performance has failed to meet the high expectations of the American people.

If complex systems, no matter whether they originate as government or civilian projects in any domain, face some of the same challenges in acquisition and deployments, we can learn from the full breadth of interdisciplinary experience. This chapter details characteristics of complex systems that make their production difficult and seek to understand how the problems that face disparate industries are all quite similar in abstract.

In this chapter, we will first examine the enemies of progress which were found to be manifestations of complexity, uncertainty, and risk. Those factors contribute to difficulty in defining requirements for complex systems that are acquired, which are factor in delaying delivery of those systems. Finally, one solution to the collective of problems will be proposed to refine the requirement management process through the use of Model-Based Engineering. An overview of this chapter is shown in Figure 5.



Figure 5: Discovery process flow around production and delivery underperformance

2.1 Enemies of Progress

Examining complex defense system acquisition, what "enemies" does delivery to the end-user face? This question can be approached by investigating factors that slow production of complex systems. This section identifies the enemies as complexity, uncertainty, and risk in design and production which will each be explored further below.

Capturing every reason for delay in a specific project is an unknowable and mostly irrelevant endeavor. Every system is different and the "unknown unknowns" that arise when building future complex systems is outside the realm of possibility for expectation. Therefore, a resilient acquisition system will be one that can respond to unanticipated changes. A system that can respond to *known* challenges is *robust*, while systems *adaptable* to respond to a range of unknown scenarios are *resilient*. Recall the definition of *resiliency* given in Figure 2 as "a system attribute defined by the ability to absorb multiple forms of disruption and continue the intended function without degrading performance level, results, or outputs." Characteristics of these systems are shown in Figure 6 with system examples presented in Table 1.



Figure 6: "Robust" vs. "Resilient" system characteristics

If future requirements consisted primarily of having to accommodate a specific change, then the design and build process can be structured to accommodate that specific type of challenge, thereby strengthening robustness. However, known challenges hardly characterize the global security landscape. In cases such as dynamic project environments or uncertain global environments, emphasis should be placed on *holistic resiliency* vice narrow robustness.

System State or Requirement	Robust or Resilient response?
Concrete column must support a static load of 30,000 pounds and a live load of 50,000 pounds	Robust
Charter aircraft; available for long-haul cargo transport or passenger services	Resilient
TD Garden: Boston, MA - hosting professional basketball, hockey, and a Fleetwood Mac concert on consecutive days in March 2019	Resilient
Washington State Ferry M/V <i>Tacoma</i> capable of carrying 200+ vehicles and 2500 passengers on 35-min. Seattle-Bainbridge Island commuter route	Robust
MIT Cogeneration Power Plant with dual- generating modes: 21-MW gas turbine generator and recovery steam generator	Resilient

Table 1: Robust versus Resilient system state examples

TD Garden 29-31 March 2019: https://www.tdgarden.com/calendar

Washington State DOT: https://www.wsdot.wa.gov/ferries/vesselwatch/vesseldetail.aspx?vessel_id=32

MIT Cogeneration Plant: https://powering.mit.edu/project-faqs/cogeneration

Adopting adjustments specific to past or external projects when previous experience cannot reliably be counted on to provide indication of future challenges or performance has demonstrated a poor return on investment [13]. Causes of progress delay may often not be tangible – for example, a repeated cause of delay in specifications that routinely require excessive manufacturing processes or imprecise measurements. Conversely, the causes are systemic and propagate through sequentially when the acquisition system is used according to its structure. In "Taming the Tigers," Kane and Bartolomei link issues that persist in the defense acquisition world to tigers in the circus ring: requirements, budget, and process structure [14]. The architecture of the defense acquisition system-of-systems requires refreshing principles that guide information consumption, while specifying outputs that can adapt to the environment of increased input and bespoke output.

2.1.1 Complexity

Complexity, when used in this thesis, means something different than the trite catchall used in everyday parlance representing something "not simple or intuitive" [15]. Complex systems have many elements connected via non-linear relationships that exhibit dynamic behavior subject to irregular disturbance and perturbation. With no steady state, the system is in a perpetual transition or adaptive state.

Complex systems contrast with those that are only *complicated* through the interactions of their constituent components. A basic example of a system that is complicated but not complex is a mechanical watch with components shown in Figure 7. The watch has innumerable components each of which takes skill and expertise to assemble, but each relationship between components is well understood to micro-second precision [16]. Contrast the mechanical timepiece with a complex naval warship, where even first-order effects of changing a single component such as a pump or structural member are not apparent even to experienced operators.



Figure 7: Complicated, but not complex – Grand Seiko Spring Drive watch components [16]

The complex systems produced to deliver capability to the U.S. Navy Fleet are, as General Stanley McChrystal states in his book *Team of Teams*, much more "restrictive, technical, and baffling" and can be defined as a system with an almost incomprehensible density of internal linkages that cause the behavior of the system to fluctuate unpredictably [15]. Clearly, complexity has a purpose considering gains in overall functionality over time – such as the progression seen in passenger aircraft, digital technology, and automobiles over the last three decades. This is also readily apparent by observing innumerable components that form vast networks of systems-of-systems inside and aboard naval assets. These include the weapons systems and the hull, mechanical, and electrical components that keep the ship moving forward and either afloat or submerged. With boundaries between large-scale technology systems blurred, the interfaces are increasingly hard to identify and manage. As interconnectedness increases, challenges for operation are created through opportunity to create a conflict at the interface or handoff [10].

Complexity increases naturally as design and technology advances. Older, more basic system functions accomplished a "single purpose and with a clear mission in mind" and now single systems perform myriad task sets [8]. With component technologies evolving rapidly, failing to anticipate the effect that complexity has on the overall system-of-systems can mismatch design and production capability [8].

Complexity is built every day. Some of it defies what was previously thought as physically possible and some of it is routine – biological, cyber, and physical systems in every engineering domain. Challenges that arise from system complexity include integration and connectivity, interface maturity, influence of new components or environment, and system readiness [17].

Quantifying how complexity of a system can be accomplished through first categorization of how sub-system elements are connected, and proceeding to uncover metrics relevant to features of how the system operates [18]. In doing so, Sinha suggests that a relevant general complexity metric must always account for the unique connectivity structure of the system under analysis [18]. Since the structure of element connections is an attribute of the system, this limits comparisons of complexity between different systems to merely an academic effort with limited application in practice. This inhomogeneity from system to system discourages shared approaches to handling complexity as an emergent system attribute and contributes to its deleterious effect on efficient production progress.

2.1.2 Uncertainty

Uncertainty applied to complex systems creates variability when observing first order interactions, and to a much greater degree. subsequent higher order effects. While not a direct result of complexity, the effects of uncertainty are exacerbated by complexity.

Regarding the "Navy the Nation Needs" goal of 355 ship fleet, Secretary of the Navy Richard Spencer admitted at his confirmation hearing before the Senate Armed Services Committee that he "can't tell what the construct of that would be, sitting here today" [19]. His comments further specified uncertainty over whether the future fleet might include a mix of manned and unmanned systems to be designed and acquired in the future. With his suggestions that the "355-Ship Fleet" might be of a different mix than just 355 ships and submarines, significant uncertainty will exist in the requirements that are levied upon the assets of the future fleet.

Naval warfare systems couple uncertainty with urgency – but the design of complex naval systems is far from the only place where that is the case. With a focus on engineering the designs of the future, what major systemic issues when addressed enable the urgency of delivery?

Different types of uncertainty emerge depending on the design stage and interaction of system elements. The effect they have on a project can be a key contribution to project delays [20]. Figure 8 shows different types of uncertainty, with highlights for the most important factors that affect the production of complex defense systems. The uncertainty environment is depicted as highly inter-related among highly *non-linear* systems considered in this thesis. Potential

system boundaries can be drawn around the bins of uncertainty types to correspond to the level of analysis performed. Typically, when analyzing a complex engineering system, only the "Product Context" bin may be considered endogenous to the scope of analysis.



Figure 8: Complex defense system uncertainty map, figure adapted by author from [20]

Uncertainty comes from the product being produced. This includes elements of the technical design of the system produced as innovative in its own field (maybe, a technological breakthrough or novel functionality). Some automakers have made class certainty, known as platforming part of their core business strategy in reducing uncertainty arising from product to product [21]. From chassis commonality to sharing parts and pieces, automakers have been able to leverage classes of products to their advantages for years, while the Navy – despite shorter "class" production runs – limits the learning curve when the acquisition model changes the ship class at every individual iteration. The approach of ship class "block buys" is a variation on the

platforming concept and will be further explored subsequently in the context of present-day Littoral Combat Ship production [22].

Uncertainty is also derived from the political environment that the system is acquired in. Uncertainty in future needs of the Navy is investigated deeper and enumerated in Appendix A: Uncertainty in U.S. Navy Force Structure Assessment. Uncertainty in acquiring smaller-scale systems can be observed in shifting strategy as priorities advantage particular sets of products such as new types of weapons systems manufactured by limited sources [21].

Uncertainty through use context comes from changes in how the product will be used in the future. Use context can also be taken as equivalent to the operational environment of a product [20]. This system exogenous uncertainty classification should be closely monitored as a major environmental shift has the potential to render a system under development irrelevant before production begins – as will be illustrated later by the Zumwalt-Class (DDG-1000) in Figure 10 and Figure 10.

A system's domain of operation creates another classification of uncertainty. From a commercial perspective the domain could be the industrial sector or market occupied. For large-scale defense systems the domain may extend to the physical description of type of battlefield such as maritime, aerospace, land, or cyber. Trends in these markets or battlespaces carry significant uncertainty tied to the demand and innovation that might exist unique to the domain. For example, planners may choose to account for a higher degree of uncertainty when designing systems that operate in the cyber domain which is experiencing more nascent development than a more well-explored domain such as land-warfare or consumer products markets with a slower changing demand profile [20].

Global and cultural uncertainty also plays a role in development of complex defense systems. It is not elementary to consider the ways in which an uncertain, dynamic global environment can affect the system even outside the categories explored previously. These cultural context elements range from indirect political actions of a foreign actor that can change the actions of an entire group of people or a culture to legislation that can slow or speed a development cycle. Macro-level cultural forces translate into concrete micro-level uncertainties in complex systems.

When realization of uncertainty requires redesign, flexibility enables a smooth transition in which a system can be adapted to an alternative function or external system interface, or augmented measure of performance (i.e. the need to simply make a component stronger with the same functional requirements) [8].

2.1.3 Risk

Systems face risk associated with seemingly normal operation according to their specifications that can cause an unsafe or unintended result [23]. Uncertainty differs from risks which have a set of future predictable outcomes. While precisely predicting risk may be impossible, examples such as anomalous accidents like dry dock failures and flooding occur in the real-world [15]. Should we have designed an acquisition-build system to accommodate casualties in dry dock flooding? What changes to the systems-of-systems would have been necessary for that? Clearly, these are rhetorical questions serving to suggest that different sets of precautions are necessary to adapt a system for such events than to architect a systemic solution resilient to risk.

Mitigation of risk effects means that designers and builders must respond to future changes that are difficult to anticipate. How will this system ensure that the production principles that engender crisis recovery emerge autonomously? Reacting to unforeseeable risk events must happen as second nature by an organization using a resilient design and development procedure so that when an unforeseeable event occurs, disruption and cascading delay do not result.

Suppliers to Japanese automobile manufacturer Toyota have been well-versed in developing reliable processes for consistent delivery and production of the intermediate and final products. Even so, they remain subject to similar risks as all businesses; catastrophic events such as fire and flooding are obvious examples, but equally impactful are unforeseeable administrative, engineering, or design challenges.

In one supplier case study, a fire at a critical component manufacturing plant served to demonstrate how planning for resilience mitigates risk. Steve Spear described that through "normal 'High-Velocity' management- creating and delivering an organization's products and processes- are the same as those needed to handle larger disruptions" [10]. The 1997 fire at Toyota supplier Aisin Seiki destroyed the precise machinery to make safety-critical valves threatening to bring automobile production to a halt. The recovery was remarkable; "near normal" production was resumed within a week [10]. Toyota's network of suppliers naturally stepped in to assist their competitor with production in self-organizing fashion. In this case, the organization network willfully structured its development and production in such a way that they were able to deal with an "abnormal situation in a normal way" by demonstrating responsiveness and ability to recovery as resilience [10]. Beyond presenting more evidence of Toyota's mutually supportive supplier network, this case displays more about a system architecture in place before a risk event that allows the organization to use tools and processes to naturally recover smoothly.

In major defense systems, when acquisition is bound by restrictive processes and singlepoint-of-failure suppliers, is there any possibility that this network of production could sustain a similar magnitude disruption with such resiliency? The industry must next identify the key enabling characteristics to make crisis recovery – if not autonomous, streamlined and natural to adjust to increasing complexity, uncertainty, and risk events.

2.2 Requirement Generation

Recall the closed loop acquisition model proposed in the introduction, Figure 1. This primarily applies to the requirement setting process for modern complex systems – not restricted to only military systems, but any system that operates in a dynamically changing environment. How do we hit moving requirements? With the right control authority, designing ships for production means making them systematically-immune to changes and shifting requirements.

This issue goes beyond a goal of peacetime production increases, because refining the ability to react quickly to wartime conflict driven production changes is equally as critical. Designers must be able to modify existing specifications to adjust to the reality of the conflicts of the present day. For example, conceiving and designing the concept of the Combat Information Center was born of the hard lessons learned during the confusion of Second World War naval engagements. During these battles, naval planners realized that there was value to be had from a space dedicated to information synthesis and the concept of the Combat Information Center (CIC) that serves as the "nerve center" on nearly all modern warships was born [24].

Requirement validation confirms the "right system is being built" [11]. However, determining whether requirements are ever "right" for a weapon system or platform that measures development and lifecycle time in decades is an impossible task due to the factors considered in the preceding sections of complexity, risk, and uncertainty over time. Consider the changes in the fleet architecture from the late-Cold War with 568 battle force ships to the present day levels under 290 [1], [2]. Numbers alone provide no commentary on whether capability requirements are being met – only measuring how profusion of warfare capability either matches or gaps dynamic functions of Navy mission requirements will tell the story.

The systematic process by which platforms are acquired within the U.S. Department of Defense is the Joint Capabilities Integration and Development System [25]. However, as this thesis does not intend perform a comprehensive critique of the acquisition system itself - just the underlying global principles that provide its analytical foundation - a thorough detail of JCIDS will not be covered in this work and can be found in external references via the Defense Acquisition University [26].

In this section, the generation of ambiguous or unvalidated requirements will be addressed, followed by an example record of recent U.S. Navy acquisition programs, and finally investigating opportunities for improvement in how major ship programs reach production and delivery.
2.2.1 Ambiguity

The structure of requirement generation facilitates persistence of ambiguity throughout the process. The product of concept exploration is typically a set of requirements, schedule, and cost estimate to implement the requirements in a ship. The product of preliminary and contract design is the request for proposal (including ship specification and statement of work) for the detail design and construction of the lead ship. The acquisition plan should influence the structure and goals of the Request For Proposal (RFP) which in turn should govern the ship specifications and the work to create the ship specifications. In a hypothetical case, a disconnect between what the Program Office was trying to achieve with the overall RFP and what the Ship Design Manager was trying to achieve in the ship specifications work to counter purposes. This shows the systemic structural elements that contribute to requirement ambiguity.

Connecting Fleet performance requirements to technical specifications more clearly can lead to a better representation of *what the Fleet needs* – requirements – than can be arrived at via traditional document-based methods. Exploring the relationship between design activities in the acquisition strategy illuminates handoff discrepancies that inhibit high-velocity learning [10].

Requirement ambiguity's implication on production feasibility can be a self-imposed issue where politically charged desires call for unrealistic capabilities without knowledge of the technical implications. In the FY2011 budget, the Navy canceled the proposed next generation of Guided-Missile Cruiser, CG(X), after spending \$20 million on a study recommending a \$7 billion nuclear cruiser [27]. Developing sets of technical specifications and cost estimates from the ambiguous nature as a "next-generation" platform designed for "multi-mission" roles emphasizing the then-nascent mission set of Ballistic Missile Defense and Anti-Air Warfare delivered unsurprising results in the form of a completely unrealistic and unaffordable platform [27]. Scaling these incomprehensible technical goals was guidance from then-Defense Secretary Donald Rumsfeld for "transformational" new systems [28]. In a potentially fortuitous postscript for the American taxpayer and future generations of U.S. Navy leadership responsible for executing the acquisition of such a platform, the sunk costs were accepted and the program was canceled, moving in the direction of a third, expanded, iteration on the venerable *Arleigh Burke*-Class Destroyers [27].

That requirements for platform design suffer from ambiguity has not been lost on the engineers of Naval Sea Systems Command, the directorate charged with design, acquisition, and lifecycle management of ships and submarines in the U.S. Navy. Requirements Evaluation Teams (RET) are a relatively new construct aimed at ensuring that due diligence has been performed on ship and submarine platform requirements before they are released to private industrial partners. In most cases, these ad-hoc committees should accomplish much of this thoughtful connection of ambiguous requirements of capability (such as "verbs" that cannot be designed into a ship, such as speed or combat functionalities) [29]. First established to re-evaluate the *Zumwalt*-Class (DDG-1000, shown in Figure 9) requirements, NAVSEA has

continued the practice on major contemporary programs such as Future Frigate, Large Surface Combatant, and Hospital Ship with pending results [29].



Figure 9: Zumwalt-Class Guided Missile Destroyer (DDG-1000) [30]

RETs are a worthwhile pursuit when executed properly and given enough authority to recommend changes to requirements that may push a platform beyond the boundaries of affordability or schedule that the Fleet requires for its capability to be delivered. Otherwise, they may be a lost opportunity and additional hurdle to clear on the long road to final delivery after construction.

2.2.2 Navy Acquisition Program Record

Sometimes a shift in an uncertain global landscape can alter the required capabilities of a weapon system or delivery platform. When requirements are static, point designs are sufficient. This is being robust. Since requirements are not static, systems pending development must be able to adapt or risk leaving the customer holding an expensive product without a useful mission.

Several high-profile naval acquisitions programs – such as the Future Frigate, Large Surface Combatant, and Hospital Ship – are currently in the nascent requirement generation phase at the time of this writing and are therefore unable to be meaningfully or publicly commented on. Drawing upon recent history, however, an example large acquisition program comes from the DDG-1000 *Zumwalt*-Class [30]. The requirements to which the ship class was built have changed along with the global security landscape. As a result, this program can be evidenced as a victim of market and requirement risk. Figure 10 summarizes how the environment can shift and render a design irrelevant.



Figure 10: Global security landscape effect on DDG-1000 use context

Recent statements made by U.S. Navy leadership further underscore the requirement ambiguity and the inability to produce, in DDG-1000 Zumwalt-Class, a resilient platform with a warfighting focus [31]. Note the emphasis added in the final sentence, comparing the date cited by Vice Admiral William Merz, responsible for requirement generation across all U.S. Navy systems, with the construction start date in Figure 10.

We determined that the best future for that ship is to get it out there with the capability that it has and separate out the Advanced Gun System, leaving everything else in place... [The Zumwalt] is a very capable platform with or without that gun... we will be developing either the round that goes with that gun or what we are going to do with that space if we decide to remove that gun in the future. The ship is doing fine, on track to be operational in 2021 in the fleet. [31]

With the shift in focus for the platform coupled with a design resistant to change given its complexity, operational required capabilities simplified to only an ability to get underway and provide presence. Furthermore, this shift in requirement priority over time has significantly delayed this platform's operational introduction to the fleet while straining thin ship construction budgets. Vice Admiral Merz added that *Zumwalt*'s primary mission set shifted from land-attack to be -

... remissioned to a strike platform, whether sea targets or land targets. It takes advantage of its tremendous arsenal of VLS cells. Those VLS cells are larger than any other surface ship VLS cells so that opens up an aperture of more weapons options for that ship. [31]

Currently, the solution for requirement ambiguity is a resilient weapon system architecture – as Admiral Merz cites, the size and flexibility that the VLS modules provides leaves reason for optimism for future DDG-1000 integration into fleet operations. In the dynamic operational environment anticipated for the U.S. Navy, policy makers must have the management structures in place to adapt to changing environments from the root cause of requirement management before production begins.

2.2.3 Shipyard Production Challenges

Shipyards are relatively open areas in which to observe complex system production and afforded the chance to consult with industry professionals that work with the challenges of delivering capability to the Fleet faster every day. Appendix B: Shipyard Visits summarizes visit information from the sources consulted at nearly all major shipyards producing U.S. Navy warships across the country – however, specific citations below are deliberately generalized for non-attributional purposes. It should be noted that in the paragraphs that follow, the issues presented have been well-documented by Department of the Navy leadership and are only presented in this thesis as evidence for more resilient design-acquisition system tools. Table 2 enumerates some of the challenges faced during shipyard production that are discussed in this section.

Selected requirement-related production challenges in shipyards		
Design changes that propagate downstream with complex non-linear effects		
Lack of design maturity prior to start of production process		
Failure to accurately and comprehensively capture changes - requirements and technical		
Variance within supposedly stable class block buys among the same ship class		
Changes to a component with unanticipated dependency or interaction with other elements		
Performance testing of components or systems with unclear/ambiguous specifications		

Table 2: Shipyard production challenges related to requirement management

Challenges in the design phase propagate downstream to shipyard production. It is uncommon for a design to be completed before steel is cut during production. The experience with the Littoral Combat Ship (LCS) production at "Shipyard A" tested this concept with designers hoping to work out details concurrently with construction taking place [32]. Ideally, this could have been a valid strategy had inconsistencies with the first hull and the design matured by the time the next reached the production line. In reality, large changes were made – for example, reduction gears changed, necessitating major support piping configuration changes and an entirely new engine room design [32].

Considering some level of change inevitable despite best efforts to mature the design before production, there are changes that fail to be accurately or completely captured. When work is performed in the shipyard, a field change notice is generated with the details for further incorporation as a drawing attachment until the next integration can be codified [33]. However, without the ability to update drawings on a regular interval, some of the drawings used for production in assembly areas can persist with dozens of annotated changes [33].

While getting the LCS into service quickly may have been a worthy goal, the mistakes made and problems encountered in building the ships, and the department's resulting inability to restrain program costs, tell a cautionary tale to all current and future [Department of the Navy] leaders. [22]

Former U.S. Deputy Secretary of Defense Robert Work's comment references how the acquisition strategy of the ship class in production introduces instability in requirements. In Appendix A: Uncertainty in U.S. Navy Force Structure Assessment, we quantified the uncertainty associated with overall ship-class mix for the Fleet architecture, but what was not explored was the intra-class uncertainty.

One construct intended to reduce the variation between individual hulls of the same class is the concept of the "block buy," as described by Deputy Secretary Work [22]. However, during several events over the course of the class block buy, new information in the form of requirements were levied on the seemingly consistent block buy strategy. Major changes such as the requirements of compliance with shock trial results and swapping point-defense system configurations entered different pieces of equipment mid-way through what should have been a stable block buy period now with an added retrofit change [32].

Components can have unforeseen dependencies on other subsystems within complex systems. One unique feature of the Littoral Combat Ship platform is the feature of adaptable mission modules that were notionally intended to be configured with no dependency on the baseline ship [34]. Although these mission modules are not considered part of the hull, certain features of the package systems are constructed with integral components with the potential to

require changes to the baseline class. One theoretical example could be found in the Launch Handling and Recovery (LHR) system which is both part of the mine-hunting mission module and baseline hull equipment [35]. Any potential changes in the operation of the mission module would propagate further into changes to the baseline hull constructions and services that the sub-system would require.

Finally, testing of the product during and after production looms large at all facilities that manage production of complex systems such as shipyards. When a system tested fails to meet the requirement, rework is generated. One of the key facets of delay comes through the testing and acceptance process for certifying Navy ships as ready to enter the Fleet, the process illustrated in Appendix C: Delivery, Test, and Certification Timeline Illustration. As stated in the official Navy instruction for ship delivery and acceptance, "it is essential that the Navy's shipbuilding and modernization programs deliver to the Commander, US Fleet Forces Command ... complete ships, free from contractor and government responsible deficiencies. The ships should be capable of supporting the Navy's mission from the first day of active service" [36].

Putting a system-of-systems through a strenuous test environment before it may face adverse environments in the real world is undoubtedly essential to the process of *design-builddeliver-fight*. Without testing, the *design-build-deliver* component may be finely tuned but when it comes time to the *fight* (or, use of the system in adverse, high stress conditions, not necessarily direct combat) you may find that all your previous efforts invalidated.

In the U.S. Navy, the Board of Inspection and Survey (INSURV) perform acceptance testing to make recommendations to the Chief of Naval Operation on acceptance of an asset [36]. Testing causes rework both justified – when problems that should have been caught during production are found, but also unnecessarily – when the test procedure itself is the issue. As test procedures can be complicated, if they are presented ambiguously, degrees of freedom remain in the system for interpretation and unreliable results over this delivery process. Hypothetically, an operational test of a pump or control system could be ambiguous when using subjective language ("must perform satisfactorily") rather than objective evidence ("must produce pressure of no less than 150 psi"). If the interpretation of test results falls outside of specification, the representative receiving the product has the ability disagrees with those performing the test. The adjudication can persist for long periods of time. Considering the overhead, delay, and cost associated with the test procedure disagreement, this is another component of the time lost in finally delivering the capability to the Fleet [32], [33].

2.2.4 Changing Methods and Documentation

Comparing operations observed between "Shipyard A" and "Shipyard B" – the mix of products and challenges that each site faced were found to be vastly different, yet both continue to contend with the root causes that rest with requirement interpretation and implementation.

"Shipyard B" was observed to be a more mature yard that has been tasked with producing the most mature and arguably least complex designs in the Fleet with primarily Naval Auxiliary vessels [37]. However, as a yard with an active production line for both military and civilian vessels, producing ships of this mix hones skills and positively impacts the readiness of the workforce to interpret the military technical specifications.

Across all the shipyards and production facilities responsible for delivering the correct systems for the Fleet, three principal "enemies of progress" – complexity, uncertainty, and risk – are manifest in the receipt of receipt of requirements from project sponsors that can leave open degrees-of-freedom to deliver problematic solutions behind schedule and over budget. These issues above have been traced to requirements management in ensuring systematic connections between required operational capabilities and validated technical specifications. Migrating static document-based specification to the model environment can facilitate the resilience that the system requires.

2.3 Hypothesis: Collective Solution

Examples with the DDG-1000 and Littoral Combat Ship class production reflect a systemic inability to clearly focus on implementation and delivery of warfighting requirements to the Fleet. For warships such as these, as well as other weapons systems and platforms under development, the ability to fight, survive, and win is precisely the value proposition promised to taxpayers when budget to allocated toward their construction. Without a system that refines and maintains the focus on building ships that meet the high-level operational requirements, we are destined for a Fleet that falls short.

For what form a common solution to managing complexity, uncertainty, and risk in requirements might take, we can derive inspiration from the needs of jet engine manufacturer Pratt and Whitney. In a competitive market with only a small number of large, advanced business rivals, their rewards are large – massive commercial and public sales and service contracts – as is the risk of sunk multi-billion dollar development costs [38]. This case is a microcosm case study of some of the challenges faced by the U.S. Navy, namely a competition between a few powerful near-peer competitors that secretively race to get the newest technology out the door first to their own advantage. In both cases, the desire to bring nascent advances into production strongly contrasts with the engineering challenge of volatility and uncertainty reduction. Without clarity of requirements and design, disorder could prove disastrous. Pratt and Whitney countered these competing forces with a systematic link of requirements of readiness and performance that could be rapidly assessed in both operational and technical validity [39].

Given the problems that the Navy faces in transitioning requirements to reality, what is the systematic solution that this organization can use to ensure that defense systems are produced with realistic expectation to deliver on time and on budget? A 2005 Global Shipbuilding Industrial Base Benchmarking Study introduces the concept of a "vicious cycle in shipbuilding" which has been updated and expanded in Figure 11 for the production of more general modern complex defense systems [40].



Figure 11: Vicious cycle of acquisitions, figure adapted by author from [40]

To manage systemic underperformance, one must first recognize that being robust simply is not enough. In the Naval acquisitions context, and especially naval vessel construction, we seek the most robust method available to connect requirements to the technical specification with which ships are procured and assembled, and complex weapons systems are built. Evidence presented suggests that more fidelity surrounding the informational handoffs between designers and producers would support better manufacturing, production, and general realization of complex systems. One way in which interface maturity is advanced is using Model Based Engineering (MBE). The hypothesis statement is simple: that MBE system engineering design tools will be helpful in enabling design-for-manufacturing-and-assembly and mission fulfillment. As the product needs (requirements) change, the use of digitally shared models represents the most resilient measure of designing complex systems. Expected results achieved by using MBE are baselined on the performance of companies that also produce complex systems. The test in this thesis is to find out what model-based systems engineering/design enables. Connecting requirements to specifications may help to ensure that only the minimum amount of complexity required makes it into the final system, making the design elegant and producible. Modeling methods allow production of the right output faster, enabling designers to respond to changing needs. The following sections will investigate to what extent this is the case and provide examples of systematic approaches to ensuring the right products are built on the right schedule for the Fleet.

Underperformance Summary

Major Naval acquisition programs routinely escalate in cost and fall behind delivery schedules

Complexity, uncertainty, and risk are the principal enemies of progress that make production of these systems according to a predicable schedule very difficult

Ambiguous requirements fail to account for these phenomena through missed connection with technical specifications

Model Based Engineering (MBE) is hypothesized as a solution to the collective manifestations of underperformance explored in this chapter

(This Page Intentionally Left Blank)

Chapter 3

3.0 Model-Based Engineering: Focus on System Production

This chapter details a set of common definitions and background on the applications of Model-Based Engineering (MBE) and Model-Based Systems Engineering (MBSE). This context will support this body of research intending to elucidate *if and how* MBSE may be useful in increasing throughput and Fleet availability of U.S. Navy new construction battle force ships and major complex weapons systems. First, we will explore a general background of systems engineering as a discipline and establish coherent and consistent definitions. Next, systems engineering will be expanded upon to explain the concept of the emerging field of Model Based Systems Engineering, what it does and does not incorporate, while again establishing consistency and clarity in definition, before finally introducing some of the theoretical goals of systems engineering modeling.

Exploring applications of Model-Based Systems Engineering within the domains of naval sea system acquisition and weapons development will further support digitization directives from the U.S. Department of Defense [41]. This thesis does not aim to provide a comprehensive overview of the practice of MBSE, nor exploring general use in the various components and steps in ship design, but rather focuses on the aspects and global principles of MBSE that are applicable to the goal of increasing production rates and Fleet capability.

3.1 Systems Engineering

Modern complex systems have many interacting parts that behave non-linearly and are difficult to succinctly characterize. The engineering that goes into them often defies a single engineering domain. Where in the past, a system could be built using only mechanical design principles, for example, today it takes almost every type of engineer to work together for a highly technically demanding feat of engineering. An interdisciplinary approach distinguishes systems engineering from traditional engineering disciplines with a focus that the INCOSE Systems Engineering handbooks suggests "enable[s] realization of successful systems" [11].

Systems engineering's customer-centric approach seeks to draw out required functionality early, a uniquely results-oriented aspect of this discipline as compared to other engineering fields. As the concept is matured and the design developed, the practice of systems engineering proceeds through validation of the system to develop a holistic picture of operations, performance, and support. Systems engineering is often represented using a "V-Model" to define steps commonly associated across the lifecycle stages in most general projects with an example shown in Figure 12 [25]. Consideration of the unique aspects associated with the stages in lifecycle and adopting its methodical guidance is core to the practice of systems engineering. The "V-Model" is recursive and can be either applied from project start to project finish or at intermediate points in time to advance design from one phase to another.



Figure 12: Systems engineering and associated processes [25]

3.1.1 Document Based Artifacts

Components of the systems engineering design process, termed artifacts, traditionally are described through different means. Methods of describing artifacts are traditionally are through the user's natural spoken language or graphical sketches and drawings [42]. These then typically get aggregated in "documents" with names such as "Requirements Document", "Drawing Package", or a "Technical Data Package" [42]. Ideally, a document should contain all information needed to build and operate system. Artifacts can be tailored specifically to a project or more "solution-neutral" in nature.

3.2 Models Used in Systems Engineering

A "model" as used in this thesis is a simplified version of a concept, phenomenon, relationship, structure, or system [8]. This abstraction can be graphical, mathematical, or physical depending on the use case, level of detail required, or the intended audience. By eliminating unnecessary components that do not materially affect the system, a model abstracts reality to facilitate rapid understanding, decision making, and testing "what-if" scenarios by predicting events or changes through control adjustment.

Some literature sources use the terminology of "Model Based Engineering" (MBE) and "Model Based Systems Engineering" (MBSE) interchangeably. While similar, these are two different concepts that imply different levels of generality of focus. Model-Based Engineering is an approach to engineering that uses models as an integral part of the technical baseline that includes the requirements, analysis, design, implementation, and verification of a capability, system, and/or product throughout the acquisition lifecycle. For the purposes of this thesis, MBE will be used as a more general, encompassing practice that includes, as a subset, MBSE.

Simply and generally, MBSE is a model centric method of engineering a system in which the design of the *system* is entirely based on models [42]. With the operative word being *system* – models encapsulate all supporting documentations, requirements, contractual obligations, and traceability of stakeholder needs. INCOSE narrows MBSE to become the formalized application of modeling to support system requirements, design, analysis, verification and validation activities beginning in the conceptual design phase and continuing throughout development and later life cycle phases [43]. The focus is placed on interactions between components, subsystems, or between entirely different systems themselves, systems-of-systems (SoS).

3.2.1 Types of Models

The type of model is dictated by the specific application or scope of intended usage [44]. This research briefly identifies three major categories of systems engineering models in wide usage: requirements, visualization, and simulation. A model might have the capability to function as an example of each of these groups through different views or types of user interface [45], [46].

Requirement models. Specification of system requirements that dictate system structure by assigning technical, functional, and operational attributes to the elements can be taken as a model of requirements. Principally useful in the conceptualization phase, taking a "breadth-first" approach ensures that the scope of the system is well understood and serves to guide the follow-on technical analyses [47].

Visualization models. Advanced interfaces can display a three-dimensional or detailed interactive view of a physical system [48]. These models blend the data archival capability of

digital documentation with graphical display and spatial deconfliction. When elements of the system can be traced to requirements, spatial system elements are linked with metadata regarding their function [49].

Simulation models. These models take the realities of the physical world – mechanics and physics – and computationally recreate them in a computing environment [50]. Because of the specific technical nature and application of these simulation software, their usage is not explored further in this thesis, although the utility they provide in giving design engineering the high-velocity iteration capability is acknowledged.

3.2.2 Language and Methodology Examples

Numerous and pervasive commercial, open source, and academic platforms exist for creating models for systems engineering or simulation. In this thesis, primarily focusing on requirement specificity and fidelity, three examples of modeling languages or methodologies are highlighted for their adaptability and market penetration/usage both in the private and public sectors. For additional information, background, and further use tutorial on the examples provided below, refer to the source texts and international engineering standards cited below. This review is not intended to be an exhaustive listing of the advantages, disadvantages, and features of these modeling language examples; however, note the specific utility that each provides and the featured applications.

System Modeling Language (SysML) is the engine behind most of what is traditionally considered MBSE in private industrial, academic, and defense applications [41]. Hernandez, et al. characterizes SysML as a "general-purpose graphical modeling language for specifying, analyzing, designing, and verifying complex systems that may include hardware, software, information, personnel, procedures, and facilities" [51]. Applications in which SysML delivers the most value include requirement generation, specification, and traceability, as well as structuring the constraints on the behavior of different elements of a system. The case study featured in Chapter 5 of the requirement traceability, component dependence, and process-based cost model feature aspects of the System Modeling Language, although SysML software was not explicitly utilized.

Object Process Methodology (OPM) is an emerging language, recently codified into ISO Standard 19450 and adopted for use in many different applications to achieve the ends of complex system modeling [52], [53]. Starting with the function and type of system being modeled, the OPM language creates Object Process Diagrams (OPDs) that are capable of embedding complex relationships between "Objects" and "Processes" [53]. In a single view, an engineer can analyze vast amounts of information regarding the nature of system element interactions and the degree of interconnectedness and even derive a sense of the complexity.

OPDs are featured extensively in the Chapter 7 concept illustration of the use of model-based engineering to elucidate cybersecurity requirements for a "Fictional Submarine Strategic Missile."

Design Structure Matrices (DSM) are comparisons between groups of elements to show the interactions and architecture of the system either within a single group or within multiple groups of objects and/or processes [54]. An extension of the DSM concept has been proposed as an Engineering Systems Matrix (ESM) for more complex multi-group interaction architecture maps [8]. System Drivers, or Environment, as shown in Figure 13 are typically exogenous to the system in consideration, but map directly to elements inside the system boundary such as Stakeholders who delineate Objectives of the system and oversee the Functions, Objects, and Activities that provide the purpose and satisfy requirements of the system [8]. Both models explored in Chapters 5 and 7 make extensive use of the Design Structure Matrix tool construct to illustrate modeling system component dependencies.

Systemic influence categories			Output in Columns					
			System Drivers (Environment)	Stakeholders	Requirements	Functions	Objects	Activities
Z	î	System Drivers (Environment)	Env x Env	Env x S	Env x R	Env x F	Env x O	Env X A
Input in Rows		Stakeholders	S x Env	SxS	S×R	SxF	SxO	SxA
		Requirements	R x Env	RxS	RxR	RxF	RxO	RxA
		Functions	F x Env	FxS	FxR	FxF	FxO	FxA
		Objects	O x Env	OxS	OxR	OxF	0 x 0	OxA
7	ľ	Activities	A x Env	AxS	AxR	AxF	AxO	AxA

Figure 13: Engineering System Matrix, figure adapted by author from [8]

3.3 Goals of Modeling

System design, acquisition, and maintenance are accomplished through a disparate group of stakeholders across different organizations and might have widely varying motivations. Models seek to coalesce these competing factors in maintaining as close to a single source of information as the enterprise is willing to maintain regarding a complex system. Table 3 and Table 4 summarize the targeted purposes and lifecycle process in which a model-based engineering environment would serve for enabling operational excellence in complex system production.

Modeling Purpose	Description		
Characterizing an existing system	Concise capture of existing system architecture and design. Information facilitates use, training, and maintenance by displaying attributes of the system.		
Mission and system concept evaluation	Applied early in the system lifecycle, models can synthesize and evaluate alternative mission and system concepts – defining mission, added value, or exploring tradespace		
System architecture design and requirements flow- down	Display flow of mission and system requirements down to system elements. Different models may address different aspects of design or perform alternative technical analyses.		
Systems integration and verification	Integration of hardware and software, potential for automated requirement verification and testing		
Training	Simulating various aspects of the systems allows safe, cost- effective, and rapid iterations of stakeholder interaction/education		
Knowledge capture and system design evolution	Provides effective, robust, and organized knowledge capture modes that support reuse and evolution following emergence of alternative system attributes, new stakeholders, and technologies.		

Table 3: Modeling purpose	, adapted by	author from	[11]
---------------------------	--------------	-------------	------

Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster

Lifecycle Process	Modeling Utility
Mission analysis	Descriptive utility of the model ensure that the correct problems are addressed effectively
Requirements traceability	For the physical system itself as well as stakeholders, model can justify requirements and record technical implications to avoid mis-specification
Architecture definition	Candidate options evaluated, enabling evaluation of architecture performance and sub-system interface
Design definition	Adjust parameters for optimization, evaluate consequences, and update system model with real-world or as-built data as fidelity is refined
Verification and validation	Simulate system operational environment with data as an input for computation of critical parameters that monitor simulation fidelity
Operations	Simulations reflect behavior and operations in advance of execution for cost and time savings during planning, validation, or training
Decommissioning	Living document with updates to record changes that reflect real-time status at decommissioning

Table 4: Lifecycle processes and modeling utility, adapted by author from [11]

Connecting different groups of stakeholders promotes complexity management through a robust awareness of system status and elements [44]. Since modeling smooths the communication flow between stakeholder groups, Figure 14 enumerates some of the products contained in a digital model and their hypothetical interactions.



Figure 14: Stakeholder control structure with system information for modeling

A system model enables the ability to "ask questions," or query a computational representation of the "real world." This allows a designer to obtain information such as performance or capability in advance of committing the resource of prototype construction or operation. Early accuracy in constructing a model informs stakeholders of system requirement implications or system behavior in the face of change and uncertainty [55].



Chapter 4

4.0 Mind the Gap: Models Connect Needs with Reality

Systems engineering techniques themselves contribute to disaster because they are all paper techniques and there are only "two" instead of "N" dimensions available.

Robert Frosch, Asst. Sec. of the Navy for Research, Development and Acquisition (1966-1973) 1969 Speech to IEEE International Convention [56]

Studying alternate sector approaches to similar problems facing naval acquisitions can give insight to Model-Based Engineering (MBE) usage. Across industries that practice complex system management, common project attributes and a model-centric approach make their study applicable to potential future applications in Naval system production. A diverse set of case studies approach problems with significant positive progress underway in expanding Model Based Engineering. Each example includes the gap analysis between industry problems, and USN problems to deliver additional context into potential model-based solutions.

The case studies that follow demonstrate an industrial application both outside and inside the defense sector to validate the hypothesis of a model-centric solution to system production underperformance. One of the unique aspects of this study is its ability as an academic endeavor to "reach outside the lifelines" of experience within the U.S. shipbuilding base and leverage information flow of lessons learned from civilian endeavors that seek to design, prototype, and produce complex systems that serve a wide variety of purposes. Examining how different teams approached their problems with MBE show why they chose the approach, what tools were used, and what results they achieved that were demonstrably attributable to their use of MBE. One common thread through these case studies is that the application of Model Based Engineering, broadly defined, enabled their work to be completed <u>faster and with fewer defects</u>.

4.1 Small Commercial Cube Satellites

With increased space launch availability, smaller organizations such as start-up companies and university groups pursue the design, manufacture, and operation/observation of small "micro" satellites referred to as "CubeSats." An INCOSE working group explored designing demonstrators of this technology using a MBSE environment to produce artifacts such as mission definitions, use cases and associated requirements, and system behaviors [57]. To date, the development of CubeSats has been largely "intuition" based with over half of the systems subjected to a complete failure [57]. Models that serve as a single-source-of-truth with a

collection of the total body of design data were proposed as a step toward formalizing quality assurance in the design and production process.

This application uses an eight-step MBSE approach for defining the behaviors of the CubeSats as shown in Table 5. Definition of system behaviors starts with formalizing the mission requirements relationship with the use case of the satellite. The mission requirements are used to create a representation of the functional architecture with input/output flows captured directly from the use case model in an activity diagram.

Step 1	Analyze mission requirements to identify enterprise-level use cases
Step 2	Define the relationship between mission requirements and enterprise-level use cases
Step 3	Capture the use cases identified in Step 1 inside selected systems engineering model
Step 4	Develop use case descriptions
Step 5	Capture the use case descriptions in the model
Step 6	Model the use case scenarios
Step 7	Link the activities to the use cases
Step 8	Continue decomposing the activities

Table 5: CubeSat MBSE use case/implementation blueprint [57]

The approach used by this INCOSE team followed generalized system development procedures to refine a specific set of repeatable steps. Furthermore, the steps do not necessitate a specific tool and only draw on the principles of model-based systems engineering that all tools possess. This enables the measures to be easily parlayed into other systems engineering methodologies for systems under development across multiple domains. Although this study did not consider them, the same methodology could be applied to non-functional and interface behaviors.

The engineers from the CubeSat study cite benefits of conversion to a MBSE approach for requirement and functionality development including enhanced team communications, deliberate system requirements that reduce development risk and improve quality, and intra-team lesson/knowledge transfer [57]. Applied with rigor and precision, MBSE enabled quality and productivity improvement and therefore lower risk in this complex space system development process as Table 6 summarizes.

CubeSat Case Study Issue	Naval Systems Engineering Design Issue	Common Solution Approach
Traceability ; "intuition-based" design	Requirement have little to no link to technical specifications	MBSE architecture traces requirements to functionality
Generalizability; non-standard computing environment	Different users have multiple tools used for their specific domain	Methodology not dependent on any specific tool and exposes common complex system attributes
Performance ; High Failure Rate	Part obsolescence and low TRL components contribute to systemic failure	Use case and requirement definition approach extensible to interface requirements of piece- parts
Recursive; system behaviors necessitate layers of decomposition	Requires many iterations of engineering and changes that cause rework	Models can be recursively adjusted across the mission hierarchy with higher-level outputs as lower-level inputs

Table 6: CubeSat Case Study gap analysis

4.2 Naval Air Systems Command

Conceptualizing, designing, and producing military aircraft systems – Naval Air Systems Command (NAVAIR) shares a similar challenge as organizations charged with design of ships and shipboard systems. NAVAIR commissioned a formal MBSE study to consider technical feasibility to "radically transform systems engineering through Model-Centric Engineering to rapidly deliver the needed capabilities to the warfighter for Large-Scale Air Vehicle Systems" [58]. Extending the academic study to production, NAVAIR seeks to be among the first in the DoD to bring the benefits of a model-based engineering environment to meet the reality of complex system design [59].

The use of a Model-Based Systems Engineering approach in this case study has enabled the employment of a multidisciplinary design, analysis, and optimization (MDAO) approach for computation of tradeoffs and optimum design points. Use of these methods requires a design environment capable of simultaneously considering a breadth of simulation and computational artifacts inside a holistic MBE environment [58]. Table 7 covers the objectives of migration towards this holistic MBE approach.

The end-state vision includes design resilience to small changes in components or requirements by providing an accurate and clear picture of the effect on the overall aircraft. An example given in the study was as external sensors change, the model would be able to forecast the effect on key performance parameters of aircraft aerodynamics or radar observability which were previously designs maintained in document-based format separately [59].

NAVAIR Case Study Issue	Naval Systems Engineering Design Issue	Common Solution Approach
Multi-disciplinary Optimization; Definition of UAS capability in designs enabled by workflow analysis	Similar capabilities such as fuel economies, range, and speeds produce a comparable workflow across different designs	Integrated multidisciplinary optimization enabled by model- based specifications
Change Management; Input and output parameter inter- relationships	Effects of element additions not well understood regarding interactions and emergent behaviors	With a single element change, models capable of generating "thousands" of engineering solutions to identify the optimal
Tradespace exploration ; Design of Experiments (DoE)	Sensitivity analysis of component or input changes often obscured by complexity	Exploitation of previous model runs that leverage prior attempt data for use in early-phase design under new mission capability requirements

Table 7: NAVAIR Case Study gap analysis [58], [59]

Based on the results of that study, NAVAIR publicly reiterated an intention to move toward model-based system engineering representation of their requirements and specifications. Commander, Naval Air Systems Command, Vice Admiral Paul Grosklags, as reported in the proceedings of the U.S. Naval Institute, stated at the 2017 National Defense Industrial Association's Systems Engineering Conference [59]: I've got a model of my threat; I've got a model of my blue forces; I've got environmental models, whether I'm operating in an [electromagnetic warfare] spectrum or I'm operating in the acoustic spectrum under the water; it's all done with models.

NAVAIR further contends that extension of the model-centric environment to the production contractors may also create benefit to reduce [59]:

[writing] a 500- page specification with 20,000 shall-statements, and we give it to industry and go, here, [design] this. We don't give them the threat models, we don't give them the blue force models, we don't give them that system of systems family model we just built. We give them a 500-page document with 20,000 shall-statements.

4.3 Weapon System Guidance and Navigation

During a recent routine technical refresh period, the guidance system of the U.S. Navy's Strategic Weapon System undertook a major upgrade. The technical challenge that a guidance system on a strategic missiles must overcome is described by MIT Lincoln Lab technical staff member Paul Zarchan [60].

Strategic ballistic missiles are different from tactical guided missiles because they travel much longer distances and are designed to intercept stationary targets whose location is known precisely... In this type of strategic application, precise instrumentation is necessary so that the interceptor can steer to the correct position and velocity states at the end of the boost phase. With the correct states the missile will be able to glide ballistically, without further corrective maneuvers, toward the target.

Although the specific technical documentation regarding this case study is distribution limited, we can explore some of the techniques, motivations, and benefits that the Charles Stark Draper Laboratory (CSDL) realized during the evolution of their development of the Life Extension for the Guidance sub-system. Based on exceptional cost of pad-launching ballistic missiles, a principal government constraint was placed on physical demonstrations [9]. Therefore, testing required a digital based design capable of validating the design iterations before convergence on the final product that would reach physical production. With the early knowledge that the engineers would need a proprietary model-based environment, they first developed the computing infrastructure necessary for the simulation analysis. Chapter 6 will explore the further verification and validation that was central to the success of these models.

Draper Case Study Issue	Naval Systems Engineering Design Issue	Common Solution Approach
Testing ; Difficult to physically launch validation flights	Expensive prototypes, difficult to scale and replicate	Model-centric testing environments that faithfully replicate operation
Integration ; Design of a sub-system with complex interfaces	High-risk collection of many systems-of-systems whose functionalities are dependent for total system operational success	Computing technology allows the developer to maintain common cognizance over tools used in product design

Table 8: Draper Guidance MBE Case Study gap analysis

ï

4.4 Industrial Materials Plant Machinery

i

The aerospace and defense sectors are not the only areas in which benefits of modularity and flexibility in design are realized. The field of industrial plant machinery design must also contend with individualization in requirements and dynamic societal changes that affect product configuration [61]. Equipment used in the processes of mining, refinement and shipping has been identified for long term gains through implementation of modularity and flexibility in overall plant configuration. Figure 15 summarizes the problem and systems faced in modularizing mineral processing plant machinery. The intended approach of application of MBSE to industrial plant machinery consists of five steps summarized in Table 9.



Figure 15: Industrial plant machinery MBSE application, figures adapted by author from [61]

Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster - 60 -

Step 1 (S1)	Existing products and documentation analyzed with corresponding product models created
Step 2 (S2)	Levels of abstraction in the product models created, elements transferred to a common reference product model
Step 3 (83)	Iterative adaption and enlargement of the reference product model. When combined with further product reference models, enables the ability to create a cross-product reference model
Step 4 (S4)	Existing product models and cross-product reference models creates a structural description of all possible characteristics for one or more products and now describes the total "construction kit"
Step 5 (S5)	Implementation of construction kit from model specifications

Table 9: Five step process used in modularity motivated MBSE exploration [59]

The case contends that development of modular products is necessary to contend with their business environment and adoption of a MBSE design approach would be uniquely suited for the needs of their industry. Systems models using a generic SysML tool framework deliver consistent management over the entire scope of product development information by delivering multiple levels of view abstraction [61]. Due to the limitations in scale and scope of individual cognition, abstracting views allows engineers the ability to absorb interdependencies at a manageable level [6]. The authors of the case contend that a matrix-based representation method contains a large number of characteristics of dependency between elements, an approach that will be leveraged in the subsequent case studies of Chapters 5 and 7 [61].

The analysis team concluded their study by presenting their MBSE model to the industry sponsor to identify standardization possibilities in the portfolio of heavy mineral processing equipment, specifically the portal-type reclaimer [61]. The reconfiguration suggested a requirements model developed through the steps in Figure 15 and Table 9 to yield a result of a consistent construction specification for the industry sponsor organization [61].

With a product development cycle highly characterized by system element interdependencies and design iterations, use of models as performed in this study offer assurance of internal consistency and analytic deduction quantitative relationships where required as summarized in Table 10.

Industrial Case Study	Naval Systems Engineering Design Issue	Common Solution Approach
Modularity and Flexibility; addresses individuality in requirements	Imperative to be able to change components as requirements call for configuration updates	Product and cross-product models capture interface dependencies
Temporal uncertainty; elements developed today for delivery years later	Details of component sub-systems – often "Government Furnished Equipment" – are not provided to platform designers	MBSE provides common basis for product developers to communicate, enabling consistent representation

Table 10: Industrial Case Study gap analysis

÷.

4.5 Israeli Defense Force "Iron Dome"

ī

The "Iron Dome" system was developed to provide ballistic missile defensive capability over Israeli cities vulnerable to small-scale terrorist rocket attacks [62]. As threats in this environment adapt to defensive measures taken around their target, stakeholders charged with the systems that provide safeguard face questions of how best to transition concepts quickly to production. This case study holds the Object Process Methodology, discussed earlier in Chapter 3, as an example of a model-based systems engineering framework possessing the fidelity and abstraction to foster the level of rapid evolution that this system requires [62]. The authors of this study argue that configuration management and "cross-functional impact tracking" remains a significant issue among many models in which inputs are dynamic and dependent upon uncertain actors such as terrorist organizations and unstable nation states. Many other MBSE tools such as UML-based SysML tools present user interface difficulties in keeping them up to date. The authors further assert that use of OPM-based tools "unifies the system's functional requirements specification and evolutionary dimensions within a single, overarching, holistic model" [62].

Recalling that an OPM model captures structural, functional, dependency, and behavioral system attributes within one unified view, it was chosen to model the weapon system to provide complexity management and simplicity [52]. The concept of an "Evolving System Model" aligns developers along the idea that model remains aligned with the current perception of the system at all times – an alternate frame of the "single-source-of-truth" concept [60]. The ballistic missile defense system modeled in their study is hypothetical but modeled closely from open-source information on the Iron Dome system. Modeling of the system begins by defining the first-level decomposition of the system components to determine a high-level structure. Functionalities are assigned to each sub-system as shown in Figure 16.



Figure 16: Structural-functional top-level view of a ballistic missile defense system, from [62]

The view from Figure 16 is paired with models of a sample operational scenario modeled by a process that shows system and constituent element functions [62]. With OPM, fidelity can be added to each "object" and "process" in the model to create a holistic system with virtually unlimited functionality in simulation. This modeling technique then easily enables the evolutionary aspects required of a system model regarded to be the "single-source of truth." OPM formalizes the distinction in the model between structural and functional components of the system and operation while providing usable model views that retain valuable layers of information. A summary of the approach detailed in this case study is contained in Table 11.

Iron Dome Case Study	Naval Systems Engineering Design Issue	Common Solution Approach
Production agility ; adversaries adapt faster than defensive systems can be fielded	Model language proves too cumbersome for most concept level work on large scale complex systems	OPM provides a way to transition quickly from concept-level study to production through bi-modal graphical and textual information presentation
Holistic model; capable of retaining information on the structural and functional aspects of the system	Managing structural and simulation models in parallel can be difficult to ensure that the latest updates to partition and interface to provide valid simulation outputs	OPM unifies the views of structure and operation to a single view giving the user the ability to seamlessly alternate between update of both sets of system attributes
Complexity management ; integration across sub- systems contributes to larger scale in specifying the requirements of a system	"Commercial" systems with a decreased refresh rate contribute to obsolescence and the need for integration among the combat and mobility sub-systems inflates the amount of element interaction [63]	Unification of the static- dynamic views at various level of detail within Object Process Methodology alleviates system complexity and simplifies its management

Table 11: Iron Dome Case Study gap analysis

Т

1

4.6 Set Based Design Framework

Set Based Design (SBD) presents an inherently resilient approach to the development of complex systems, possessing unique features that allow us to adapt to changing requirements [64]. In MIT Department of Mechanical Engineering course 2.703: Principles of Naval Ship design, rigorous application of Set Based Design was applied on a ship design project from August – December 2017 [65].

Hull Form Exploration was an application particularly well suited for Set Based Design with computationally intensive design parameters such as propulsion powering and resistance. Restructuring the ship design process to more strongly leverage MBSE tools helped to alleviate this specific issue by codifying the system dynamic factors altered by changing a single parameter. The model of requirements could be linked to performance parameters to indicate a change in requirement performance when one aspect of the software model is changed. Collaborative engineering plays a central role inside the Set Based Shipbuilding environment making use of "model-based design, integration, and verification tools, [and] collaborative engineering environments" [66]. Use of digital modeling tools allows for rapid search of alternatives that may be "dominated" or "undominated" across multiple measures of effectiveness. Figure 17 illustrates a sample analysis view during a set-based design procedure of baseline ship hullform selection. Software can rapidly deliver performance analyses of many variants at a time to enable comparison across measures of effectiveness to establish dominance criteria across multiple phases of down-selection.



Figure 17: Set Based Design analysis comparing variants of a medium-surface combatant [65]

When designing multiple interdependent elements, communication is observed to naturally enhance the quality of the design process [10], [15], [38]. Set Based Design promotes communication through comparison of the correlation between performance parameters that span multiple engineering domains. Model-based environments that aid in the generation of quantitative data help to reduce the effect of inherently-biased overall measures of effectiveness by promoting the usage of data filters.

Table 12 presents a comparison of how model-based engineering principles enables the procedure of set-based design demonstrating a key symbiotic relationship between a deliberate embrace of high-velocity learning modeling technologies and a set-based engineering approach.

Function	Set-Based Approach	"High-Velocity" Model Based Engineering
Search: How should solutions be found?	Define feasible design space, then remove options with documentable inferior solutions	Facilitating rapid experimentation within the design space
<i>Communication</i> : Which ideas are communicated to others?	Communicate sets of possibilities that remain after application of Pareto-style dominance	Digital technology is adaptive; fits the people and processes that are already in place
<i>Integration</i> : How should the system be integrated?	Look for intersections in the sub- system space that meet holistic system-of-system requirements	Focus on informational handoffs as operational design improvement points
<i>Selection</i> : How is the best idea identified?	Design in parallel on each alternative until down-selection. Look for low-cost, rapid tests to prove either infeasibility or dominance.	Simultaneous consideration of multiple variants at a time without inherent parameter bias with early elimination rounds
<i>Optimization</i> : How should the design be optimized?	Paradigm shift to pursue repeatable elimination of dominated alternatives over "optimization"	"See-swarm-solve" iteration patterns made possible via digitization of specification and automated analysis
<i>Specification</i> : How should you constrain others with respect to your own subsystem design?	Use minimum control specifications to allow optimization and mutual adjustment.	Partners both upstream and downstream in the design process compare a suitably large set of alternatives with mutually agreeable dominance criteria
Decision risk control: How should one minimize the risk of "going down the wrong path?"	Establish feasibility before commitment. Pursue high-risk and conservative options in parallel. Seek solutions robust to physical, market, and design variation (i.e. resilient).	Digital tools retain designs concurrently to enable the practice of retaining many designs and applying constraints/requirements simultaneously versus taking a single variant through the "design spiral"
<i>Rework risk control</i> : How to minimize damage and control unreliable communications?	Stay strictly within sets once committed. Manage uncertainty at process gates.	Finding faults sooner rather by mutual and quantitative validation than later mitigates the cost and schedule penalty

Table 12: Set and Model-Based Engineering, table adapted by author from [67]

.

4.7 Takeaways: Principles for Complex Systems Acquisition

Development Speed. Considering the mercurial nature of the global security environment, military planners and engineers will not be able to anticipate future needs and must find products able to reach the market faster and more efficiently. Speed throughout development comes from adapting to changing requirements to solve problems with high velocity, and the process is slowed with waste and rework when the wrong features are constructed into the system [68].

Unified Language. A major problem in the realm of military shipbuilding is that for systems engineers, multiple stakeholders speak using a differing vernacular, with disparate languages of engineers relevant to ship design and building [69]. The case studies demonstrated how modeling can be used to help improve communication flow through different phases of design. MBSE uses its cross-disciplinary nature to enable analytical functions, to develop models of a system including, for example, geometry, structure, electrical distribution network, information support network, propulsion sub-system, and hull hydrodynamics [62], [65].

Concept visualization. By visualizing how components come together, we can avoid as much of the ad hoc engineering that occurs when components are assembled without routing specification [32]. Complexity must be viewed from different levels and angles to get a full grasp on what is contained inside. Model-Based Engineering enables the "helicopter" functionality of ease of movement around a system that provides for the cycle between looking holistically and then deep again, with ease that is required to fully understand the breadth of the system issues and individual component interaction [8]. By easily switching between views at high level and those with more detailed granularity, MBSE provides a venue for the process of abstraction as part of the strategy to deal with complex systems.

Integration hub. MBSE does not end with conversion of specifications and interface control documents to a model-centric format. System architecture models provide a hub for data integration and transformation across the product lifecycle. Since we are focusing on the manufacturing and speeding up of production, the ability to link analysis through the systems model to provide insight into the "why" behind architectural level decisions to promote thoughtful change management practices [44].

Set Based Design and collaborative engineering. Making use of "design, integration, and verification tools, [and] collaborative engineering environments," models enable the ideal collaboration environment that Set Based Design leverages [66]. Raising the level of design abstraction in a model-based engineering environment, more people can add their perspective and enhance the collaborative environment with more participation in real time on a digital constantly updating product. Set Based Design further identifies faults in the design earlier in the process through the retention of the full set of the feasible design tradespace before they become more expensive [38].

Our acquisition strategy can shift from document based to model based to theoretically enable <u>different practices</u> conducive to increasing throughput in our nation's shipyards. Potential examples of such practices include contract structure, management operational processes, or engineering design-based changes. These will allow shipbuilders to better understand their scope of work and execute the construction more efficiently and cleanly, decrease the average turnaround-time for construction project and average throughput capacity.

With a better understanding of the ship design process, incorporation of improvement practices will become easier. Using MBSE grants such a flexibility to designers. In addition to helping identify the priority of ship design tool development activities, this design process model is now being used alongside traditional planning processes in the planning for near-term ship design projects [70]. The two novel cases studies of shipbuilding and weapons development in the subsequent chapters will use these principles throughout the model process as a test to the hypothesis of their productivity conducive effects.

MBE Case Study Summary

In commercial projects, MBE can be observed to facilitate traceability and rapid recursive design iterations to improve quality and rate of production

Other sectors of the defense enterprise have pioneered MBE to manage complexity and control changes within a specification

MBE can also enable a key process family called Set Based Design rooted in collaborative engineering, alternative optimization, and risk control

These case studies demonstrate a breadth of application with micro-lessons in each application that can be applied to the Naval construction establishment

Chapter 5

5.0 Case Study: Shipbuilding Production Model

For decades, constructing large scale complex systems has proven to be a difficult endeavor for the Navy. Significant underperformance has manifested itself in delayed deliveries, failed testing, and skyrocketing acquisition costs (see Figure 4 regarding delivery delay and [12] regarding cost overruns). Stakeholders involved in the design and production of complex naval systems cite highly variable and poorly defined requirements as a key contributor to delays due to rework, as investigated in Chapter 2.

One hypothesis is that requirements traceability on a system-wide scale will more clearly link operational capabilities with the technical methods that make them feasible. We have demonstrated that companies or organizations involved in manufacturing of complex systems seek out model-based digital solutions with increasing frequency to earn faster returns on their technology development investment when compared with alternative methods of handing complexity in production.

This case study focuses on the design of the next generation hospital ship for the U.S. Navy as investigated as part of a final capstone design project for the MIT Naval Construction and Engineering Program [71]. A model rendering of the final design results is shown in Figure 18. The design team was responsible for generating requirements to design the ship based on input from the U.S. Navy Bureau of Medicine, the officers and crew of the current hospital ship USNS *Mercy* (T-AH 19), and other sources within the Navy Medicine enterprise.



Figure 18: Design rendering of Next Generation Hospital Ship (T-AH 21) [71]

During the concept design, the team received project information from sponsors spread across several disciplines, highlighting the need for a systematic method to capture stakeholder needs and codify them into requirements useful to engineers. As the design evolved and additional stakeholder and engineering knowledge was added to the project, the systematic solution was also able to capture conceptual changes and translate into technical specifications.

This application to the hospital ship design examines different topics and questions that model-based systems engineering usage presents in the practical sense of production. What are the implications of having information that connects required operational capabilities of the past to a future reality in production? What form can a resilient acquisition architecture take to address the uncertainty of an evolving battlespace? This case, summarized in Figure 19, suggests a framework that addresses these questions through virtual representations of reality used to solve real work physical problems of design and construction.



Shipbuilding Process-Based Cost and Schedule Model Case Study

(1) Case study focuses on developing requirements and evaluating change during the production of a new class of U.S. Naval Hospital Ship

(2) Required Operational Capabilities (ROC) decomposed multiple levels into aspects of technical design and component systems usable in engineering design

(3) Relationship between requirements and system components (SWBS groups) is defined and quantified in an Engineering Systems Matrix

(4) Changes in requirements or components will generate a list of affected elements used in a process-based production cost model by deriving affected components from the change

(5) Production performance is modeled through approximating quantity of sub-tasks derived from system elements affected by a change in a requirement

(6) Labor hours measured through linear combination of sub-tasks with coefficients that correspond to the stage of construction that the ship is in when the change is ordered

(7) Production process-based cost model simulations are compared using deterministic inputs

(8) The addition of uncertainty distributions for inputs are compared using Crystal Ball software for comparison with the deterministic outputs

Figure 19: Shipbuilding production process model chapter workflow

Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster

5.1 Hospital Ship Requirements Model

5.1.1 Required Operational Capabilities

A complex system is designed to satisfy a functional purpose – to accomplish a required operational capability (ROC). These ROCs are often abstract, and they can be – skilled engineers should be able to handle a seemingly vague sponsor need. The trouble is that ROCs, often imprecise, are almost never requested in units or parameters that are suitable for a design space exploration. For example, when a sponsor asks for twelve operating rooms and accommodation for one thousand passengers, it is difficult to size the electric and auxiliary plant from those figures alone. Nominally, ships or other complex systems are built to cover a deficiency in capability or capacity in a force structure. This discrepancy could be performance of a function or new action incapable using the current equipment such as the need for a ship that can get from San Diego to Japan in a certain number of days, or a new submarine with certain performance characteristics that allow us to counteract our adversary's position better. Requirements can be traceable both upstream and downstream of their statement generation [72]. Starting with required operational capabilities, a requirement map connects capabilities to design specifications and technical elements of the proposed construction of the hospital ship.

Likewise, starting with "required medical capability" does not yield parameters useful to design or select any particular set of equipment. This case study uses a systems engineering model to map *functional* requirements the Hospital Ship to *technical* requirements capable of directly linking to model-based specifications in production. This connection facilitates a resilient *conceptualize-design-build* sequence by linking a ROC seamlessly with its technical design parameters.

Each of the top-level requirements track to more detailed technical specifications that have documented traceability to the lowest level using a derived requirements tracking program [73]. Tangible multi-dimensional traceability of requirements enables stakeholders to observe the relationship between need, concept, design elements, and a final technical implementation of the system. A model of the connections can show in real time the effects of a dynamic requirement environment and allows consideration of a change on a technical basis.

Required Operational Capabilities applicable for the design of this case study's hospital ship are shown in Figure D-1 in Appendix D: Requirement and Component Interaction.

5.1.2 Requirements Model

This thesis proposes that a systemic connection should start as early as possible in the acquisition cycle so that technical specifications can adapt to potential rapid requirement shift. As explored in Chapter 2 with the *Zumwalt*-Class (DDG-1000) – the acquisition problems that

the program suffered from did not result from making poor engineering decisions and system choices; the true problem was found in the inflexible requirements that failed to adapt to a changing warfighting concept.

This model replicates the informational handoff between capability needs and technical solutions where, in practice, disconnects have been shown to plague the production of complex systems in requirement translation [38]. Figure 20 represents the structure of the dynamic model that handles changing upstream parameters by altering the design-level requirements.



Figure 20: Production Model Step 1 - Requirements Traceability

No matter how complex the traceability tool becomes, this case study's spreadsheet of requirements traceability alone will not change the course of any major acquisition program. These programs face multi-dimensional issues that call for designs inherently adaptable to the world that they are delivered into. However, a more resilient connection of requirements to technical specifications coupled with proper high-velocity review and refresh cycles delivers a solution to address issues of program requirement fidelity. Since "model-based" tools struggle to be captured in this "document-based" thesis, only limited sample views are contained below. In Figure 21, by constructing the engineering background of technical derivation of required operational capability, we gain insight into what changes in capability could mean for the design parameters of the ship. Although the model does not yet extend into the detailed design phase, this parameter model can highlight specific consideration areas to focus a design effort.


Figure 21: Functionality of requirements traceability model

Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster

5.2 Engineering System Design Structure Matrix

An approach closely related to network analysis to directly investigate interactions between individual system elements in a matrix is the Design Structure Matrix (DSM) and its extension as discussed in Chapter 3, the Engineering Systems Matrix (ESM). The "ESM" term will be used in this chapter to denote the full model of requirement and component interactions explained below. In constructing the ESM for this case study, each element of the physical world relates to a stated operational requirement. The idea of a ESM can be extended to compare the links or element connections between boundary external "system drivers" and elements that a systems engineer would concern herself with such as stakeholders, requirements, and components of an engineering system [8].



Figure 22: Production Model Step 2 - Component Interactions

The goal and structure of this portion of the shipbuilding model is shown in Figure 22. A meta-model ESM that shows the following relationships as displayed in Figure 23 with a blank template with more detailed listing of the input and output entries listed in Appendix D: Requirement and Component Interaction. This component of the model starts with an ESM that displays elements of interconnectedness between elements of the system and the requirements of the components. This yields four individual DSMs (the four quadrants in Figure 23) which can illuminate a single design relationship between requirements and system elements.



Figure 23: Engineering System Matrix (ESM) model connecting ROC to System Components

Depending on the scope of the model, the dependency matrix can represent information to any level of fidelity. Even at a high level, as demonstrated in this case study, we can reap clear design benefits. Figure 24 shows how each of the physical design elements are connected to operational requirements by highlighting which physical components are mapped to satisfying requirements. If a component is "orphaned" – defined here as not connected with satisfying an operational requirement – then close consideration of its inclusion in the final design must be made. Likewise, the ESM shows which groups of physical elements depend on other groups to give an idea of the degree to which aspects of design may depend on others. For example, in Figure 24, the 200-SWBS component group representing the propulsion sub-system is observed to be highly dependent on aspects of the physical hull structure of the ship. The ESM would assist an engineer in determining how changes in the hull structure sub-system, potentially to hull size and shape from which powering and resistance requirements are derived according to the speed capability level, may impact the propulsion sub-system.

Each node reflects the quantitative nature of the dependency involved in changing the row-variable to the corresponding first-order change in the column variable, either "proportional", "inversely proportional", or "variable" denoted by the nodes marked with **P**, **I**, or **V** respectively in Figure 24 and Figure 25.



Figure 24: Hospital Ship Requirement and Component-group Engineering System Matrix

.... (tuquI) wos sidt ni esgaad

Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster

Engineering System Matrix

The overall Engineering System Matrix (ESM) shows the full relationship between requirements and components in the system. To model how a change in one component affects other components, focus on the lower-right quadrant

Component-Component Design Structure Matrix

This DSM shows relationships between different sets of component groups. For this illustration, focus on the sub-set with structural components as row inputs and auxiliary components as column outputs



Component Group Comparison

This sub-set of a DSM illustrates how changes in structural components (100-SWBS group) affects auxiliary components (500-group)

Hull Structure, General 100 Shell and Support Structure 110 Hull Structural Bulkheads 120 Hull Platforms and Flats 140 Deck House Stucture 150 Special Structures (e.g. ramp) 160 Masts, Kungposts, and Service Platforms 180 Special Purpose Systems 190



= change in "row" component proportional to "column" component



P

= change in "row" component inversely proportional



= change in "row" component varies

in relation to "column" component

Figure 25: Using the Requirement-Component Engineering System Matrix

Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster

5.3 Production Performance Model

The concept of modeling production performance draws from the discipline of systems engineering through its focus on the emergence of interactions among groups of individually independent actions. Examining the overall system performance model rather than performance of an individual component more accurately predicts requirement effects on production delivery. In this section, a list of production processes associated with a capability requirement translates to cost and schedule effects using a process-based labor model.

5.3.1 Production Processes

Figure 26 summarizes the third step in the process-based simulation of the technical implications of a requirement change.



Figure 26: Production Model Step 3 – Process Based Cost Model determines results

Many of the process sets contained in the model come from research performed by the MIT Material Systems Laboratory, who observed and recorded the shipbuilding process at Huntington Ingalls Industries Shipbuilding (HII) [74]. The lab's previous model was configured to simulate the production process through the Unit Assembly stage of ship construction [75].

The rates of work recorded by the MIT team were protected as proprietary information of HII and as such, the data was not accessible for the creation of this model. This limitation does not detract from this model's functionality as this construct only aims to serve as a case study or proof for how the requirements can be connected to the technical specifications in a systematic fashion.

A selection of the shipbuilding processes modeled in this simulation is contained in Appendix E: Shipbuilding Processes and Rate Coefficients. This model incorporates activities for which empirical data was not measured by the MSL team since many outfitting processes are not replicated before the Unit Assembly stage of construction [75]. For the production processes of painting, lagging, removing interferences, pipe bending, and pipe fitting, rates and sub-process steps were based on past repair experiences and alternative shipyard observation and were quantitatively approximated using Rate Coefficients in the Simulator Tool [37].

5.3.2 Rate Coefficients and Simulator Tool

Coefficients to scale production process rates are used to determine production times throughout the different stages of construction modeled in the "Cost and Schedule Simulator" third step shown in Figure 26. This process model uses a linear combination of scaled quantities to determine the magnitude of labor hours required for a process. With empirical data for only the Unit Assembly stage, an approximation for usable data at more advanced stages of construction applies a multiplier, or a Rate Coefficient, to account for the additional challenge associated with production in late stages of construction such as higher assembly density and difficult weld angles.

Some earlier stages of construction assemble components of the vessel while the block is inverted from its eventual orientation. Once the inverted block is returned to the ship shape and all the welds now overhead, even skilled welding professional lengthen their rate of welding per unit of length [35]. As such, the further a system progresses into construction, it can be generally assumed that slower process rates will occur at every step of production [76].

To emphasize the integrity of proprietary rate and performance data contained in the model from HII, this analysis limits coefficient manipulation to those in the generalized equation for total time for a task group and not the specific rates for sub-process actions (e.g., specific welding, fitting, lifting, etc. rates are not used or approximated in this model).

Total time for a shipbuilding production process, T_i is taken as a function of the coefficients $\kappa_{1,i}$, $\kappa_{2,i}$, and $\kappa_{3,i}$ for task group *i* as shown in the equation below. These coefficients respectively refer to the summed total of the non-scaled, length-scaled, and quantity-scaled rate factors of the task group *i*. The scaling accounts for only labor costs to execute the change and

not material costs needed (i.e. lost costs to accounted for the old equipment removed and the replacement equipment installed).

$$T_i = \kappa_{1,i} + \kappa_{2,i}$$
[Quantity_i] + $\kappa_{3,i}$ [Length_i]

Set up cost for equipment in each task step is accounted for in the coefficient of constant (fixed) time, $\kappa_{1,i}$. Quantity based time-costs (such as crane lifts) are contained in the $\kappa_{2,i}$ and the sub-processes scaled by length (such as weld actions) $\kappa_{3,i}$. Appendix E: Shipbuilding Processes and Rate Coefficients contains a table of subprocesses and their associated rate coefficients. The rate coefficients were the sum of each of the sub-processes in each scaling category. Since shipyard as-built data was deliberately obscured in the model, sample generalized rounded coefficients were used to illustrate the functionality of the model.

The final step in the model is to calculate the resulting effect on cost and schedule for the selected processes in the Schedule and Cost Simulator. The user interface for this part of the model is shown in Appendix G: Cost and Schedule Simulator Views. In this model, the resulting time sums across all three change phases are calculated and the rate coefficients can be adjusted to correspond to rate differences between the stages of constructions. Labor rates are computed using estimates of total compensation, overhead, equipment amortization, and consumable usage for each type of shipbuilding process modeled to calculate change labor cost from total amount of labor time.

5.3.3 Requirement Change Simulation Scenario

Running a simulation begins with selecting the requirement change scenario of testing interest. Due to the dual functionality (component/requirement) of the ESM, the change could either be to a *component* group to two-digit SWBS fidelity – X-X-0 Group, such as the 580 Group, representing the mechanical handling systems component group, or to a *requirement* from the Required Operational Capability list, such as the FHP-3 requirement to provide medical, surgical, and nursing care.

The choice of change scenario to simulate was motivated by selecting a system wellintegrated with the rest of the ship as a critical component but might not have as many formalized connections to other sub-systems and components as to make the simulation too large in scope (such as modeling a change in hull-shape or size). An ideal example came from simulating a change in type of small-boat loading crane and davit, an example of which is shown in Figure 27. This problem is representative of the types of problems that shipbuilders might face in requirements change and downstream second order effects.



Figure 27: Example commercial boat davit in a testing configuration [71]

Note that the boat davits on the proposed ship design in Figure 28 are positioned lower to the waterline and inside the hull skin of the ship. This factor influences the nature of the work required to execute a change once the ship structure is assembled.



Figure 28: Location of requirement change – proposed upgrade to boat transfer davit [71]

5.4 Simulate Deterministic Output

To summarize the model described to this point, the requirements traceability model connects the required operational capabilities to technical design parameters, the ESM/DSM captures the interactions among the components and requirements of the system, and a process-based schedule and cost model simulates time and cost to perform certain tasks in the shipyard. Combining the functionalities of these model components, we can select a representative

requirement change, determine its effect on changing design parameters, other components, and simulate the effort in budget and time required to execute this change in the production process.

The model and simulations can additionally account for how the shipbuilding process changes as production progresses. Shipbuilders refer to the progression through the production process according to the Stage of Construction (SOC) in which the vessel is in [76]. Although the progression of ship construction varies between individual shipyards, a sample sequence is contained in Table 13 [35], [37], [76].

SOC 1	Fabrication: initial cutting of steel
SOC 2	Sub-assembly, or panel assembly: welding structure onto initial steel pieces
SOC 3	Unit Assembly: sub-assemblies welded together to form units or blocks
SOC 4	Blast and Paint: complete installation of heavy equipment and coat the block
SOC 5	Grand Block: units and blocks come together to form Grand Blocks
SOC 6	Block Erection: "Grand Blocks" welded together in the dock and most equipment installed
SOC 7	Final Outfitting: ship launched, and final equipment install
SOC 8	Testing: conducted waterborne

Table 13: Naval ship construction stages of construction [37], [76]

Initial/Pre-production Stage Unit Assembly Stage Final Outfitting Stage

Figure 29: Stage of Construction color legend used in the production model

Although the construction stages can be discretized to many steps as shown in Table 13, this model will consider only three for simplicity. The earliest stage represents the preconstruction phase. Next, an intermediate phase is represented by the Unit Assembly stage. Finally, the waterborne outfitting phase, Final Outfitting is the most advanced stage represented in the model. The model representations below utilize the color legend shown in Figure 29.

As the components of the ship progress through the assembly sequence, the effects that a change will have as it is applied later in production have a three-layered effect -(a) more

components will be affected during later stages of construction, (b) quantities of the individual tasks will increase, and (c) the speed or rate that the tasks will be performed will slow later in the process [33], [35], [37], [76].

For example, producing a design whose technical details are completed from the initial stage of construction, a certain activity may require approximately 10 ft of overhead welding and fabrication of 50 ft worth of custom field run pipe spooling. For a change at a point mid-way through the production process, these quantities may increase while also adding quantities of interference removal or other activities that are now associated with the SOC that the vessel is now in. Finally, when executing this change at the end of the construction process, once the vessel is launched, there may be more welds, an increasing amount of interference removal, and even more activities such as extra painting and rework.

5.4.1 Simulation Round 1- Changes to Affected Components

Figure 30 shows how dependency between the components increases as the project advances to later SOCs. This section of the ESM represents a component-component interaction map, the relationship shown by the lower right quadrant of the ESM from Figure 23. Note that in later stages of construction a change in a specific sub-system will affect an increased number of other related sub-systems, following a hypothetical progression in ship assembly.



Figure 30: ESM dependency changes throughout successive construction changes

Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster

A generalized list of shipbuilding production processes from a sample combatant construction project (an Integrated Master Schedule in industry parlance) provided structure for the process tasks that were selected to correspond to change work for each group of affected ship sub-systems [77]. Full views of the tasks selected to execute a SWBS 580-Group requirement change are contained in Appendix F: Simulation of Shipbuilding Processes for SWBS Group 580 Requirement Change.

The model first measures the effect that the extra component interdependency has on additional work processes. By holding the quantity and rate of work performed among each task common to the three stages of construction constant while varying only the addition of tasks themselves, the effect of increased interdependency in the form of additional production processes is measured. Figure 31 shows the task additions in the three different phases that the model simulates with the cost and schedule results summarized in Appendix G: Cost and Schedule Simulator Views.



Figure 31: Simulation Rd. 1 –accounts only for increase in tasks to execute requirements change during three successive stages of construction

5.4.2 Simulation Round 2- Addition of Task Quantity Increases

In addition to extra tasks that accompany changes during later stages of construction, the model next accounts for an increase in the quantity of each task performed. For example, the total quantity of plate and pipe cutting required increases during later stages of construction accounting for interference removal to facilitate equipment installation in a higher density area.

Figure 32 shows the same task structure as used in the previous section, along with highlighted quantity increases in successive stages of construction for the selection SWBS Group with the cost and schedule results summarized in Appendix G: Cost and Schedule Simulator Views.



Figure 32: Simulation Rd. 2 – changes in task quantities (SWBS 100-Group changes shown)

5.4.3 Simulation Round 3 - Rate Coefficient Variation

Finally, we examined changes in rate coefficients to account for the fact that certain work tasks take longer when they are performed during later stages of construction. For example, a weld task completed during the panel assembly stage could be done in a more ergonomically feasible position with the extra space afforded at that stage of construction. However, once the block is inverted and in its final position on the ship, this weld may be in an overhead position requiring a more difficult posture and therefore slower weld rate. Beyond welding, this model accounts for the increased complexity of other processes as well such as coatings and shipfitting that happen at much slower rates as the project reaches advanced stages of construction [35], [37], [76].

Identical task structure and quantities as used in the previous section were used to simulate results of applying the third layer with the rate coefficient variation modeled as shown

in Figure 33. The final cost and schedule results that account for increased component interdependency, higher work quantity, and adjusted rate coefficients are summarized in Appendix G: Cost and Schedule Simulator Views.

Figure 33 quantifies the heuristic that we used to illustrate the data, stylized as "1-4-8" is a simple statement that performing a *one*-manhour task scheduled during initial design to be completed during panel assembly would take approximately *four* times as long after the unit assembly stage of construction, and *eight* times as long after the ship has been launched and is waterborne [76]. Although this heuristic is meant to be extremely informal, for the purposes of the model it serves as a useful rate coefficient estimate.

Initi	al SOC Time l	Factors			
k1	k2 (#)	k3 (FT)			
1	1	1			
Unit A	Assembly Time	Factors			
k1	k2 (#)	k3 (FT)			
4	4 4				
Out	fitting Time F	actors			
k1	k2 (#)	k3 (FT)			
8	8	8			

Figure 33: Simulation Rd. 3 – variation in work rate across three stages of construction (example figures shown illustrating a basic "1-4-8" rate heuristic)

5.4.4 Deterministic Comparison

While the precise quantification of comparisons will change with details of the change specification and specific shipyard performance, the important conclusion that this model reaches is a facilitation of real-time comparison of the sensitivity of parameter update and adjustment. Although exactly predicting cost and schedule implications for a change would far exceed the scope of the research– this model provides direction for formulating the connection between requirements and technical specifications.

Adapting this model to a true production scenario could be achieved through observation and input of production process quantities and rates. Additionally, this model can be extended to account for other costs to the shipyard such as opportunity costs to other projects for the use of equipment that would have otherwise been allotted elsewhere. However, this model seeks to eliminate some naivety around requirement change costs or delays. Considering additional complexity in construction, increased quantity within the individual tasks, and slower production rates creates a complex relationship that a model-based environment begins to capture. Figure 34 and Figure 35 summarize the schedule and cost impact, respectively, of the proposed requirement change by calculating total cost, cost increase factor, and a time increase factor. Note that when all three layers are applied – the additional production tasks, quantities and the construction stage-adjusted work rates, the overall schedule and cost effects significantly exceeds the heuristic of "1-4-8" that we applied as an approximation.



Figure 34: Impact of requirement change on schedule, summary



Figure 35: Impact of requirement change on labor costs, summary

Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster

This model demonstrates that heuristics such as "1-4-8" used in a complex manufacturing process fails to account for the reality of the complex component interactions. The data summaries in Figure 34 and Figure 35 uncover the degree to which a total amount of work as part of a total requirements or component change is part of a non-linear dependency structure that further complicates the calculation of effect on delivery schedule or overall budget. These deterministic results show how changes made early in the production process can have near-exponential returns on schedule and cost. Changes made late in the production process often increase effects on the schedule and cost by upwards of 30 times for a specific change. Connecting requirements to technical specifications uncovers nonlinear effects of the complex ship building process.

5.5 Uncertainty and Sensitivity Analysis

The above analyses were presented using deterministic data – data that a model architect "claims" to know with certainty and exactness. However, this is clearly not the case. Uncertainty was discussed in Chapter 2 – in the real world there are infinite variables that are subjected to an uncertain distribution. This section aims to demonstrate the variance in simulation results obtained when ascribing a level of uncertainty to a parameter when compared with the misconception of certainty obtained through deterministic results.

5.5.1 Application of Uncertainty to Production Model

The production model described to this point inputs thousands of individual parameters to measure the schedule and cost performance of labor involved in executing a requirement change at three different construction stages. This portion of the experiment suggests a method to establish real-world performance bounds on outcomes while providing a framework for simulations to measure sensitivity of individual parameters. Like the requirement-component interaction ESM in Section 5.2, multiple iterations of this simulation can demonstrate which parameters may have the greatest individual effect on outcomes through non-linear connectivity to the rest of the system.

To evaluate the effect that uncertain parameters have on the model, we identified variables and the general distribution of the parameters. This simulation assigns stochastic distributions to the quantities of sub-process tasks and rate coefficients in the Performance Model component (as described in Section 5.3). Monte Carlo simulations with 1,000 iterations were performed using the Oracle Crystal Ball (1) software in a spreadsheet interface [78].

As shown in Table 14, quantities of production process steps (Section 5.3.1) were modeled using a normal distribution assuming a mean of the initial design estimate and 10% standard deviation around the mean ($\sigma = 0.10\mu$). The normal distribution was chosen to represent the continuous quantities around a mean for processes such as weld amount length or quantity of structural members affected that behave similarly in variance to natural phenomena [79]. Rate coefficients (Section 5.3.2) were modeled using a continuous uniform distribution centered around the "1-4-8" scaling heuristic to reflect equal likelihood of the range that work rates vary around an initial estimate [79]. The functionality of the Crystal Ball software allows for real-time updating of each individual uncertainty distribution to reflect updates gathered regarding their assumptions.

Uncertain Design Parameter	Crystal Ball Assumption	Uncertainty Distribution			
Production Process Quantity	Normally distributed $\mu = \text{Initial Design Estimate}$ $\sigma = (0.10) \mu$	Enderstanding and a second sec			
Rate Coefficients $\kappa_{1,i}$, $\kappa_{2,i}$, and $\kappa_{3,i}$	Uniformly distributed μ = Initial Design Estimate Min = (0.5) μ Max = (2) μ	Consistent office and a final sector of the			

Table	14:	Uncertainty	Parameters
-------	-----	-------------	------------

Monte Carlo simulations yielded uncertainty information in Figure 36 with Table 15 as a comparison of the deterministic results with the range of results obtained through accounting for an initial level of uncertainty in the selected parameters. The resulting Crystal Ball forecast reports containing uncertainty trial data are contained in Appendix H: Uncertainty Forecasts.

	Model Output	Deterministic Parameter Result	Uncertain Parameter Min/Max
	Time Factor	8.0	4.2 / 11.8
Unit	Cost	\$590,000	\$308,000 / \$870,000
Assy.	Cost Factor	8.85	4.6 / 13.3
Final	Time Factor	30.0	22.7 / 37.8
Assy.	Cost	\$2,300,000	\$1.7 M / \$2.9 M
	Cost Factor	34.53	25.8/44.0

Table 15: Deterministic and uncertain simulation comparison

The plot of Monte Carlo simulation results demonstrates the wide range of potential outcomes from variable inputs through a complex system using uncertain parameters. The histogram of the Monte Carlo results in Figure 36 generally feature two peaks representing a bimodal distribution to account for the interactions of all uncertain parameters. Even with models that require manual input to capture uncertainty for the stochastic simulation, this risk and uncertainty yields large variation among the results.



Figure 36: Uncertainty simulations- cost and schedule impacts for advanced stage changes

5.5.2 Uncertainty Observations

Qualitatively, uncertainty accentuates the compound effects of multiple non-linear elements in the model. When each process task is considered individually, it may ascribe to a handy heuristic such as "1-4-8" mentioned earlier. However, this section highlights how uncertainty distributions over some variables produce pronounced effects in the results of system production time and cost. Due to the complex non-linear dependencies inside a model such as the process-based cost model featured here, we can see that implementation of all the tasks required to execute a change in component or requirement can far exceed the single-task time scale factor. Although it is well understood that making changes late in the design-build process can be problematic for meeting schedules and budgets, what is not well understood are the system dynamic factors that contribute to exactly how much effect this might have. What this case study model demonstrates is a new conception of a model that can be used to capture these effects. Although not based on a real-world specification, operational observations and actual as-built dimensions can be inputted to deliver actual actionable results.

The case studies presented in Chapter 4 demonstrated that a robust requirements traceability can make the system design much more resilient to variation through visualizing the effect of a dynamic environment. Implementing uncertainty analysis tools in a dynamic design model can enable engineers to visualize the technical implications of potential parameter distributions or ranges without having to perform time-consuming manual recalculation.

5.6 Final Case Study Test Results

The models and simulations created for this case study have the structure and potential to be updated with shipyard, requirement, and specification details to become useful in predicting production performance. For the purposes of this thesis, this case serves to demonstrate three principles enabled by adopting model-based engineering practices in the production of complex systems.

5.6.1 Smarter Requirements

Connecting requirements to technical specifications can have significant implications for the design of complex sea systems. This model demonstrates issues encountered in industries and sectors that deal with complex requirements and even more complex production/delivery. Groups responsible for proposing requirements must have a systematic way for understanding how their decisions are affecting design, production, cost, and schedule overall. The structure used in this case study recreates a change scenario in order to understand the effects on technical specifications. Future iterations of this type of model could incorporate a connection to 3D design tools to better visualize the requirements process. Research in the field of economics suggests that "expert" informed decision makers are significantly more likely to make what could be considered economically rational choices of a less expensive product than one of comparable performance but a higher price [80]. This thesis contends that requirement planners can set *more informed requirements earlier* with a clear and systematic connection of capability to technical specifications.

Understanding the requirements that the Fleet will be held to can be captured in models of this nature. Often, build specifications are not written according to Fleet requirements, and when the ship goes through the Navy's Acceptance Trials (see Appendix C: Delivery, Test, and Certification Timeline Illustration) the testing community (possibly, the Board of Inspection and Survey for major ship system) finds problems with construction result. However, the shipbuilder has performed according to contract requirements. Fleet requirements were not part of the build – an issue that expressly capturing requirements in model-based format can address through traceability.

5.6.2 Change Codification

Codifying changes more effectively saves significant construction budget while eliminating the schedule slip associated with repeatedly missing the mark on requirements definition. This model construct may serve to eliminate rework by ensuring that changes that are eventually proposed remain connected to the technical specifications that they inform. One of the most consistently cited problems facing efficient production of complex naval systems is not capturing and adequately ensuring that the lessons learned from the previous system build are incorporated into the drawings and the planning sequence. In the shipbuilding domain, failing to properly document changes on a ship drawing often results in drawings with dozens of engineering changes waiting to be implemented. When production activities bypass the changes and assemble according to out-of-date documentation, failing to codify the change creates rework [32], [33], [35].

5.6.3 Right System, First Time

Model-Based Engineering, even in simple application, enables a leverage of High-Velocity Learning. Improvement and innovation demonstrably result from iteration through the most-rapidly achievable method [10]. MBE connects the research and development contributing to requirements generation with production operations downstream in a collaborative, instantly updating environment. Models allow planners and designers to add data as it becomes available, change uncertainty data as the environment and business cases change, and present a comprehensive display of known information regarding a process in a common format. If a process is not modeled, that should be a sign that the model is not updated, and there is more information to be learned about the system's production rather than a mark against the modeling approach's validity. Collecting information in a systematic fashion as organized in this case study can be a start to presenting engineers and decision makers with the information needed to make an informed complex system design.

Rework is easier to discover when the ship is operational but early insight can be gained through a valid requirement and technical process model. Prior to official testing and operation is an ideal phase to utilize requirements models to "red-team" system design issues [3], [38]. Migration of model-based engineering beyond the concept development phase and into technical requirements of the production process serves to build the system as it is needed in operation.

5.7 Model Verification and Validation

Validation confirms that each system level as built or as it will be built satisfies the stakeholder's stated needs involving the buyer or third parties [2]. Cost estimates of major naval platform procurement actions can be optimized to conform to the tool used to calculate cost figures. With weight-based cost models, platform designs can gravitate toward an "optimal" lower weight and higher density configuration without substantial regard in the concept phase of design-for-manufacturing or producibility [81]. A validated process-based model has the potential to capture the real-world nuances present in shipyard production processes.

The challenge of model verification and validation is one of the key limiting factors of Model Based Engineering. Overcoming this hurdle can contribute to the credibility that the designer can use to justify the reduction of hard-product-prototyping, test, and design with a heavier cost-saving through reliance on the model. What steps would be required to verify and validate the model as it is used here to provide the kind of information that would be useful to the end of connecting required functionalities with technical specifications?

Shipbuilding Production Model Summary

Smarter Requirements: connecting requirements to technical specifications can have significant implications for the design of complex sea systems

Change Codification: capturing change effectively eliminating budget and schedule slip associated with repeatedly missing requirements definition

Right System, First Time: model-based engineering solutions allow speed and efficacy in iteration on technical design of complex system

Model tools must be thoroughly validated to allow users and designers to confidently expand usability in accurate reflection of real-world processes (This Page Intentionally Left Blank)

Chapter 6

6.0 Towards the Final Hurdle: Model Verification and Validation

Confidence shared is better than confidence only in yourself

Coach Mike Krzyzewski

In the preceding chapters, we first established that the U.S. Navy Fleet was suffering from underperformance in shipbuilding and system acquisition. One of the principal reasons continually cited was the disconnect between operational requirements and the "as-built" technical specifications. Many of the global principles enabled by Model-Based Engineering (MBE) deliver the high-velocity solution that aids in reasserting operational excellence in system production. However, as the shipbuilding requirement traceability and process-based cost model case study showed, the model-based solution can only be as useful as the confidence that we can place in the model's fidelity. Solving for this limitation of model output confidence is called Verification and Validation (V&V). Taking a closer look at this practice will be the first iteration at closing that gap between model creation and a useful, validated, output.

How do companies verify and validate the assumptions that form the analytical basis of their modeling decisions? This chapter will explore the standards and processes in place to verify performance of models in high-complexity and high-uncertainty environments. To validate the technical models, effort must be made to align the model with an accurate reflection of the total environment of operation to yield a result that also accurately reproduces the physical world. Practical application and V&V standards together provide the backbone for a validation architecture that, for the first time, will connect the needs of the future Fleet with the technical reality possible for production. Providing a consolidated data source for specifications will lead to confidence in production and validation that the right systems are created to support the needs of the Fleet.

6.1 Test Like You Fly

Space systems can be among the most delicate and complex structures in production with often little to no opportunity to "pad test." Since most are single-use, engineers get only one shot to prove their worth when all the components come together to travel exo-atmosphere. Well-developed verification and validation programs in this field have been created by the American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics and International Council on Systems Engineering with an approach that seeks to identify the smallest errors at every level of system development in requirements, analysis, design, and test procedures [73], [82], [83].

Verification and Validation is critical for ship and weapons systems to first verify that the right system is built [83]. Once production and operational stages are underway, standardized management processes "enforce the 'system-is-built-right' verification approach" as early as possible and at the lowest level of system development [73]. The phrase "Test Like You Fly" (TLYF) is used in the aerospace sector to reflect the emphasis that this community must place on valid test procedures that accurately reflect real-world operational conditions [73], [82], [84]. Adopting similar principles would be benefit naval *sea* systems, as well, with parallel risks in system use and test in an environment even more volatile and inhospitable than space – the maritime domain.

Often, taking a TLYF approach will dictate inclusion of the worst-case scenario of anticipated conditions to ensure robustness against the anticipated conditions [84]. Testing a model with operationally relevant characteristics further extends to realistic equipment configurations. Examples of mission characteristics include environmental and component sequencing, rhythm, people, processes, and procedures present during production [73]. Considering the example of the shipbuilding process from the Chapter 5 case study, a process model must be validated against the full end-to-end production line configuration, using accurately tracked timing and sequence, incorporating cognizance of environmental considerations (e.g., budgeting schedule slip due to winter weather during ship production at Bath Iron Works, Maine or hurricane threats at Ingalls Shipyard in Pascagoula, Mississippi), and operational acuity of the labor force and production equipment.

Taking "Test Like You Fly" literally, a further example of this comes from the Enhanced Ground Testing program by the Charles Stark Draper Laboratory for verification and validation of the MBE design of Inertial Measurement Units for guidance and navigation systems [85].

Each time a guided missile system is flight tested, the missile is destroyed—at the cost of millions of dollars. Demonstrating that the system will perform accurately and reliably demands realistic and rigorous verification and validation programs. The challenge is to maintain testing rigor using more affordable methods. [85]

As realistic V&V was a central priority, Draper created the process of Enhanced Ground Testing (EGT) to address the priority of affordability while maintaining the utmost test fidelity. To replicate the "trajectory, thermal, vibration, shock and linear acceleration profiles from Draper's predictive models", engineers implemented non-destructive test procedures involving the use of military jets, centrifuges and other dynamic test platforms [85]. Figure 37 displays a photograph of the test setup. In doing so, the MBE products of the design process for that specific component (see case study in Section 4.3) were verified and validated with test conditions that replicated those of designed operation.



Figure 37: Enhanced Ground Testing (EGT) validation of guidance components [85]

6.2 Exhaustive Tracing

Often system designers are given measures of performance that are not simple to immediately capture in a requirement. If the Navy needs a ship that travels at a maximum speed of 45 knots, engineers know how to design that – because it is a straightforward process to choose a hullform and select engines that both fit inside the envelope and produce enough horsepower to overcome the hydrodynamic resistance produced by the hullform selected.

However, much more frequently encountered are nebulous required capabilities, as displayed in the first level of decomposition in the Chapter 5 shipbuilding model. Although they may not be immediately quantifiable, they are also not vague. The intent of a requirement request is clear when the operational commander asks for capability such as a long-range strike bomber or a ballistic missile incapable of being detected by enemy radar. However, the lack of formal connection between qualitative operational needs and engineering practice contributes to functional requirement misinterpretation. Subsequent performance of the V&V process will generate an engineering change request if the need is determined not to be met.

Strictly validating requirements can be used to ensure that the "right system is being built" and both the American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics and International Council on Systems Engineering cover several artifacts used in practice to document the satisfaction or correct interpretation of a requirement and are summarized in Appendix I: Verification and Validation Artifacts [73], [83].

Models require confirmation of their validity in many different environments with consistent approaches among all builders of naval ship and weapon systems, such as the six-step process outlined by the AIAA in Table 16. This distributed process can follow the model of space systems that come from similarly distributed sources across the aerospace and defense community. Additionally, software programs can be utilized to analytically verify the comprehensive nature and completeness of a model regarding requirement consistency. Examples of software designed to perform analysis-of-models can be found in Monterey Phoenix software family from the Naval Postgraduate School [86].

AIAA-Standardized Modular Verification Management Process [73]
[VM-1] Requirement flow down and establishment of specification
[VM-2] Verification cross reference matrix
[VM-3] Integration and test
[VM-4] Individual specification dedicated verification ledger
[VM-5] Sell-Off/Consent-To-Ship
[VM-6] Verification related risk management

Table 16: Standardized Modular Verification Management Process

More generally, note that the first step in the AIAA-Standard verification management process in Table 16 starts with a similar approach to requirements decomposition as exhibited in the traceability model of the prior chapter. A formalized method can be used to ensure that every requirement can be traced to a documented method of verification [84]. Although presented in a document-based form, Figure 38 shows the structure that a model can take in which requirements traceability is linked to management of V&V processes.

	Power Conditioning Unit (PCU) ISDVL (Example)**								
		Verification Method*			on		Documentation		
Paragraph or Requirement No. Designated in PCU Specification	Requirement Description	A	1	D	т	Verification Level	Responsible Person or Department	Verification Approach Summary	Verification Products
3.2.1	The output voltage regulation must be ≤100mV.	x			x	PCU Unit level	Unit design engineer or dept. name	SABER/SPICE based W.C end of life analysis and EM Test	Power quality W.C analysis doc. No # xxx; EM Test Doc. # yyyy
3.2.2	The Phase margin of the unit must be greater than 30 deg.	x			x	PCU Unit level	Unit design engineer or dept. name	SABER/SPICE based W.C stability analysis and EM Test	W.C stability analysis doc. No # xxx; EM Test Doc. # yyyy
3.2.3	Unit weight			x		PCU Unit level	Unit Test Dept.	By actually weighing unit	S/V mass property doc zzzz

* A: Analysis, I: Inspection, D: Demonstration, T: Test.

** It may be desirable to indicate the verification completion date by adding an additional column.

Figure 38: Individual Specification Dedicated Verification Ledger [82]

6.3 Verification and Validation During Design

V&V in practice ensures that systems satisfy design requirements, which circles back to a question of safety in operation and design. Various methods for system safety have been discussed, as in Professor Nancy Leveson's *Engineering a Safer World* [23]. A systems thinking-based approach to system safety, as discussed below, expands beyond a V&V review to address hazards and elucidate requirements for the whole process to produce a system that can meet the mission.

6.3.1 System Theoretic Process Analysis

Ensuring the safety of a high priority system parallels verification and validation of performance. Most will have catastrophic or adverse failure modes that must be designed out in a systematic manner. However, these adverse events can also result when the system performs as designed. For example, consider the aircraft lithium-ion battery failures of 2013 [87]. The environmental control system was designed to remove smoke through a cooling duct but was unable to perform any controlling actions due to the designed inactivation response in the event of battery failure. The environmental control system suffered no *systemic failures* as it behaved as intended according to the design requirements implemented but resulted in highly adverse conditions – a smoke filled passenger cabin [87].

Systematic safety analyses seek to remove a measure of uncertainty. The uncertainty is removed by desired system behaviors that can be made inherent attributes of the system. Verifying system safety during the design phase means that this process must be *continuous* and *dynamic*. Reactive safety analysis will succeed only at identifying an issue either much too late in the design or production process or, worse, after a failure or catastrophic event (as distinct from a system failure) which may not have occurred in a catastrophic event. Experience proves that swifter cycle times of learning from systematic discovering delivers operational excellence throughout the development lifecycle, extending beyond mistakes during production [10].

System Theoretic Process Analysis (STPA) identifies conditions as a result of systemic attributes that might develop into a hazardous situation throughout operation. STPA can be performed during the acquisition process before the product is physically delivered [87]. There are two principal steps in this type of analysis.

First, seek out the potential for inadequate system control contributing to an unintended system state. Establishing a unique system control structure is the systems engineering foundation of this analysis. The control structure, diagrams, and models of increasing fidelity can be used to identify weak spots and recommend changes that enhance the resiliency of the system in question. This encapsulates steps 1) and 2) in Figure 39 [87].

Second, apply a critical examination to the system emergent features to identify how the actions identified in the first step could occur. From the root cause, new requirements and behavior constraints can be established for elements of the system such as stakeholders, physical or equipment components, sensors, or operators. Concluding the STPA process is conducted in steps 3) and 4) in Figure 39 [87].

In the next chapter, we will use a concept illustration of a fictional weapon system demonstrating an application of extending a full application of STPA to the domain of cybersecurity during the design lifecycle phase. This illustration will show that the process is widely applicable to determining how systemic behaviors can result in failures across multiple domains as shown in Figure 39.



Figure 39: Overview of STPA method [87]

6.4 Execution Roadmap

In order to use a model for any practical purposes beyond the academic setting, the information that it provides needs to be firmly based on the physical reality. Although we often cannot be confident that past behaviors can be used directly to predict future outcomes, we must pursue a path for developing system models that can accurately capture system behaviors and enable resilient designs that will have high likelihood of achieving mission success under uncertain and adverse operating environments.

This chapter presented frameworks and mindsets useful in ensuring that models are verified and validated with the requirements of the system. As we saw, verification and validation can also be used from a design standpoint, and not simply as a reactive impediment to the development cycle. The concept illustration in the subsequent chapter introduces the application of this process for the structure of cross-functional cyber-physical requirements.



(This Page Intentionally Left Blank)

Chapter 7

7.0 Concept Illustration: Weapon System Cybersecurity

We had to explore and break ground in... the adaptation of man to the machine. We were going to bring into existence machines and equipment which the Navy had not seen before and had no experience with.

Vice Admiral William F. "Red" Raborn U.S. Navy's first Director of Special Projects Division, 1955

Strategic ballistic missile weapon systems were first investigated in Chapter 4 to characterize a successful implementation of Model Based Engineering in streamlining testing and production of the design of the upgraded guidance system [85]. We can extend this analysis to consider sub-systems that comprise a Fictional Submarine Strategic Missile (FSSM) program. The level of surety required by advanced strategic-level weapons systems can only be possible in an environment where critical information can be accessed or shared only by those systems and stakeholders that require it. Tacit threats of a cyber nature have emerged as adversarial actors seek to counter U.S. Naval power both with physical assets and in the cyber battle space.

As with all complex systems, requirements are a multi-domain problem. These takes many forms in the current "Information Age" and touches every industry on the planet. Until this section, this thesis has focused primarily on the representation of requirements and technical specifications of the physical world of complex system construction including aerospace, marine, and defense systems. A preponderance of experiential and empirical evidence demonstrated that requirements in diverse domains can shift rapidly during the system lifecycle. Complex warfighting needs may change with a single event or the incremental passage of time. Nowhere is this uncertainty of requirements starker, more impactful, or has more of a chance to render previous work completely irrelevant than in the field of cybersecurity – the field of protecting the integrity of cyber-physical systems and the critical information assets on which they rely [88].

7.1 Concept Illustration Hypotheses

The three hypotheses that this concept illustration addresses are shown as lines of effort in Figure 40. First, we will establish how principles enabled by Model Based Engineering are domain agnostic. Next, methods of concurrent design, verification, and validation will demonstrate that model-based engineering methods reduce uncertainty effects from future requirements by increasing the integrity of the design of the end-product. Finally, in the case of the FSSM, system requirements dictate a unique and tailored verification and validation sequence to ensure the applicability and usability of our representation of reality in the model. In this concept illustration, that tailored sequence will be the application of STPA extended to the cybersecurity domain. The use of multiple paradigms of system design and analysis in Model Based Engineering contributes to verification, validation, and confidence in the model's representation of the physical world.



Figure 40: Cyber MBE Concept Illustration lines of effort

This analysis follows the progression shown below in Figure 41. We start by amending the operating definition for resilience used in this thesis for the cyber-physical domain and examine the nature and directionality of threats and general system vulnerabilities. The concept of using MBE in the cyber-physical context to advance a design with validated requirements for resiliency against unknown cybersecurity threats is illustrated by proposing an initial framework for the use of Systems Theoretic Process Analysis for Security (STPA-Sec). STPA-Sec promotes the ability to anticipate, withstand, and recover from a hostile cyber act for a complex system.



Figure 41: Concept illustration process flow summary

7.2 Cybersecurity Resiliency

Recall that we are using the definition of *resiliency* as a system attribute defined by the ability to absorb multiple forms of disruption and continue the intended function without degrading performance level, results, or outputs (Figure 2, Chapter 1). When considering the full spectrum of cyber-physical systems, *cybersecurity resiliency*, as defined in Figure 42, is not to be confused with its application from other domains subjected to purely physical threats. During the development of critical naval cyber-physical sea systems, we measure cybersecurity resiliency as ability to adapt defensive measures to an adversary with an asymmetric offensive capability in the domain of digital information transfer where the barriers to entry often approach zero [88].

Cybersecurity Resiliency
An attribute of a cyber-physical system measured by the ability to absorb changing developments in the cyber-warfare domain and protect critical components from compromise
Figure 42: Cybersecurity Resiliency for complex naval systems, defined

Although the detailed exploration of the nuances of cybersecurity requirement setting is beyond the scope of this thesis; as cyber-physical components permeate our defense systems, it is increasingly applicable to consider how proposed resilient acquisition tools affect the cyberelements of these systems. Developing measures of performance and effectiveness for cybersecurity resiliency is a matter of ongoing research but must involve the entire system lifecycle starting with concept formulation and protecting information about system attributes before production.

7.2.1 Resilience Throughout System Lifecycle

Resiliency of a design depends on the functional attributes built into, or added to, the system as compared with how well the system model adheres to requirements. After deployment, resilient weapon systems retain the flexibility to adapt to new threats that develop over time. Measuring the "system integrity" is related to the system's ability to adapt resiliently in that it expands to include both preventive features (resistance) and the capacity for recovery from a disruptive event.

The concept and design phases must therefore continue over the entirety of operational life of the system. An abstraction of the system integrity metric that measures the protection of sensitive (or "classified") information called "Classification Integrity" can be held as motivation for developing an adaptive resiliency in the realm of cybersecurity requirements. Figure 43 illustrates how this Classification Integrity may develop over time in the presence of cyber vulnerabilities. The visualization helps to establish the imperative to develop requirements for

the Fleet to ensure that what we are designing today will remain relevant in the realm of global security through its deployment over the time scale of operational lifecycle [89].

Figure 43 includes a set of curves for "Classification Integrity" as a function of time. As time advances, we postulate that there is a decreasing likelihood that you can protect the critical aspects of the system from adversarial exposure or breach. As more stakeholders are added to the system – developers, operators, contractors – the curve advances lower, proportional to the amount of information transfer points added to the system. The pressures that time and stakeholder information transfers place on protecting the integrity of the most sensitive elements of the system may be faced for decades, but a single earlier security event compromising the system gives adversaries the remaining operational lifecycle to develop responses before the system reaches its first deployment.



Figure 43: Abstraction of "Classification Integrity" metric vs. time

7.2.2 Threat of the Unknown

Marriott learned during the investigation that there had been unauthorized access to the Starwood network since 2014... [90]

Details on civil cybersecurity cases, such as the 2018 Marriott data breach mentioned in the quote above, demonstrate examples of how, unlike kinetic or material vulnerabilities, unknown cyber breaches can persist, exacting damage for several years before being detected.

Not knowing where your systems are vulnerable to breach compounds the risk of an incident via blindness of a security problem, ensuring that you won't address an issue until it is too late – as in the case of corporate security breaches in the news on a regular basis. To defend a cyber-physical system from hostile operations, focus is required on the entirety of the system control structure to include development, production, and operations in addition to the operators and the physical system itself. Figure 44 and Figure 45 illustrate that limiting a cyber defense focus to operators and the physical system itself can limit the focus to the exclusion of other areas of vulnerability.



Figure 44: Typical cyber-physical defense control structure



Figure 45: Vulnerabilities in the cyber-physical defense structure

Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster - 108 -
Since the threat is unknown, the adversary's choice of target or attack strategy cannot be used in planning. Therefore, maintaining a standard library of robust measures will not be enough to defend against innumerable, rapidly evolving threats that can come from any direction and at any level in the program or system. Accelerated cycles of developing architecture, as illustrated in Figure 46, inherently hardens the design by re-baselining the situational awareness and penetration strategies of an adversary.



Figure 46: System adaptation using Real Options at technological junctures, or epochs

The Real Options framework "bakes-in" an architecture for developing, monitoring, and maintaining cybersecurity relevance throughout the lifecycle of the weapons system development by continually adding advanced features and redesigns [91]. By exercising options on technology and/or architecture improvements at comparatively short intervals (ΔT in Figure 46), the adversary will be forced to re-assess and re-approach attack techniques in response to a resilient and adaptive design architecture [89].

7.2.3 Cyber-Physical MBSE

Cyber-physical systems are characterized in structure by cyber connectivity in every physical component, networks of sensors and actuators, and underlying executable code [92]. Additionally, their behaviors cross multiple domains through the use of computer-based logical controls that have stringent timing parameters and multiple spatial and temporal resolutions [92].

Advanced weapons systems such as the Fictional Submarine Strategic Missile (FSSM) considered in this concept illustration exhibit these defining characteristics. The interface between the cyber and physical domains enables situational awareness, command and control, and the weapon systems capabilities.

A model of a cyber-physical system serves to enhance the resiliency of the system through adaptation in design to threats and requirement evolution. Starting with a reference architecture, designers can create Real Options for extension, added functionality, or robustness. Comparing the "stack" of systems-of-systems with perceptions of how they progress through lifecycle phases can identify potential vulnerabilities over the adversary's cyberattack surface, as shown in Figure 47. Although this DSM is at a generalized level given a relative lack of knowledge about the nature of how cybersecurity threats evolve, one can easily make the extension into higher complexity provided access to complete details of operation, full listing of components, and the nature by which they interact to complete the functionality of the notional weapons system.



Figure 47: Notional Cyber Attack Surface, adapted by author with permission from [89]

In a model of a cyber-physical system, information sharing pathways carry an increased significance as they have the potential to present both an informational and physical vulnerability. The organizational structure of a system has an impact on the effectiveness of the

dynamics of system discovery critical for resilient adaptation [38]. In a model of both the cyber and physical domains, the interface is often a human-machine interface, a control signal, or an input/output signal. An abstraction provides the perspective that highlights emergent properties or interactions especially relevant in analyzing the measures of performance selected for a system.

Looking at models of the systems engineering aspects of cyber-physical systems, we are left with the motivating question of how to establish a systematic and mechanistic process with which to evaluate the security in the form of *information assurance*. In large-scale or high-impact systems, "system performance" is often synonymous with "system safety." Adaptation of the System Theoretic Process Analysis (STPA) can be made to the realm of cybersecurity to provide a framework for information assurance [93]. The goal of this analysis in a complete form may be to propose an architectural extension to one or all the architectures that might improve resiliency. Upon concluding an integration of this analysis, the models can be used by those with system expertise to identify the vulnerabilities in a single view before an adversary has the chance to exploit them.

7.3 STPA for Security

System information assurance is not a well understood problem. Requirements for cybersecurity are multi-domain in the sense that weapon systems can no longer be procured in a vacuum independent from the platforms that are being designed to accommodate them. Careful consideration of the requirements placed on these payload delivery systems must be made to ensure the right product is reaching the Fleet in the shortest amount of time.

This may be a point of departure for the approach to developing system requirements as compared to "standard" approaches based kinetic threats. How do we create requirements that are responsive to a threat environment that is (a) almost impossible to project beyond an initial deployment timeline for the FSSM under development, (b) evolving much more rapidly than the development of the FSSM, and (c) extends into many levels of the system-of-systems "stack" that supports the development, deployment, and support of the FSSM [89]?

STPA-Sec applies systems theoretic principles to analyze the resiliency of a cyber system by identification of problems before they manifest themselves as cyber vulnerabilities. This process can be applied throughout the lifecycle as information about the system and threat complexities are gathered, studied, and modeled to conduct continual, iterative, and rigorous inquiry that identifies high-level cyber exposures. Continual review and re-assessment throughout the lifecycle and systems engineering "V" process (see Figure 12 in Chapter 3) underpins mission assurance from the process onset. STPA-Sec is a rigorous analysis process designed to prevent unintended operation that results in a system loss by learning from, then controlling, interactions between components. The inquiry framework consists of an eight-step process summarized in Table 17.

Step 1	Establish goal and purpose of the system
Step 2	Establish unacceptable losses for the system
Step 3	Establish the hazardous system states that place system at risk of suffering unacceptable losses
Step 4	Build Mission Functional Control Structure Model
Step 5	Identify the interactions that give rise to the hazardous system states using modified Step 1 Table
Step 6	Develop constraints to control these interactions
Step 7	Identify scenarios to understand how constraints might be violated (given existing architecture) using Step 2 Table
Step 8	Use insights to improve existing architecture

Table 17: Eight Steps of Systems Theoretic Process Analysis for Security [93]

Step 1: Establish the goal and purpose of the system

In performing this initial step, the boundary for the system must be established in order to bound our investigation scope. A complex strategic weapon system has many options for boundaries that range from the individual micro-component to the national command authority. A system boundary limits scope and suggests a level of detail that might be able to be reached. While setting a wide system boundary may be advisable for a large-scope study aiming to capture the system dynamic effects of many elements, doing so may limit the fidelity able to be achieved. Considering too narrow of a focus may cause externally emergent details that affect a system to be missed.

It is important to note that the models and descriptions in the concept illustration shown below through the steps of STPA-Sec are purposefully not complete. Although they are derived from a historical weapon system configuration in order to illustrate a potential representative system architecture, considerable further analysis would be necessary to identify vulnerabilities in a real-world system architecture [94]. They are illustrated to demonstrate an example of how a model-based configuration design and display can be used to determine systemic vulnerabilities and set corresponding requirements. The representative FSSM could be comprised of several sub-systems as shown in Figure 48, including Missile, Guidance, Launcher, Fire Control, Navigation, Instrumentation and Training Equipment [94]. The Missile and Guidance sub-systems of the FSSM Weapon System were selected to perform this concept illustration, and highlighted in the object-process diagram of the weapon system (Figure 48) and the physical component diagrams of Figure 49 and Figure 50, respectively. For more information on the Object Process Methodology, refer to Chapter 3, the source texts by Dori, *Model-Based Systems Engineering with OPM and SysML*, and existing international standards, ISO 19450 [52], [53].

The goal and purpose of these two sub-systems are based on representative open-source weapon system technology [94]. The Missile sub-system of FSSM could be " an inertially guided, three-stage, solid-propellant missile with maneuverable post-boost vehicle which is separated to independently deploy reentry bodies", while the Guidance sub-system could "employ a stellar-inertial guidance concept allowing the missile to accurately reach a point and velocity on the trajectory where reentry bodies are released and will free-fall to their targets" [94].



Figure 48: OPD of the overall FSSM Weapon System with Missile and Guidance sub-systems highlighted



Figure 49: Missile Subsystem basis for analysis, from public domain source [94]



Figure 50: Guidance Subsystem basis for analysis, from public domain source [94]

Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster - 114 -

Step 2: Establish unacceptable losses of the system

In establishing unacceptable losses, we can look at the mission critical failure states as defined by the AIAA, including conditions resulting in mission failure (see Table 18) [73]. Loss Type 1 indicates a systemic failure that results in lost functionality without redundancy to provide the ability to continue the mission. This could include the physical loss of a component or the failure to transfer information where required. In Loss Type 2, equipment performs outside the ranges of specification limits defined for mission assurance – potentially, reduction in measured speed, range, or accuracy. Although not an immediate loss, Loss Type 3 conditions reduce the mean time between failures to a point below the mission duration, therefore probabilistically predicting a mission failure. Finally, the transient condition with a Loss Type 4 event creates a repetitive condition whose compound effect results in a loss of mission performance.

Loss Type	Description
1	Failure leading to inability to meet/achieve mission objective (e.g., payload or weapon bus is no longer capable of supporting the mission objectives)
2	Inability to meet minimum performance specifications for primary mission
3	Degrading condition whose trend indicates a loss of mission before mean mission duration (MMD) or design life
4	Repetitive transient condition(s) that, uncorrected, would lead to an unacceptable loss of mission performance, data comma or services (e.g., weapon fault in flight with mean time to fault much less than mean time to recover).

Table 18: Mission-critical failure states, adapted by author from [73]

The system can experience physical losses in the system itself or its delivery platform. However, for the purposes of this concept illustration, while we acknowledge these system losses and their grave consequences, unacceptable losses at this iteration will be confined to those of a cyber nature.

Cyber-related losses consist of system vulnerability exploitations by an adversary. Since we are limiting our system boundary to the Missile and Guidance sub-systems, these will be specific breaches of the cyber-physical interface of their components. Recall the "Classification Integrity" metric introduced in Figure 43. Infiltration by an adversary counts as a major system loss since information regarding this weapon system is considered integral to its efficacy. Four unacceptable losses are listed in Table 19 to provide the context of types of potential loss events for the subsequent steps of the STPA-Sec methodology.

L1	Physical failure of aeronautical or propulsion component on the Missile
L2	Loss of test data transmitted to monitoring station by the Missile
L3	Position incorrectly recognized or recorded with low-fidelity by Guidance
L4	Guidance fails to receive data from Fire Control or fails to transmit to sensors/actuators

Table 19: STPA-Sec Step 2 - Unacceptable Losses

Step 3: Establish the hazardous system states that place system at risk of suffering unacceptable losses

A cyber-attack surface (Figure 47) provides the map of potential vulnerability points in a system where attacks can be anticipated. A cyber-attack vulnerability profile is informed by models of the physical world through identifying the nodes of information flow, i.e. handoff points – that are most at risk of causing a catastrophic loss event of the type listed in Table 19.

Three major issues that face complex defense systems from a cybersecurity standpoint are (a) the reliance on commercially available COTS technologies, (b) unreliable or unsecure supply chains, and (c) system complexity that obfuscates the systemic vulnerabilities [95]. These major issues are categorized as system hazards enumerated in Table 20.

H1	Commercial off the shelf technologies with exploitable vulnerabilities
H2	Complex supply chain could be breached without being able to track the source
Н3	System complexity obscures where vulnerabilities exist, or missed information transfer

Table 20: STPA-SEC Step 3 - System Hazards

Step 4: Build Mission Functional Control Structure Model

The Missile and Guidance subsystems are elements of the FSSM platform in the notional model of the entire Mission Functional Control Structure shown in Figure 51.



Figure 51: FSSM Control Structure with system acquisition, development and operations engagements, adapted with permission from [89]

The interaction descriptions on the figure are entry points where an STPA-Sec process can be developed around the details of interaction. Figure 51 also shows how the FSSM systemof-systems is exposed to cyber threats across the entire domain of its development, operations, and control. The preponderance of cyber readiness measures focuses on physical system design and operations but often overlooks information handoffs that may provide breach opportunities [96]. Each of the connectors, whether physical or cyber component, represents a potential source of vulnerability that can be analyzed with STPA-Sec. When focused on a single node, the STPA-Sec procedure can be applied recursively to the microcosm problem in the node to reach conclusions regarding the holistic system.

Specific functional control structure models of the Missile and Guidance subsystems are built as Object Process Diagrams (OPDs) shown in Figure 52 and Figure 53. These diagrams are not intended to represent an actual system, but are derived from historical configurations of past weapon models [94]. The methodology used in this STPA-Sec stage is the Object Process Methodology (OPM). OPM provides a useful object and process differentiation for the use of this methodology in STPA-Sec analysis. Objects retain the characteristic of "essence" which can be either physical or informational while a process has an "origin" which can be either environmental or systemic [97].

The types of connectors and shapes of objects and processes characterize the interactions of the system elements. When looking at the full view we can search for single points of failure or critical components for system functionality. OPDs of a system architecture display a single holistic view of a system. This presents a demonstrated advantage over methodologies that require multiple views to uncover the information contained in the model [62].

Each object and process modeled for these two sub-systems has been assigned the appropriate designator to inform the types of interactions and their controllability. This also aids in contextualization of information and component flow through the system to further identify vulnerabilities or possible points of failure of a certain "arm" of the system. If a process or object can be considered both *environmental* and *systemic* – usually a physical element – then the default categorization is *systemic* because we can consider the environmental "element" to be a component (property/object) of the greater system.

As mentioned above, the models shown below are purposefully not complete and require considerable further analysis to identify vulnerabilities in the system architecture. They are illustrated to demonstrate an example of how a model-based configuration display can be used to proceed through the steps of this analysis.



Figure 52: FSSM Missile Subsystem Object-Process Diagram

Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster - 119 -



Figure 53: FSSM Guidance Subsystem Object Process Diagram

Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster - 120 -

In Figure 54, focusing on a more detailed representation of the operations functional control structure identifies areas of concern for sub-system function. Functional control models enable visualization of key activities that each of the two subsystems are designed to accomplish by showing both the elements of the system and their function in mission accomplishment [93].



Figure 54: Operational control structure, adapted by author from [103]

The control structure can map, model, and demonstrate key activities of a system or subsystem which would then be explored in further detail using a tabular format. For the ballistic missile and its guidance package, the key activities are *flight* for the Missile sub-system and *location tracking* for the Guidance sub-system. Key activities are selected through reference back to the mission functional control structure. In Table 21 and Table 22, the activities are decomposed into elements and responsibilities with explanatory statements centered on how each element interacts and performs a function contributing to overall activity or mission accomplishment. These tables can be extended for each element of the sub-system to track their function in performance of these key activities.

Key Activity: Flight – Missile Sub-System						
Element	Responsibility					
First Stage	Thrust for missile acceleration and thrust vector control					
Interstage	Connects the first and second stage sections and has air-bleed holes to permit pressure equalization					
Second Stage	Thrust for missile acceleration and thrust vector control					
Equipment Section	Mounting platform for electronics packages, the Guidance sub- system, and is launch platform for reentry bodies					
Flight Control Rate Gyro	Detects Missile response to attitude changes					

 Table 21: Missile sub-system element responsibility map to key activities [94]

 Table 22: Guidance sub-system element responsibility map to key activities [94]

Key Activity: Location Tracking – Guidance Sub-System					
Element	Responsibility				
Inertial Measurement Unit (IMU)	Provides the Missile with reference orientation relative to inertial space and measures missile velocity				
Gimbal-mounted gyroscopes	Maintain stable orientation relative to inertial space during flight				
Accelerometers	Measure Missile accelerations during flight				
Electronics Assembly	Processes information from IMU to make guidance computations and provide steering and force vectors, model status and event initiation for the Missile				

Step 5: Identify the interactions that give rise to the hazardous system states using modified Step 1 Table

During this phase of the analysis, incorrect, improperly sequenced, or missing control actions that place system operation at risk of a mission failure mode from Step 2 will be identified using models of the system [93]. Interactions can be characterized as either physical, informational, or a hybrid, "P", "I", or "P/I" respectively in the key in Figure 55. To find the interactions that give rise to hazardous system states, the sub-system Design Structure Matrices in Figure 56 and Figure 57 contextualize interactions between the components of the FSSM Weapon System. These diagrams can be used to capture the details of a project as it evolves. Eventually the DSMs may serve as a "single source of truth" model as this language is not necessarily confined to a specific representation or language. The OPM adds additional information to the interactions captured within the DSM by displaying a higher fidelity graphical model that can identify more information about the system and the interactions between its components in a single view.

P Components share only a physical interface
Components share information during system operation but are not physically connected
P/1 Components both share information and are physically connected

Figure 55: Sub-system DSM interface map key





Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster



Figure 57: FSSM Guidance subsystem design structure matrix

Each system element, represented in the rows and columns of the above DSMs, fills a unique role in accomplishing individual activities that comprise the overall mission. Capturing the responsibilities of each element as performed in the previous step allows for vulnerability analysis using an informed interaction diagram as can be captured in Design Structure Matrices. In this step, a holistic picture of how each element contributes to the key activities is provided which can then be extended to identify specific vulnerabilities among elements – although the vulnerability identification has been omitted in the analysis.

Evaluating a vulnerability sequence potentially reveals feedback impacting other elements of the system as well, making this process highly path dependent. Learning about how system components interact spawns feedback loops that trace back to earlier steps and components of the process, potentially yielding sources of undiscovered rework. By recursively identifying interactions that lead to vulnerabilities in a model, this stage of concept development is strengthened through more positively identifying requirements that address specific vulnerabilities. This recursive process can be described in theoretical terms through the principle of "double loop learning" shown in Figure 58 [98].



Figure 58: Double Loop Model Learning, adapted by author from [98]

Sterman's System Dynamics text, *Business Dynamics: Systems Thinking and Modeling* for a Complex World, describes the principle of double loop learning as applied to new understanding and reframing in models of the physical world [98]. Feedback from the real world can stimulate changes in models. Such learning, abstracted in Figure 58, involves a new understanding or reframing of a situation and leads to new goals and new *decision rules*, not just new *decisions*. We can extend this principle to this step of STPA-Sec through vulnerability identification and making the required adjustments to the model through a high-velocity rapid experimentation, trial-and-error process [38].

Figure 59 for the Missile and Figure 60 for the Guidance subsystems present a series of OPD model views that illustrate information transfer points vulnerable to exploitation. Since these models are based on elemental and functional descriptions, these "vulnerabilities" are only theoretic examples of what form their identification would take; however, they illustrate the concept of the approach a systems engineer would take with a fully detailed OPD for the control structure.



Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster - 126 -



Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster - 127 -

Step 6: Develop constraints to control these interactions

Based on the understanding developed regarding system operations gained in Step 5, high-level functional constraints can be developed regarding the component interactions. Constraints indicate types of control limits, fashioned as additional mission requirements, that assure system functionalities are executed securely [93].

Once constraints are designed to address a range of vulnerabilities, performance of the system architecture can be evaluated. Developing a constraint to control hazardous actions by a system could be evaluated based on measures of performance that map into mission driven measures of effectiveness. These will occur over a time period to indicate performance over time. The time scale considered will be the life of the platform under development.

Fiscal Year	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30	31	32	33	34	35	36	37	38	39	40	41	42	43	44	45	46	47	48
Aircraft Carrier					1					1				1				1				1				1				1
Large Surface Combatant	3	2	3	3	3	2	3	2	3	2	3	2	3	2	3	2	3	2	3	2	3	2	3	2	3	2	3	2	3	2
Small Surface Combatant	1	1	1	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
Attack Submarines	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
Large Payload Submarines																		1			1			1			1			1
Ballistic Missile Submarines			1			1		1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1													
Amphibious Warfare Ships		1		1	1	2	1	1	2	1	1	1	2	1	1	1				1		1	1	1		1	2	1	1	2
Combat Logistics Force	2	1	2	1	2	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1										1		2	2	2	2
Support Vessels	2	3	1	2	2	1	2	2	1	1	1	2	2	2	2	2	1													
Total New Construction Plan	10	10	10	11	13	11	11	11	12	11	11	11	13	12	12	10	9	8	7	7	8	8	8	8	8	8	12	9	10	12

Figure 61: OPNAV FY19 Long Range Shipbuilding Plan [99]

As seen in Figure 61 (reproduced from [99]), in the U.S. Navy, Ballistic Missile Submarines will be constructed at a rate of approximately one per year from 2021 through 2035. Since the cyber-attack surface for strategic systems, supporting programs, and infrastructure shown in Figure 47 extends over the entire lifecycle, it will be necessary to protect the integrity of the system through the entire lifecycle – from concept development through deployment and operations of the next-generation ballistic missile submarine systems.

Step 7: Identify scenarios to understand how constraints might be violated (given existing architecture) using Step 2 Table

Table 19 in Step 2 identified the mission-critical functional losses possible for the Missile and Guidance sub-systems. Each of the controlling actions identified in Step 6 would be violated in some way during an identified loss event from Table 19. Figure 62 shows a notional control loop for a system used to perform simulation testing of either of the two sub-systems under different constraints. This simulation shows how components interact subject to different constraints. Under each constraint simulation, performance can be evaluated to identify which scenarios continue to have exploitation opportunities present – and, therefore, a system loss event.



Figure 62: Test or Mission simulation control structure, adapted by author from [23], [93]

Step 8: Use Insights to Improve Existing Architecture

Improvements to the system architecture can be accomplished through Real Options executed in software, hardware, or both depending on the cyber-physical system and functional role. The Options are designed to be capable of addressing a range of adversary behaviors instead of a single robust solution [91]. Examples of these responses are inserting capability for mission keying, authentication, system flush and restore from a trusted store, randomized responses, or component redundancy for total continuity of operations [89]. Their critical attribute is the ability to execute within a short time frame and address a potential range of system vulnerabilities.

7.4 Final Concepts

This description of Model Based Engineering for Cyber Security demonstrates that Model Based Engineering is an emerging field across the defense systems development community. We have shown that MBE is domain agnostic through illustrating in as much detail as the classification level allows, the methods that can be used to incorporate system models into development of cybersecurity requirements and eventually components (software and hardware).

7.4.1 Next Steps

Selecting one or two individual components of the FSSM to analyze with STPA begins an initial step in a potential continuous analysis necessary for implementing systematic analysis as a useful tool in the design lifecycle phase, as Figure 63 illustrates. When implemented continuously and across varied sub-system boundaries, the emergent interactions in the system can begin to be captured and allow better understanding of the vulnerabilities that must be addressed before deployment or risk rework that proves costly for schedule and budget. In a hierarchical system, such as the one illustrated in this chapter, system interdependencies can often evoke new emergent properties in a system-of-systems [8]. This analysis is a proposed way to start the identification of cyber-security requirements in examining interactions between fullyexpanded levels of system abstraction.



Figure 63: Hierarchical decomposition model of the weapon system and associated levels of potential STPA-Sec applications

Future work is possible to operationalize these conclusions in the field of applied formal computational methods at higher levels for the overall system. FSSM is a large and complex system-of-systems with a collective scale beyond the scope of a manual analysis such as the one performed in the preceding section. With the adoption of a model-based framework for engineering analysis and design, the possibility of automation through formal methods and structure can be realized [100]. As a result, an approach for formal methods could develop a pathway for automating model analysis performed during the STPA-Sec steps.

7.4.2 Cyber Resiliency Conclusions

Figure 64 connects the goals of this concept illustration, presented as test hypotheses, with the conclusions of this chapter. Model-based engineering initially may seem more suited for physical analysis of the system; however, this concept illustration has displayed the domain-agnostic property of the MBE principles by extending them to cyber vulnerability analysis. By

offering several views of system visualization, greater confidence may be gained that a system's cyber-attack surface (refer to Figure 47) has been reduced or eliminated, along with the accompanying uncertainty. However, recall that the cyber-attack surface represents only an estimation of the vulnerability points derived wholly from what is known about our own system (architectures, technologies, and organization) and demonstrated or estimated adversarial capabilities.





MBE provides the framework for delivering a current holistic picture of the system and its interdependencies during development. This contributes to a valid conception of impact that change in requirements have on production, but also increases confidence in the physical performance of requirements, which may positively impact the date of IOC (high-velocity delivery of capability) as shown in Figure 65. These conclusions further extend to achieving operational excellence downstream of the acquisition process as well [89].



Figure 65: Why use MBE for resiliency in cyber-physical systems?

During creation of the models, interactions are identified by the engineer that might not have been as clear from a specification document. The modeling process is just as important as the model. These digital solutions also enable the testing of Real Option system architectures to identify which candidates should proceed for inclusion in the next software/hardware releases or updates, thereby unlocking the adaptability paradigm illustrated in Figure 46. During system verification and validation, MBE unlocks much of the utility that the methods of STPA-Sec bring to system design and analysis.

Characteristic	Description
Anticipate	Preparation for known, predicted, or unknown adverse events to include changes in the operational environment, modes of operation, business/mission functions, emerging threats, integration of novel technologies, and other necessary changes.
Withstand	To absorb negative impacts of adverse events such as system faults, user errors, software bugs, hardware failures, cyber-attacks, or major changes in operational environment/requirements.
Recover	To restore business/mission operations (and desired functionality) to an acceptable level within specified time and performance requirements. Recovery should include the ability of the system to "adapt" in order to reduce the impact(s) of future adverse events.

Table 23: Weapon System Cyber Resiliency, table adapted by author from [95], [96]

Table 23 summarizes the conclusions that this concept illustration demonstrated regarding resiliency. Although we can never limit how requirements may change in the future – we cannot affect what our adversary is developing to counter our technology – model-based engineering principles allow planners to rapidly account for the effects of adversarial cyberattack technology. A unique feature of MBE is the ability to adapt to changing methods of analysis and demonstrate resiliency in the face of changing requirements or the substantiation of unknown (unknowable) future requirements.

Showing where information might flow in a model-based environment enables finding where the vulnerabilities may exist. Protecting this path accordingly ensures the product is delivered with the lethality assumed at Initial Operating Capability (IOC) determination. A product delivered with cyber-compromised systems may be irrelevant from Day 0 and require redesign (assuming that the cyber vulnerability has in fact been identified).

When a cybersecurity breach is identified, the whole design-build cycle is restarted in order to address what we know our adversary now knows regarding our systems, thus adding another spiral and cycle time to the overall process – which, as we have shown, could mean delaying delivery to the Fleet by years as shown in Figure 4 for lead ship delivery delays and Figure 10 for shipbuilding process timeline.

This debilitating rework cycle presents a direct threat to delivering strategic mission assurance and therefore motivates adopting a continuous development and adaptation process of cyber-resilient technologies and architectures enabled through a high-velocity adaptation of model-based engineering. This will ensure that strategic capabilities remain responsive and on pace with a rapidly responding organization that assuredly monitors emerging technologies, methods, and adversary threat capabilities.

Cyber MBE Concept Illustration Summary

Since MBE is domain agnostic, we have extended its application to formulating cybersecurity for a complex naval weapon system

Methods of concurrent design, verification, and validation demonstrate that model-based engineering methods reduce uncertainty effects through valid requirement scenarios

System requirements dictate a unique and tailored verification and validation sequence such as the use of the STPA-Security process

Various types of models illustrate that through their usage, the design of a notional strategic weapon system can be developed more resiliently to cybersecurity threats

(This Page Intentionally Left Blank)

Chapter 8

8.0 Conclusion

The secret of air-to-air combat was to get inside the other guy's OODA loop. Get your opponent in a position where he was already reacting to one or more moves behind what you were able to do. [101]

This thesis offers a simple operating hypothesis that the underperformance in the production of complex systems can be attributed to a poorly executed and understood connection of requirements to technical specifications. The effects of uncertainty, complexity, and risk compound to the detriment of our force structure and operations and slow the cycle time of conceptualization, design, production, and delivery. This decision making cycle for acquisitions can be envisioned as an "Observe-Orient-Decide-Act" Loop (OODA Loop) – first suggested as a model for rapid cycle decision making of jet fighter pilots [101]. Using principles of a high-velocity application of model-based engineering enumerated (1) - (4) in Figure 66, the Navy can "short-circuit" our own OODA Loop and get "inside" that of the adversary.



Figure 66: MBE speeds the OODA loop of production advancement

Observe. We have demonstrated how models increase the volume, quality, and speed of information collection. Observations regarding system design, production, and operation can be disseminated to teams via shared models, collaborative engineering, and set-based analysis.

Orient. Models can capture a collective design process and allow a team to manage uncertainty in a distributed fashion. Opening pathways toward eventual automation of computational rules and constraints, models contain consistent rule structures that maintain consistency across interface and domain boundaries. To be used effectively at scale, models must be able to be verified and validated. Validation works in parallel with system safety in operation which is verified using a systematic process enabled by modeling technology.

Decide. Built-in tests during the model creation or simulation can help to guide the formation of solutions when problems are uncovered. Connection of required operational capabilities to technical specifications smooths the decision-making process by building in the test of technical validation against the requirements of the system. Targets for problem-solving and improvement are identified in models through clear representation of meaning across multiple domains. These views can reduce unintended complexity by automatically illuminating a connection of technical solutions to system requirements.

Act. System validation and production is enabled through model digitization. Selfregulation of fulfilling requirements can ensure that problems are known as soon as possible for the fastest action and solution. Highlighting cause of problems before the issue perpetuates allows the designer to act and deliver the system on-time and as required [10].

Ultimately, successful acquisition of complex systems maximizes the capability and utility of the delivered total, while concurrently minimizing the overall time from need to delivery. Ensuring force strength into the future will require that the organization to adapt quickly to an indefinite landscape. Developing *resilience* in learning how to reconfigure and accommodate unknown system perturbations is shown to be an effective way to respond to complexity in what drives requirements. Migrating the conceptualization, design, and production processes to a Model-Based Environment strengthens our pursuit of networked agility to deliver systems sooner and in accordance with operator needs the first time.

8.1 Implications for the Defense Acquisitions Community

This thesis demonstrates a conceptual modernization of the principles that guide selection of tools for design, acquisition, and construction in defense acquisitions. Like cavalry units of the early twentieth century reconceptualized through the introduction of new technology in armor and machine-driven tanks, MBE presents a modern refresh to ways of doing business in keeping with the standard progression of development in information capture and display.

The applications presented in the preceding chapters focused on specifically what practices are enabled by it to make ships go through production faster, eliminate re-work, and join the operation Fleet on time and without some of the post-delivery delays that are often associated with new battle force assets. Executing this refreshed approach can be accomplished through identification of processes that utilize unadaptable document-based formats and converting them to a model-based approach resilient in its ability to accommodate change.

This thesis has aimed to remain tool-agnostic because this adoption is not contingent on a specific set of software. When requirements are poorly translated, the systemic structure of information passage across and within organizational boundaries is not universally attributable to a specific tool. Specific programs and technologies dictate which tools are appropriate for the constraints and nature of requirements. The principles of a high-velocity application of modelbased engineering are *global* and help to guide the detailed framework of selecting the most appropriate tool for the acquisition program and phase.

8.2 Future Work

In the pursuit of our force structure goals, an equal emphasis must be made to ensure that we have the right mix of ships instead of designing the highest grade of technology and associated complexity into every corner of the vessel. Our force must be lethal – and that can come from extending a model-centric exploration approach back to Fleet-level requirements that determine the mix of what is acquired. Only then, will building the right thing, as was the focus of this thesis, will follow.

Integration of model-based design methods into modern requirement evaluation team (RET) framework is left to those with programmatic responsibility (see Chapter 2). Since the new RET methodology has been adopted in recent years in pursuit of high-velocity acquisitions inserting model-based engineering tools into the process can continue to make the requirement evaluation system more efficient. One potential method could be sharing models with industry and developing paradigms of co-ownership with industry partners so that the specifications are a living document that never miss a change and work toward a shared model as the single source of truth.

We can also extend the applicability of model-based engineering to gaining a highvelocity advantage in the maintenance and repair community. The U.S. Navy should invest in refurbished shipyards to perform the correct depot level maintenance while recognizing that maintenance and repair is just as critical in meeting force structure goals over time. Arguably, maintenance may be more critical when it comes to keeping what we have in the fight relevant and lethal to our adversaries. It will take adjustment for the global community that serves our purposes of repair to adjust to model-based systems engineering; however, future research would be able to show how the timeline would be accelerated and keep assets in operational status.

Finally, the application of MBE to alternative domains should continue to be pushed through realization of the general benefits of conceptual modeling. Chapter 7 suggested a method for extending MBE to the cybersecurity domain; the limits of other domains in which this would work in a parallel fashion can continue to be explored such as human-user interfaces, and artificial intelligence/machine learning through methods such as predictive design.

8.3 Personal Takeaways

This thesis allowed me to connect with the acquisition process of the Navy and apply a skeptical look at the observed processes, both within the government and outside of it in search of the root cause of "inefficiency" or "Low Velocity Learning." The experience-oriented nature of this thesis opened meaningful collaboration across MIT, Draper, private and public shipyards, contacts within the U.S. Navy engineering establishment, experts in navy medicine, and civil construction that lent their experience with complex system design and management that helped to inform my thinking and play a significant role in the information that went into this thesis.

Adding survey and case study evidence strengthened the case for clarifying and simplifying the specification of complex engineering systems design using digital models that can be shared, edited and tracked much easier than legacy document-based methods. Although much of the focus is placed on new ship construction and weapons systems design, these findings remain clearly relevant in any field that receives functional requirements to inform the design of a complex engineering system. Extrapolating these assertions regarding requirement fidelity, design performance and system resiliency outside of the Department of Defense enterprise can be accomplished in progressing towards a common goal to deliver capability faster.



Guided missile destroyer USS Sterett (DDG 104) returns to Naval Base San Diego on July 5, 2012 (Official U.S. Navy Photo)

Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster - 138 -

Appendix A: Uncertainty in U.S. Navy Force Structure Assessment

Navy force structure assessments were collected for analysis using data reported to the U.S. Congress via various long-range projections shown in Figures A-1 and A-2 [1], [2], [99].

	2001 QDR	2002-2004	2005 V1	2005 V2	2006 V1	2006 V2	2011	2012	2013	2015 20	16 NNN 20	19 Actual
SSBN	14	14	14	14	14	1 12	12	14	12	12	12	14
SSGN	2	4	4	4	4	4 0	4	4	0	0	0	4
SSN	55	55	41	37	4	3 48	48	48	48	48	66	53
CVN	12	12	11	10	1	1 11	11	11	11	11	12	11
CRUDES	116	104	92	67	8	3 94	94	90	88	88	104	90
FFG	0	0	0	0	(0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0
LCS	0	56	82	63	5	5 55	55	55	52	52	52	14
AMPHIB	36	37	24	17	3	1 33	33	32	33	34	38	32
MPF(F)	0	0	20	14	13	2 0	0	0	0	0	0	0
AUX	34	42	26	24	30	0 30	30	29	29	29	32	29
MIW	16	26	0	0	(0 0	0	0	0	0	0	11
JHSV	0	0	0	0	2	3 21	10	10	10	10	10	1
Other	25	25	11	10	1	7 24	16	23	23	24	29	28
Total	310	375	325	260	313	3 328	313	316	306	308	355	287

Note: Year denotes publication of U.S. Navy Force Structure Assesment unless otherwise noted. QDR = Quadrennial Defense Review NNN = "Navy the Nation Needs"





U.S. Navy Force Structure Assessments, 2001-2019

■ 2001 QDR ■ 2002-2004 = 2005 V1 = 2005 V2 ■ 2006 V1 ■ 2006 V2 ■ 2011 ■ 2012 ■ 2013 ■ 2015 ■ 2016 NNN ■ 2019 Actual

Figure A-2: Force structure assessments 2001-2019

Force structures with end strengths shown in Figure A-3 can vary by as much as 40% from the smallest total force size as predicted during the height of the land wars in the middle east (2005) from only three years prior (2002) when the global security landscape was vastly different.



Figure A-3: Overall end-strength predicted in various U.S. Navy force structure assessments

Statistical analysis results shown in Figure A-4 yields the following results of total force structure, by class.

	Standard Deviation	Projection Max	Projection Min	Percent Difference
SSBN	0.99	14	12	16.7%
SSGN	1.85	4	0	-
SSN	6.93	66	37	78.4%
CVN	0.55	12	10	20.0%
CRUDES	11.40	116	67	73.1%
FFG	0.00	0	0	
LCS	21.11	82	0	-
AMPHIB	5.57	38	17	123.5%
MPF(F)	6.85	20	0	-
AUX	4.27	42	24	75.0%
MIW	8.26	26	0	-
JHSV	6.34	21	0	-
Other	6.00	29	10	190.0%
Total	28.69	375	260	44.2%

Figure A-4: Statistical summary by ship class of U.S. Navy force structure assessments

From 2001 through the present day, the United States has been engaged in a Global War on Terrorism. Over this time, the Navy has seen national security priorities shift from global post-Cold War stability maintenance to supporting a largely land-focused conflict in the Middle Eastern Area of Operations. Changes in Force Structure Projections could be characterized by an analogous shifting of priority away from "blue water" operation, to supporting forces ashore, and now back to the open ocean with the global re-emergence of the naval forces of near-peer nations. Ship classes which have experienced the most significant variation in their emphasis as part of the U.S. Navy Fleet correlate strongly with this generalization of national security priority shift and re-alignment. The principal missions of SSN and CRUDES combatant vessels is control and force projection on the high seas, while the primary missions of auxiliary and amphibious ships are movement of material and forces ashore. Additionally, the Littoral Combat ship has emerged as a relevant component of the Battle Force during the range of years considered here, correlating with the early-2000's increased emphasis in fighting shallow water military engagements.

As Donald Rumsfeld, the Secretary of Defense during the early chapters of the Global War on Terrorism, stated regarding the relevance of U.S. Army capability in the face of a changing enemy, "You go to war with the army you have, not the army you might want or wish to have at a later time" [102]. Of course, this statement also extrapolates to naval capabilities, which are planned far in advance of when they will be needed to be employed. Even if one assumes the budget environment remains somewhat stable, alterations in the global security landscape will continue to produce corresponding shifts in the acquisition strategy of the U.S. Navy.

Appendix B: Shipyard Visits

The information from shipyards visited and consulted, summarized in Table B-1, were made possible by the MIT Naval Construction and Engineering Professional Summer course series, the Officers in Charge, and Production Managers of the respective Supervisors of Shipbuilding cited below [32], [33], [35], [37], [76].

Ship Construction Site Visits and Consultations						
General Dynamics	Bath Iron Works	Bath, ME				
General Dynamics	Electric Boat	Groton, CT Quonset Point, RI				
General Dynamics	National Steel and Shipbuilding Company (NASSCO)	San Diego, CA				
Fincantieri Marine Group	Fincantieri Marinette Marine	Marinette, WI				
Huntington Ingalls Industries (HII)	Ingalls Shipbuilding	Pascagoula, MS				

Table B-1: Shipyards visited and consulted

Appendix C: Delivery, Test, and Certification Timeline Illustration

Figure E-1 is taken from Instruction 4700.8K from the Office of the Chief of Naval Operations which defines the "trials, acceptance, commissioning, fitting out, shakedown, and post-shakedown availability of U.S. Naval Ships undergoing construction or conversion" [36]. This chart "illustrates the chronological relationship between the major milestones in the construction and conversion process."



NOTIONAL MAJOR MILESTONES DURING CONSTRUCTION/CONVERSION

 For submarines outfitting is complete prior to delivery. Hence, the SCN obligation work limiting date is at the end of the 11th month after the month in which delivery occurs.

PSA is normally scheduled to complete 1 month prior to the obligation work limiting date.
 Total period of PDTsT and shakedown shall be a minimum of 6 months. A waiver may be granted for a

3. Total period of poist and snakedown shall be a minimum of c months. A waiter may be granted for a period greater than 8 months; a request to extend SCN obligation work limiting date may be required.

4. Operations and maintenance, Navy (O&MN), other procurement, Navy (OPN), weapons procurement, Navy (WPN).

Figure C-1: Notional major milestones during construction and conversion of U.S. Navy ships and submarines, public domain figure from [36]

Appendix D: Requirement and Component Interaction Model Detail

ROC	Requirement
CCC-1	Provide Communications for Own Unit
CCC-2	Provide Own Unit's Command and Control Functions
CCC-3	Provide C2 Facilities for a Task Organization Comander and Staff
CCC-4	Maintain and Operate Deployable C4I Systems
FHP-1	Provide First Aid Assistance
FHP-2	Provide Triage of Casualties/Patients
FHP-3	Provide Medical, Surgical, Post-Operative, and Nursing Care for Casualties and Patients
FHP-4	Provide Medical Regulation, Transport/Evacuation and Receipt of Casualties/Patients
FHP-5	Provide Routine and Emergency Dental Care
FHP-6	Provide Definitive Dental Care for Casualties and Patients
FHP-7	Provide Oral Surgery and Maxillofacial Care for Casualties and Patients
FHP-8	Augment Assigned and Embarked Medical Personnel
FHP-9	Provide Medical and Dental Support Services to Other Units or Military Services
FHP-10	Provide Medical Care to Assigned and Embarked Personnel
LOG-1	Conduct Underway Replenishment
LOG-2	Transfer and Receive Cargo and Personnel
LOG-3	Coodinate and provide in-theater operational support
LOG-4	Provide Political-Military Support to Other Nations, Groups, and Government Agencies
MOB-1	Operate Ship's Propulsion Plant to Designed Capability
MOB-2	Prevent and Control Damage
MOB-3	Perform Seamanship, Airmanship, and Navigation Tasks
MOB-4	Maintain Mount-Out Capabilites

Figure D-1: Partial listing of requirements for next-generation hospital ship (T-AH 21)
SWBS	Description
100	Hull Structure, General
110	Shell and Support Structure
120	Hull Structural Bulkheads
130	Hull Decks
140	Hull Platforms and Flats
150	Deck House Stucture
160	Special Structures (e.g. ramp)
170	Masts, Kingposts, and Service Platforms
180	Foundations
190	Special Purpose Systems
200	Propulsion Plant, General
220	Energy Generating System (Non-nuclear)
230	Propulsion Units
240	Transmission and Propulsor Systems
250	Propulsion Support System
260	Propulsion Support Systems - Fuel and Lube Oil
290	Special Purpose Systems (e.g. bow thruster)
300	Electric Plant, General
310	Electric Power Generation
320	Power Distribution Systems
330	Lighting System
340	Power Generation Support Systems
390	Special Purpose Systems (e.g. Energy Storage)
400	Command and Surveillance, General
410	Command and Control Systems
420	Navigation Systems
420	Interior Communications
440	Exterior Communications
450	Surveillance Systems (Surface)
400	Survenial Constance Systems (Surface)
500	Auviliary Systems General
510	Climate Control
520	See Water Systems
520	Eroch Water Systems
540	Fuels and Lubricents Hendling and Storage
550	Air Gos and Miss Fluid Systems
550	All, Gas, and Misc. Fluid Systems
570	Linderway Deplenishment Systems
590	Machanical Handling Systems
500	Special Dumona Systems (c. a. swillion modical comica)
590	Special Purpose Systems (e.g. auxiliary medical service)
600	Outint and Furnishings, General
610	Snip Fittings
620	Hull Compartmentation
630	Preservatives and Coatings
640	Living Spaces
650	Service Spaces
660	Working Spaces
670	Stowage Spaces
690	Special Purpose Systems - Medical

Figure D-2: T-AH 21 Sub-systems, listed by SWBS Group



Figure D-3: Structure of the Design Structure Matrix (DSM) with row and column labels

Appendix E: Shipbuilding Processes and Rate Coefficients

Rate coefficients are determined through a sum of the sub-process inputs grouped by units of measurement. In a model of a real-world shipyard process, each sub-process would have an observed rate. To protect proprietary shipyard data, only figures for a generalized rate coefficient are used in this model, however, the structure of the sub-process decomposition is retained.

$$T_i = \kappa_{1,i} + \kappa_{2,i} [\text{Quantity}_i] + \kappa_{3,i} [\text{Length}_i]$$

4 - 12 - 24 - 2	Pn	ocess Inputs	日本の設定した	Coefficien	ts
Activity	Units	Units	k1	k2 (hr/#)	k3 (hr/FT)
Shape	Plates	Ft of torch passes	0.2	0.5	0.05
Mill	Plates	Ft of edges to mill	0.1	0.55	0.04
Seam Weld	Resulting panels	Ft of seams	0.2	0.6	0.035
Mark	Panels	Ft of marking	0.1	0.4	0.02
Cut - Plate	Cut Plates	Ft of cut perimeter	0.2	0.3	0.05
Cut - Insert	cutouts	Ft of cutout perimeter	0.2	0.3	0.05
Insert Weld	inserts	Ft of insert perimeter	0.2	0.3	0.07
Fillet Weld	units	Ft of BHD-deck joints	0.2	0.3	0.0
Fillet Weld	units	Ft of BHD BHD joints	0.2	0.3	0.00
Fillet Weld	T connections	States and the second	0.2	0.3	0.0
Foundation Weld	Poimts	Ft of foundation	0.2	0.3	0.0
Pipe Field Run - Fuel	Pipe lines	Ft of pipung	0.1	2	0.0
Pipe Cut - Fuel	Pipe lines	Ft of pipung	0.1	0.1	0.0
Pipe Bend - Fuel	Pipe lines	Ft of pipung	0.1	0.4	0.0
Install Pipe - Fuel	Pipe lines	Ft of pipung	0.1	1	0.0
Field - Hyd	Pipe lines	Ft of pipung	0.1	2	0.0
Cut - Hyd	Pipe lines	Ft of pipung	0.1	0.1	0.0
Bend - Hyd	Pipe lines	Ft of pipung	0.1	0.4	0.0
Install - Hyd	Pipe lines	Ft of pipung	0.1	1	0.0
Field - Water	Pipe lines	Ft of pipung	0.1	2	0.0
Cut - Water	Pipe lines	Ft of pipung	0.1	0.1	0.0
Bend - Water	Pipe lines	Ft of pipung	0.1	0.4	0.0
Install - Water	Pipe lines	Ft of pipung	0.1	I see states 1	0.0
Field - Air/Gas	Pipe lines	Ft of pipung	0.1	1 2	0.0
Cut - Air/Gas	Pipe lines	Ft of pipung	0.1	0.1	0.0
Bend - Air/Gas	Pipe lines	Ft of pipung	0.1	0.4	0.0
Install - Air/Gas	Pipe lines	Ft of pipung	0.1	I and the second	0.0
Field - HVAC	Pipe lines	Ft of pipung	0.1	1 2	0.0
Cut - HVAC	Pipe lines	Ft of pipung	0,1	0.1	0.0
Bend - HVAC	Pipe lines	Ft of pipung	0.1	0.4	0.0
Install - HVAC	Pipe lines	Ft of pipung	0.1	a se de ser a s	0.0
Electrical Distribution Line	Wire lines	Ft of wiring	0.1	0.4	0.0
Communication Line	Communication lines	Ft of wiring	0.1	0.4	0.0
Grind Paint	Units	L+W+H Total Dimension	0.1	0.5	5 0.
Paint	Units	L+W+H Total Dimension	0.3	0.5	5 0.
Remove Insulation (Lagging)	Units	L+W+H Total Dimension	0.3	0.5	5 <u>0</u> .
Insulate (Lagging)	Units	L+W+H Total Dimension	0.:	0.5	5 <u>0</u> .
Surrounding Space	Spaces affected				5
Fire Watch	Jobs	A CARLES AND	1		5
Weld Deconfliction	Jobs	and the second s	Contraction (5
Shipfitting Deconfliction	Jobs	100 100 100 Sea			5
Crane	Equipment Pieces	NA			5
Drydock	Equipment Pieces		(5
Weld Equipment	Equipment Pieces				5
Shipfitting Equipment	Equipment Pieces	NA NA	ALC: N. CALLS		5

Figure E-1: Process inputs and rate coefficients

Activity	Sub 1	Non-Scaling (hr)	Quantity- Scaling (hr/#)	Length-Scaling (hr/ft)	Sub 2	Non-Scaling (hr)	Quantity- Scaling (hr/#)	Length-Scaling (hr/ft)
Shape	Load Plate		Х	1	Layout chalk lines		CARLES STA	Х
Mill	Load Plate		х		Auto Mill		A PLAN AND	Х
Seam Weld	Edge Prep	1 1 1 2 2 4 4 P. C	х	1 S - 2 - 04	Load Plate	Section Section	Х	1. S. S. S. 18
Mark	Align Plate		х	100 C	Run Plasma Cutter	de la States	and the second	X
Cut - Plate	Load Plate	and the second	х	and the second s	Quality Control Checks		Х	
Cut - Insert	Manual Torch Cut			Х	Grind	100	X	and the second
Insert Weld	Remove Tabs	A 2 Marine	Х	- Second Second	Load Insert	No. and Sugar	X	a second and the second
Fillet Weld	Edge Prep	1323 23	Contraction of the	х	Hang BHD	and the second	Sile Comments	X
Fillet Weld	Align w/ comealongs	State State	Х	San La Star	Tack Seams	Real Providence	BICK COMPACE	Х
Fillet Weld	Release Tack Welds for Realignment	S 125 . 19	х	Contract of the	Bust Welds of Both T's	and the second second	X	Anterior al
Foundation Weld	Align Plate		х		Tack Foundation		and the second	X
Pipe Field Run - Fuel	Measure Pipe System	A State	Х	No. Street and a street	Route Pipe System	States and	X	
Pipe Cut - Fuel	Un-roll length		And the second	Х	Cut Length	State States	X	and the second second
Pipe Bend - Fuel	Transfer Pipe to Bending Machine			х	Align Bend Machine		X	Contraction of the second
Install Pipe - Fuel	Lift Pipe Assy.		Х	Dr. Markan	Align Pipe Assy.	C. C. Owners	Х	Constant and a second
Field - Hyd	Measure Pipe System	and the second	х	12 A - SA	Route Pipe System		X	- Charles
Cut - Hyd	Un-roll length	and the second se		X	Cut Length	and the second second second	X	A MARCELLAND
Bend - Hyd	Transfer Pipe to Bending Machine	E State State	Constant and	x	Align Bend Machine		X	No. 24 Miles
Install - Hyd	Lift Pipe Assy.		Х	and the second	Align Pipe Assy.	and the second	X	and the second second
Field - Water	Measure Pipe System		х	LESS ALL MAY	Route Pipe System		X	
Cut - Water	Un-roll length	and the second second	Lauss results	х	Cut Length		X	and the country of
Bend - Water	Transfer Pipe to Bending Machine	A State of the state of	Battle (1921)	X	Align Bend Machine	all search and search	x	ANTI-LA PARTIE
Install - Water	Lift Pipe Assy.	a harris	X	1.4	Align Pipe Assy.	State of the	X	the first start
Field - Air/Gas	Measure Pipe System		x	No. of the local	Route Pipe System	and the second	X	
Cut - Air/Gas	Un-roll length		Me Cost	X	Cut Length	a state of the state of the	X	NA GALLA
Bend - Air/Gas	Transfer Pipe to Bending Machine	a second second	the second second	x	Align Bend Machine	Sugar Wards	x	A CONTRACTOR OF A
Install - Air/Gas	Lift Pipe Assy.		X	La constante	Align Pipe Assy.	Contraction of the	x	111 122 123
Field - HVAC	Measure Pipe System		X		Route Pipe System	1 2. A. Q. S. A.	x	S. INDER LEASE
Cut - HVAC	Un-roll length	harden de	A Designation	Х	Cut Length	State Manage	X	
Bend - HVAC	Transfer Pipe to Bending Machine	- HANNAR AND	and the second	X	Align Bend Machine	Contraction of the	x	Non-Section
Install - HVAC	Lift Pipe Assy.		х	Ineres States and	Align Pipe Assy.		X	

Figure E-2: Selected sub-process list and coefficient units, sub-process 1-3



Figure E-3: Selected sub-process list and coefficient units, sub-process 4-6

Appendix F: Simulation of Shipbuilding Processes for SWBS Group 580 Requirement Change

		580 - Mechanical Handling Systems
	SWBS	Tender Boat Crane Capacity Increase
	100	Hull Structure, General
	110	Shell and Support Structure
	120	Hull Structural Bulkheads
	130	Hull Decks
0	140	Hull Platforms and Flats
0	150	Deck House Stucture
5	160	Special Structures (e.g. ramp)
a	170	Masts, Kingposts, and Service Platforms
1	180	Foundations
	500	Auxiliary Systems, General
-	540	Fuels and Lubricants. Handling and Storage
	550	Air, Gas, and Misc. Fluid Systems
	560	Ship Control Systems
	570	Underway Replenishment Systems
	0.0	
Contraction of the second	100	Hull Structure, General
1/2 MESS	110	Shell and Support Structure
	120	Hull Structural Bulkheads
	130	Hull Decks
Q	140	Hull Platforms and Flats
0	150	Deck House Stucture
~	160	Special Structures (e.g. ramp)
1	170	Maste Kingposts and Service Platforms
	180	Foundations
	200	Flactric Plant General
S	210	Electric Power Generation
~	220	Power Distribution Systems
	320	Lighting System
.5	500	Auxilian/Systems General
Þ	540	Fuels and Lubricente, Hendling and Storage
St	550	Air Cas and Miss Fluid Systems
	550	Shin Control Systems
	570	Undervery Deplenishment Systems
and the second	570	Onderway Represiminent Systems
	100	Hull Structure, General
	110	Shell and Support Structure
dia sie	120	Hull Structural Bulkheads
A MARTER	130	Hull Decks
	140	Hull Platforms and Flats
	150	Deck House Stucture
拉 爾爾爾德	160	Special Structures (e.g. ramp)
	170	Masts, Kingposts, and Service Platforms
(7	180	Foundations
ă	300	Electric Plant, General
S	310	Electric Power Generation
0.0	320	Power Distribution Systems
.5	330	Lighting System
#	400	Command and Surveillance, General
E	430	Interior Communications
5	500	Auxiliary Systems, General
0	540	Fuels and Lubricants, Handling and Storage
	550	Air, Gas, and Misc. Fluid Systems
the form for	560	Ship Control Systems
	570	Underway Replenishment Systems
	600	Outfit and Furnishings, General
State of the	610	Ship Fittings
	650	Service Spaces
	660	Working Spaces
	670	Stowage Spaces

Figure F-1: Affected sub-systems listed by stage of construction in which requirement change issued

0.05	0.04	0.035	0.02	0.05	1010	0.05	0.07	0.06	2000	000	0.00	0.06	0.2	00	1.0	02	0.2	0	4		0	1	0.04	A MA	2000	0.02	0.05	005	200	100	0.00	0.06	0.06	0.06	100	TOTO	10:0	100	10.0	0.01	100	TAN	10:0	0.01	0.01	001	100	10.0	100	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	001	Inn	0.01	0.01	10.0	100	100	0.01	0.2	0.2	02	00	4.0	0	0	0	1
0.5	0.55	0.6	0.4	10		0.3	0.3	01	0.0	20	5.0	0.3	0.5	20	2.0	0.5	0.5	5					0.55	20	2.0	0.4	0.3	20		5.0	0.3	0.3	0.3	20	-	4	1.0	0.4	1	2		10	0.4	1	2	0.1	10	0.4	1	2	0.1	0.4	-	~		0.1	0.4	Concernance.	0.4		0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	20	- And	~	5	5	
0.2	0	0.2	0.1	02		0.2	0.2	0.0	00		0.2	0.2	0.2	00	1.4 1	0.2	0.2	0	9		0		0.1	20	2.0	0.1	0.2	0.0		7.0	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.0	10	0.1	1.0	0.1	0.1	0.1		1.0	1.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	10	1.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	10	10	1.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	10	1.0	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.0	2	0	0	0	
60 Pt of torch passes	80 Pt of edges to mill	110 Ft of seams	130 Ft of marking	2001 Pt of cast menimeter	The particular and the particular	180) Ft of cutout perimeter	280 Pt of insert perimeter	75 Ph of RHD-deck toints	Tel De Ar DEITY DEITY Livite		and the second second second	90 Pt of foundation.	OIL+W+H Total Dimension	and and I have been and the second	THE REAL PROPERTY OF THE PROPE	0 L+W+H Total Dimension	50/L+W+H Total Dimension						76 Pt of edges to mill	and a second sec	STIESS IN UNIT	85 Pt of marking	150 Pt of cut perimeter	On Di of estimation merimeter		200 Pt of inser permeter	SO PT of BHID-deck joints	80 Ft of BHD BHD joints		Total De of Coundation	AND REAL OF LEAST	AN FLOI PEPUD	ZUX) PT OI PIPUNG	200 Pt of pipung	200 Ft of pipung	160 Pt of pinune		Sundid to Li col	1040 Ft of pipting	160 Pt of pipung	350 Pt of pipung	350 Pt of nimero	300 IS of an interest	Sould of pipering	350 Pt of pipung	80 Pt of pipung	80) Pt of pipung	80 Pt of eixtne	201 Et al airente	100 Dr of almost	Shind to M MI	100 Pt of pipung	100 Pt of pipung	100 Pt of pipung	Ten St adding	Sinter to LI Acc	350 Pt of winng	0 L+W+H Total Dimension	200 L+W+H Total Dimension	0/L+W+H Total Dimension	Cold AWART Potel Discontion	TRONGLINING THAT A THE WALL AND THE				
6 Plates	6 Plates	3 Resulting punels	3. Panels	6. Cut Plates	Cita Latto	4 outouts	4 insects	2 Interior			48 I connections	11 Points	OlUmber	1 ITale	1 Units	0 Units	1 Units	4 John	c Ithe	5000 G	Soor o		2 Plates		I Kesutung panets	1 Panels	4 Cut Plates	1 metante		4 mserts	l units	1 units	12 T connections	of Buint	of Contract	I ripe titles	I Pipe lines	1 Pipe lines	1 Pipe lines	1 Pine lines		I LIDE HINGS	1 Pipe lines	1 Pipe lines	I Pine lines	1 Pine lines	I DO TION	Pipe lines	Pipe lines	1 Pipe lines	1 Pipe lines	Pine lines	Black finnes	I DOL TOWN	Lipe lines	Pipe lines	1 Pipe lines	[Pine lines	I NEW KAR	WICH DIRES	Communication lines	0 Units	Units	0 Units	1 IT-LA	1 Units	3 Jobs	3 Jobs	3 Actor	
Shipfitting Shape-203-Manual-Torch	Weld Mill-220-Auto-Lineinger-3/16	Weld Seam Weld-220-Auto-Seamer-SAW-Ship Shape	Weld Mark-200-Auto-Plaema Cuther	Weld Control Manual Control 216	TTEN CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT AND A CONSTRUCT OF A CON	Weld Cat-500-Manual-Torch	Weld Insert Weld-220-Semi Auto-Tractor-C= 5/16-Rect-Shin Shape-Straight Edans	W-H ISIA W-H-23C-Manual-BHD-D-4	And And Provide And		Weld Prulet Weld-235-Manual-I connections - BHID to deck	Weld	Costine	Custom	Contrige	Contings	Costinge	resort Labor		weight the second se	Shiptitting		Weld Mill-220-Auto-Lineinnee-3/16		web State Web State Schwarzensers web State	Weld Mark-200-Auto-Plasma Cutter	Weld Cut-200-Auto-Planua Cutter-V16	W-H Constraint Train		Weld Weld Interf Weld-ZDOSenn Auto-Inscirve= y Io-Rect-Ship Shape-Struggt Edges	Weld Prület Weld-235-Manual-BHD-Dock	Weld [Filter Weld-235-Manual-BHD-BHD	Weld Either Weld-375-Manuari-T connections - BHD in dock			Shipitta A	Shipfifting	Shipfitting	Shinfittine	Ning Rive	Sumifies	Supporting	Supfitting	Shipfifting	Senditive Senditive			Ship(fiting	Shipfifting	Shinofittine	Service S	Nucleities		1. Contraction	Shujifikag	Shipfitting	Shipfitting	Nind(stine	augusta	Amplitude A	Shipfitting	Costinge	Costines	Continue	Contrast	Costinge	pport Labor	Weld	Dirac (Filine	Semulass.
												and the second second second				0																								-				5	5				2	5	5					5		5			5						Su	A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR O	5	
Shape	MGR	Seam Weld	Mark	Cut - Plats	ATT I THE	Cut - Insert	Insert Weld	Fillet Weld	Putra Vicity	LINE WEN	Fillet Weld	Foundation Weld	Grind Paint	Brint	LINK	Remove Insulation (Lapsin	Insulate (Lagging)	Fire Watch		Weid Leconincion	Shipfitting Deconfliction		Mill		Seam Well	Mark	Cot - Plate	111 2	11201-101	Insert Weld	Fillet Weld	Fillet Weld	Fillet Weld	Control of the second	Lourdanon word	Pipe Field Kim - Fuel	Pipe Cut - Puel	Pipe Bend - Fuel	Install Pine - Fuel	Field - Hed	LKW-UT	Cut - Hyd	Bend - Hyd	Install - Hvd	Pield - Water	Ca. War	CIR-War	Bond - Water	Install - Water	Field - Air/Oas	Cut - AirGas	Rend - AirGas	and an and an and an and an and an		Field-HVAC	Cut-HVAC	Bend - HVAC	Install - HVAC	AUAT-India	Electrical Distribution Lan	Communication Line	Grind Paint	Paint	Pernote Insulation (1 acoin	The second second second second	insulate (LASSING)	Fire Watch	Weld Deconfliction	Chinfittine Decenfliction	Stappantic Lower and
Hull Structure, General	Shell and Support Structure	Hull Structural Bulkheads	Hull Decks	Hall Disforms and Elsts	LIGHT LIGHTALING STATICAS	Deck House Stucture	Special Structures (e.g. ramp)	Maste Kinnoste and Service Platforme		r-outwanouts													Auxiliary Systems. General		Puets and Lubncants, Handing and Storage	Air, Gas, and Mise. Fluid Systems	Shin Control Systems	The second secon	CINCLWAY APPENDENTION SYSTEMS																																									-
100	110	120	130	140	2	150	160	021	001	net													200		200	550	095	5	200																																									
																														4	qu	194		01	10	μd	ap			Bu		D																												

Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster - 150 -

The control	0 000 0 000 0 000 0 000 0 0 000 0 0 000 0 0 000 0 0 000 0 0 0 000 0 0 0 000 0 0 0 0 000 0	6 0.035 1 0.025 1 0.025 0 0.056 0 0.055 0 0	
Image: manual status			98888888888888888888888888888888888888
The function of the state of the s			
Image: constraint of the sector of	 11) Carlosh seein 21) Carlosh seein 21) Carlosh seein 22) Carlosh seein 23) Carlosh seein 24) Carlosh seein 25) Carlosh seein 26) Carlosh seeine 27) Carlosh seeine 27) Carlosh seeine 28) Carlosh seeine 29) Carlosh seeine 20) Carlosh seeine 21) Carlosh seeine 21) Carlosh seeine 22) Carlosh seeine 23) Last and the seeine 24) Last and the seeine 25) Last and the seeine 26) Last and the seeine 27) Last and the seeine 28) Last an	100 For feature 90 For entrating 90 For entrating 90 For entrating 90 For entrationer 90 For entrationer 90 For entrationer 90 For entrationer 90 For entrationer 90 For Forestationer 90 For Forestationer 90 Forestationer 91 Forestationer 92 Forestationer 93 Forestationer 94 Forestationer 94 Forestationer 95 Forestatio	 F. P. et al. (ed.). In a class, and the analysis of the analysis
Image: Solution of the	2) Plater 2) Plater 2) Plater 6 Restricted 6 Restricted 6 Restricted 2) Col Plater 2) Col Plater 2) Col Plater 2) Col Plater 1) Deter 1) Deter 1) Deter 1) Deter 2) Col Plater 2) Col Plater 1) Deter 2) Col Plater 2) Col Plater	(Restitutesteed Peeds SCATPates SCATPates Scattest Jacobs Varian Control Varian C	Attact Pitate Prestitististeretric Restitististeretric Prestitististeretric Prestitististeretric Prestitististeretric Prestitististeretric Prestitististeretric Prestitististeretric Prestitististeretric Prestitististeretric Prestitististeretric Prestitistististististististististististist
Other Contract and Shore Shore and and	Statisfies Statisfies Attraction Marcel Treat Weid Data Schweid-Ammerch Treat Weid Data Schweid-Ammerch Treat Weid Data Schweid-Ammerch Treat Weid The Weid Treat Weid The Weid Treat Weid The Weid Treat Weid The Weid Schweid Commerce Commerce Media The Weid Schweid Media The Weid Schweid Media The Weid Schweid Media The Weid Schweid	Widd Sam Weld 2De, date States Weid Sam Weld 2De, date States Weid CuteSchoos, and the School Cates Weid CuteSchoos, and the Cates of the School Cates Weid Test Net School Cate Weid Test Net School Cates Weid Test N	Weid Multi-ZDA-Antio-Limitingen-X/16 Weid Math.ZDA-Antio-Limitingen-X/16 Weid Math.ZDA-Antio-Limitingen-X/16 Weid CodeXDA-Antio-Limitingen-X/16 Weid CodeXDA-Antio-Limitingen-X/16 Weid CodeXDA-Antio-Limitingen-X/16 Weid CodeXDA-Antio-Limitingen-X/16 Weid CodeXDA-Antio-Limitingen-X/16 Weid Film Weid-Strate-St
were, Creened Andrew Constrained			
when, Control disponts house and core and Plats and more that there are that and house and the second and the core of the core	Ringer All Seem Tripid Seem Tripid March Call - Binet Call - Binet Call - Binet Binet Visid Distribution Conditional Visid Conditional Vis	Seem Virbal Seem Virbal Media Cut. 2 Barri Cut. 2 Barri Cut. 2 Barri Cut. 2 Barri Piller Virbal Piller Virbal Cond. Direct (Lapido) Timbe (Lapido) Timbe (Lapido) Timbe (Lapido) Timbe (Lapido) Timbe (Labido)	All Annual and a set of the set o
100 Statifies 111 Statifies 112 Statifies 113 Statifies 114 Statifies 115 Statifies 115 Statifies 116 St	 Hall Structure, Constant Structure, Constant Structure Structure Hall Structures of Pata Deck Handens Statutes Nature Structures (Le, marging Nature, Kangnous, and Service Platforms Foredistion 	300 Ekerisk-Phan, Connerl 310 Ekerisk-Pware Gameration 320 Pewer Distribution Systems 330 Lightung Systems	 Arrillary System, Chennal Park and Libberssis, Escalding and Sterenes Mar, Can, and Alsin: Fyuid System Stap Control System Underwey Reptatiohement System

Figure F-3: Unit Assembly SOC tasks for SWBS 580 requirement change

000 000 000 000 000 000 000 000 000 00	0.001 0.00100000000	100 500	800 800 800 800 800 800 800 800	0.04 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05
2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	90 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80	03	Ŋaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaa	000 000 000 000 000 000 000 000 000 00
00000000000000000000000000000000000000	00000000000000000000000000000000000000	02 01	88888888888888888888888888888888888	00 00000000000000000000000000000000000
 [15] K. Contable means [16] K. Weill The Means 	 (b) T of communication of the multiple of the multintegee of the multiple of the multiple of the multiple of them	60 Pt of cat perimeter (00 Pt of catont perimeter 60 Pt of withe	9(6) R. C. Colombia 20(7) R. Colombia 20(7) R. Colombia 20(7) R. Colombia </td <td> Wey Holdensson and Wey Holdensson Wey Holdensson Wey</td>	 Wey Holdensson and Wey Holdensson Wey Holdensson Wey
(1) Then (1)	(Sentimente Tobels Stores Stores Stores Stores Stores Stores (Stores Sto	2 Cut Plates 2 outcome Commanication lines	2.040 2.	2 State 2 Stat
Mare Stratistical Tech (2012) Stratistical Tech (2012) Stratistical Stratistical Strating States (2012) Stratistical Stratistical Stratistical Stratistical Stratistical (2012) Stratistical Stratistical Stratistical Stratistical Stratistical Stratistical Accession Stratistical Stratistical Stratistical Stratistical Stratistical Stratistical Stratistical Stratistical Accession Stratistical Stratistical Stratistical Stratistical Stratistical Stratistical Stratistical Stratistical Accession Stratistical Stratis Stratistical	tean The Air	Na. 2004. Autor Pf seeman Catter 3/16 Na. 5005. Manual - Toech	18. 2014 Alexis Amingree 2.14. and a Material Amingree 2.14. and a Material Amingree and Amingree 2.14. and Material Amingree 2.14. Material A	 Statistical Americanismo 16 6 Statistical Americanismo 16 6 Statistical Americanismo 16 4 Statisticanismo 16 4 Statistical Americanismo 16 4 Statisticanismo 16 4 Statisticanisticanismo 16 4
Reddining Reddining Paral Paral Paral Paral Paral Paral Paral Paral Confide Paral Pa	Total Total <th< th=""><th>Weld C Weld C Shipffitting</th><th>хена хена улан 1.0.</th><th>Vield Vield Vield Vield Vield Vield Vield Vield Vield Condings Vield Vi</th></th<>	Weld C Weld C Shipffitting	хена хена улан 1.0.	Vield Vield Vield Vield Vield Vield Vield Vield Vield Condings Vield Vi
Balact Balact Balact Ameri Ameri Ameri Ameri Ameri Pitter Weid Pitter Weid Pitter Weid Pitter Castlon Pitter Castlon Pitter Castlon Pitter Castlon Pitter Castlon Pitter Castlon Pitter Castlon Pitter Castlon	Stean Weid March Cau Jhant Cau Jhant Cau Jhant Dant Jh	Cost - Phase Cat - Breect Compared on Line	All And All And All And All And All All All All All All All All All Al	Mill Sear Mild Mark Car Janer Mark Car Janer Data Mild Plant Wald Plant Wald Plant Wald Data Mild Data Mil
 Mal Russens, Canani Mal Russens, Canani Mal and Instruction Russens Mal Russens and Indiana Million Markins and Trans and	 Bicette Flues. Constrained Pance Elevation Stratements Laghtang Strement 	400 Command and Surveillance, General 430 Interior Communications	 Maillant System, Canard Maillant Systems, Sanda A. Canard Shift, Fadd System Usaren Si Printelement System 	 Call and Final Animalings. Control 40: Sala Filmani and Animal Anim
			202 Building hafte abem agneit2	

Figure F-4: Outfitting SOC tasks for SWBS 580 requirement change

Appendix G: Cost and Schedule Simulator Views



Figure G-1: Layer 1 Simulation Results (Deterministic)



Figure G-2: Layer 2 Simulation Results (Deterministic)

Change made prior to assembly	Time 245.59 Welding 114.3 Shipfitting 107.6 Coatings 467.49 Total (hrs) 20 Total (dsys) 35 Support Labor	Cost Rates \$ 120 Welding \$ 120 Shipfitting \$ 200 Contings \$ 50 Support Labor	Cont \$ 29,471 Welding \$ 13,716 Shipfitting \$ 21,520 Coatings \$ 1,750 Support Labor \$ 66,457 Total	
e after Unit Assembly SOC	Time: 1438.28 Welding 637.2 Shipfitting 1641.6 Coatings 3717.08 Total (hrs) 155 Total (days) 220 Support Labor	Const Raises \$ 120 Welding \$ 120 Shipfitting \$ 200 Coatings \$ 50 Support Labor	Cost \$ 172,594 Welding \$ 76,464 Shipfiting \$ 328,320 Coatings \$ 11,000 Support Labor \$ 588,378 Total	Initial SOC Time Factors k1 k2 (#) k3 (FT) 1 1 1 Unit Assembly Time Factors k1 k2 (#) k3 (FT) 4 4 4 4 Outfitting Time Factors k3 (FT) k3 (FT) k1 k2 (#) k3 (FT) 8 8 8
soc Change mad	8.0 Time Increase 4949 Welding 1835.6 Shipfiting 7241.6 Costings	Cost Rates \$ 120 Welding \$ 120 Shipfitting \$ 200 Coatings \$ 50 Support Labor	Cost Cost Increase \$.593,880 Welding \$.220,272 Shipfitting \$.1,448,320 Coatings \$.32,000 Support Labor	
Change made after Outfitting	14026.2 I otai (ms) 585 Total (days) 640 Support Labor 30.0 Time Increase		\$ 2,294,472 Total 34.5 Cost Increase	

25 (\$/hr) E 30 (\$/hr) E 30 (\$/hr) E 0 (\$/hr) E Figure G-3: Layer 3 Simulation Results (Deterministic)

25 (\$/hr) Co 20 (\$/hr) Co 100 (\$/hr) Co

rate bles rate

er3	Cost	S 29,471 Welding	\$ 13,716 Shipfitting	\$ 21,520 Coatings	\$ 1,750 Support Labor		\$ 66,457 Total		Cost	\$ 172,594 Welding	S 76,464 Shipfitting	\$ 328,320 Coatings	\$ 11,000 Support Labo		\$ 588,378 Total		Cost	\$ 593,880 Welding	\$ 220,272 Shipfitting	\$ 1,448,320 Coatings	\$ 32,000 Support Labo		\$ 2,294,472 Total	
Lay	Schedule	245.59 Welding (hrs)	114.3 Shipfitting (hrs)	107.6 Coatings (hrs)		467.49 Total (hrs)	20 Total (days)	35 Support Labor (hrs)	Schedule	1438.28 Welding (hrs)	637.2 Shipfitting (hrs)	1641.6 Coatings (hrs)		3717.08 Total (hrs)	155 Total (days)	220 Support Labor (hrs)	Schedule	4949 Welding (hrs)	1835.6 Shipfitting (hrs)	7241.6 Coatines (hrs)		14026.2 Total (hrs)	585 Total (days)	640 Support Labor (hrs)
ir 2	Cost	\$ 29,471 Welding	\$ 13,716 Shipfitting	\$ 21,520 Coatings	\$ 1,750 Support Labor		\$ 66,457 Total		Cont	\$ 43,148 Welding	\$ 19,116 Shipfitting	\$ 82,080 Coatings	\$ 2,750 Support Labor		\$ 147,094 Total		Cost	\$ 74.235 Welding	\$ 27.534 Shipfitting	\$ 181 040 Continues	\$ 4,000 Support Labor		\$ 286,809 Total	
Laye	Schedule	245.59 Welding (hrs)	114.3 Shipfitting (hrs)	107.6 Coatings (hrs)		467.49 Total (hrs)	20 Total (days)	35 Support Labor (hrs)	Schedule	359.57 Welding (hrs)	159.3 Shipfitting (hrs)	410.4 Coatings (hrs)		929.27 Total (hrs)	39 Total (days)	55 Support Labor (hrs)	Schedule	618.625 Welding (hrs)	229.45 Shipfitting (hrs)	QAS 7 Creatings (hrs)	(m) Sumo since	1753.275 Total (hrs)	74 Total (days)	80 Support Labor (hrs)
	Cost	\$ 29.471 Welding	\$ 13,716 Shipfitting	\$ 21,520 Coatings	\$ 1,750 Support Labor		\$ 66,457 Total		Cost	\$ 37,091 Welding	\$ 16,800 Shipfitting	\$ 42,480 Coatings	\$ 2,750 Support Labor		\$ 99,121 Total		Cost	S 51 107 Welding	S 18 684 Shinfitting	C 84 640 Cratine	S 3.500 Sumort Labor		\$ 158,021 Total	
Laver	Schedule	245.59 Welding (hrs)	114.3 Shipfitting (hrs)	107.6 Coatings (hrs)		467.49 Total (hrs)	20 Total (days)	35 Support Labor (hrs)	Schedule	309.09 Welding (hrs)	140 Shipfitting (hrs)	212.4 Coatings (hrs)		661.49 Total (hrs)	28 Total (days)	55 Support Labor (hrs)	Schedule	476.64 Welding (hrs)	155 7 Shinditing (hrs)	Summing CCC	(SHI) STITIBON 7.C74	1005.54 Total (hrs)	42 Total (days)	70 Support Labor (hrs)



Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster





Appendix H: Uncertainty Forecasts

ssembly Change Total Time Increase Facto	trom 22.7 to 37.8 0.0 t, the std. error of the mean is 0.1		Forecast values 1,000 30,0 30,0 30,0 30,0 30,1 37,8 1,35 1,35 1,35 1,32 1,32 1,32 1,37 1,37 1,37 1,37 1,37 1,37 1,37 1,37
Forecast Final A	Summary. Entire range is Base case is 3 After 1,000 trials	E Assessor	Statistics: Triels Base Case Mean Mean Median Median Variance Standerd Devi Variance Standerd Devi Variance Standerd Devi Variance Standerd Cevi Mean Maximum Mean Std. Erro Mean Std. Erro
inal Outfitting Stage / Change Total Cost Increase Factor	to 44.0 error of the mean is 0.1		Forecast values 1,000 34.5 34.5 34.6 34.6 34.6 1.9 1.9 1.9 1.9 1.9 1.1.9 1.1.9 1.1.2 1.8 2.5 8 4.4.0 1.1.2 0.1 2.5 8 1.8.2 1.8.2 1.8.2 1.8.2 1.8.2 1.8.2 1.8.2 1.0.00 1.1.2 0.0 1.1.2 0.0 1.1.2 0.0 1.0 0.0 1.0 0.0 1.2 0.0 1.0 0.0 1.0 0.0 1.0 0.0 1.2 0.0 1.0 0.0 1.2 0.0 0.1 3.4.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1
Forecast: Final Assembly	Summary. Entire range is from 25.8 Base case is 34.5 After 1,000 trials, the std.		Statistics: Trials Base Case Mean Mede Median Mode Standard Deviation Variance Standard Deviation Variance Standard Deviation Minimum Maximum Range Width Mean Std. Error
Change Total Cost	4.261 to \$2.898.356 stror of the meen is \$9.267		Forecest values 1.000 \$2.294.472 \$2.294.472 \$2.298.569 \$2.293.048 \$2.893.048 1.1257 \$1.724.261 \$1.724.261 \$1.74.095 \$1.174.095 \$1.74.095
⁻ orecast: Final Assembly	Summary. Entire range is from \$1.72 Báse case is \$2.294,472 After 1.000 trials, the std. e	Approxid	Statistics: Trials Base Case Meen Median Medard Deviation Variatice Stewness Kurtosis Kurtosis Kurtosis Kurtosis Kurtosis Minimurm Maximurm Range Width Meen Std. Error

Figure H-2: Final Assembly SOC uncertainty simulation statistical results

Resilient Acquisition: Unlocking High-Velocity Learning with Model-Based Engineering to Deliver Capability to the Fleet Faster

Appendix I: Verification and Validation Artifacts

In accordance with AIAA Standard S-117A-2016, the following types of V&V artifacts are presented as examples in-practice standards of determining requirement satisfaction of a system or model [73].

Туре	Description	Example
Analysis	Modeling and analytical techniques to predict compliance with the requirements in accordance with quantitative data	Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD) simulation of hullform performance characteristics during Set Based Design downselection process
Demonstration	Operating the system to demonstrate that requirements are fulfilled to cover the qualitative requirement set	Demonstration and Shakedown Operations (DASO) used to operationally test submarine launched weapon systems
Inspection	Visually examining the system, model, or interfaces to ensure compliance or verify design features correspond to stated requirements	Evaluating physical characteristics such as dimensions, features, layout, or clearances between hardware. Checking pass/fail criteria remains valid in a requirement
Test	Proof of concept or preliminary performance characteristics of a model or system using alternate prototype or engineering modules prior to implementing	Conducting qualification level test such as Pre-INSURV Assessments, Acceptance Trials, or Builders Trials

Table I-1: Example V&V artifacts in accordance with AIAA S-117A-2016	[73]
--	------

(This Page Intentionally Left Blank)

Bibliography

- [1] "Status of the Navy," 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.navy.mil/navydata/. [Accessed: 01-Jan-2018].
- [2] R. O 'Rourke, "Navy Force Structure and Shipbuilding Plans: Background and Issues for Congress." Congressional Research Service, 2018.
- [3] "A Design for Maintaining Maritime Superiority 2.0." Chief of Naval Operations, 2018.
- [4] N. Childs and T. Waldwyn, "China's Naval Shipbuilding: Delivering on its Ambition in a Big Way," *International Institute for Strategic Studies*, 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.iiss.org/blogs/military-balance/2018/05/china-naval-shipbuilding. [Accessed: 04-Mar-2019].
- [5] "Chinese Navy," *Global Security*. [Online]. Available: https://www.globalsecurity.org/military/world/china/navy.htm. [Accessed: 29-Oct-2018].
- [6] N. Doerry, "Setting the Stage: Modular Adaptable Ships Imperative," in *Design Sciences* Series: Modular Adaptable Ships, 2018.
- [7] Y. Sheffi, *The Resilient Enterprise: Overcoming Vulnerability for Competitive Advantage*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 2005.
- [8] O. De Weck, D. Roos, and C. Magee, *Engineering Systems*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 2011.
- [9] T. Jackson, D. Keating, R. Mather, J. Matlis, M. Silvestro, and B. Ting, "The Role of Modeling, Simulation, Testing, and Analysis Throughout the Design, Development, and Production of the Mark 6 Mod 1 Guidance System," in AIAA Missile Sciences Conference, 2010.
- [10] S. J. Spear, *The High-Velocity Edge*, 2nd ed. New York: McGraw-Hill, 2009.
- [11] INCOSE Systems Engineering Handbook: A Guide for System Life Cycle Processes and Activities, 4th ed. 2015.
- [12] "Navy Shipbuilding: Past Performance Provides Valuable Lessons for Future Investments, GAO-18-238SP." U.S. Government Accountability Office, 2018.
- [13] M. Schwartz and C. V. O'Connor, "The Nunn-McCurdy Act: Background, Analysis, and Issues for Congress," Washington, D.C., 2016.
- [14] R. Kane and J. Bartolomei, "Taming the Tigers," *Air Sp. Power J.*, no. April, pp. 4–27, 2013.
- [15] S. McCrystal, T. Collins, D. Silverman, and C. Fussell, *Team of Teams: New Rules of Engagement for a Complex World*. Portfolio, 2015.
- [16] "Spring Drive Movement," Seiko Watch Corporation, 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.grand-seiko.com/us-en/about/movement/springdrive. [Accessed: 03-Jan-2019].
- [17] A. Olechowski, "Essays on Decision Making in Complex Engineering Systems Development," Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 2017.
- [18] K. Sinha, "Structural Complexity and its Implications for Design of Cyber-Physical Systems," Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 2014.
- [19] R. Spencer, "Testimony for Confirmation as Secretary of the Navy before Senate Armed Services Committee." 2017.
- [20] O. De Weck, C. Eckert, and J. Clarkson, "Classification of Uncertainty for Early Product and System Design," in *International Conference on Engineering Design*, 2007, no. 480, pp. 28–31.

- [21] B. Cameron, "Commonality and Architecture." Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, 2017.
- [22] R. O. Work, "The Littoral Combat Ship: How We Got Here, and Why," 2013.
- [23] N. G. Leveson, Engineering a Safer World. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 2011.
- [24] "Combat Information Center Yesterday and Today," Naval History and Heritage Command, 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.history.navy.mil/research/library/online-reading-room/title-listalphabetically/c/cic-combat-information-center-yesterday-today.html. [Accessed: 31-Jan-2019].
- [25] Defense Acquisitions Guide. Defense Acquisitions University (DAU), 2018.
- [26] "Joint Capabilities Integration & Development System (JCIDS)," Defense Acquisition University Encyclopedia, 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.dau.mil/acquipedia. [Accessed: 04-Dec-2018].
- [27] R. O 'Rourke, "Navy CG(X) Cruiser Program: Background for Congress." Congressional Research Service, 2010.
- [28] P. K. Davis, "Military Transformation? Which Transformation, and What Lies Ahead?" The RAND Corporation, 2010.
- [29] "NAVSEA Design Manager", Phone Interview, 12-18-2018. Washington, D.C.
- [30] "Destroyers DDG," U.S. Navy Fact File, 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.navy.mil/navydata/fact_display.asp?cid=4200&tid=900&ct=4. [Accessed: 30-Jan-2019].
- [31] W. R. Merz, "Statement before before the Subcommittee on Seapower of the Senate Armed Services Committee." Washington, D.C., 2018.
- [32] "Program Manager's Representative", Phone Interview, 08-23-2018. "Shipyard A."
- [33] "LCS Production Manager", Phone Interview, 07-27-2018. "Shipyard A."
- [34] "Littoral Combat Ship LCS," U.S. Navy Fact File, 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.navy.mil/navydata/fact_display.asp?cid=4200&ct=4&tid=1650. [Accessed: 06-Feb-2019].
- [35] "LCS Production Manager", Phone Interview, 10-02-2018. "Shipyard A."
- [36] "OPNAVINST 4700.8K: Trials, Acceptance, Commissioning, Fitting Out, Shakedown, and Post-Shakedown Availability of U.S. Naval Ships Undergoing Construction or Conversion." Department of the Navy, 2014.
- [37] "Program Manager's Representative", Shipyard Visit, 08-31-2018. "Shipyard B."
- [38] S. J. Spear, "Making the Leap: Creating New, Breakthrough Platforms While Sustaining Existing Ones." The High Velocity Edge, LLC, 2018.
- [39] H. K. Bowen and C. Purrington, "Pratt & Whitney: Engineering Standard Work," Harvard Business School Case Study 9-604-084, 2006.
- [40] "Global Shipbuilding Industrial Base Benchmarking Study." Office of the Deputy Under Secretary of Defense (Industrial Policy), 2005.
- [41] "Department of Defense Digital Engineering Strategy," 2018.
- [42] N. Shougarian, M. Chodas, and O. DeWeck, "EM.411 Fundamentals of System Design and Management Lecture Notes: Model Based Systems Engineering." MIT, Cambridge, MA, 2017.
- [43] B. Beihoff et al., "A World In Motion: SE Vision 2025," INCOSE, pp. 1-9, 2014.
- [44] L. Hart, "Introduction To Model-Based System Engineering and SysML," in *Delaware* Valley INCOSE Chapter Meeting, 2015, p. 43.

- [45] "Systems Modeling Language." Object Management Group, 2017.
- [46] R. Deakins and D. Parsons, "A Practitioner's Approach using MBSE in Systems of Systems," *SoSECIE*, no. 14383, pp. 1–10, 2015.
- [47] J. S. Topper and N. C. Horner, "Model-Based Systems Engineering in Support of Complex Systems Development," *Johns Hopkins Appl. Phys. Lab. Tech. Dig.*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 419–432, 2013.
- [48] L. Buffoni-Rogovchenko, P. Fritzson, A. Garro, A. Tundis, and M. Nyberg, "Requirement Verification and Dependency Tracing During Simulation in Modelica," in 8th EUROSIM Congress on Modelling and Simulation, 2013, pp. 561–566.
- [49] "Modelica A Unified Object-Oriented Language for Systems Modeling." Modelica Association, 2014.
- [50] "Modeling Dynamic Systems," in *Simulink User's Guide*, 2018.
- [51] C. Hernandez, M. Rodriguez, I. Diaz, and R. Sanz, "Model Based Engineering of Process Plants using SysML," in 26th European Symposium on Computer Aided Process Engineering – ESCAPE 26, 2016, pp. 1281–1286.
- [52] "ISO 19450:2015 Automation Systems and Integration Object-Process Methodology." ISO Standard, 2015.
- [53] D. Dori, *Model-Based Systems Engineering with OPM and SysML*. New York: Springer, 2016.
- [54] S. D. Eppinger and T. R. Browning, *Design Structure Matrix Methods and Applications*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 2012.
- [55] "Model-Based Systems Engineering," in *INCOSE Systems Engineering Handbook*, 2018, pp. 180–210.
- [56] F. T. Hoban and W. M. Lawbaugh, Eds., *Readings in Systems Engineering*. National Aeornautics and Space Administration.
- [57] D. Kaslow, B. Ayres, P. T. Cahill, L. Hart, and R. Yntema, "A Model-Based Systems Engineering Approach for Defining the Behaviors of CubeSats," *IEEE Aerosp. Conf. Proc.*, no. March, 2017.
- [58] M. Blackburn, "Transforming Systems Engineering through Model-Centric Engineering, Technical Report SERC-2018-TR-103." Systems Engineering Research Center, Stevens Institute of Technology, 2018.
- [59] M. Eckstein, "NAVAIR Pushing Paperless Engineering to Speed Aircraft, Weapon Design," U.S. Naval Institute News, 2017. [Online]. Available: https://news.usni.org/2017/10/24/navair-pushing-paperless-engineering-speed-aircraftweapon-design. [Accessed: 29-Nov-2018].
- [60] P. Zarchan, Tactical and Strategic Missile Guidance, 6th Ed. Reston, VA: AIAA, 2012.
- [61] N. Bursac, A. Albers, and T. Schmitt, "Model Based Systems Engineering in Modular Design-A Potential Analysis using Portal Type Scraper Reclaimers as an Example," *Procedia CIRP*, vol. 50, pp. 802–807, 2016.
- [62] Y. Mordecai and D. Dori, "Agile Modeling of an Evolving Ballistic Missile Defense System with Object-Process Methodology," in *IEEE International Systems Conference*, 2015.
- [63] K. Sutherland, J. Johnson, and P. Valesky, "Warship Design/Combat System Integration: Still A Very Complex Problem," *Nav. Eng. J.*, vol. 130, no. 2, pp. 26–43, 2018.
- [64] T. A. McKenney, L. F. Kemink, and D. J. Singer, "Adapting to Changes in Design Requirements Using Set-Based Design," *Nav. Eng. J.*, vol. 123, no. 3, pp. 66–77, 2011.

- [65] J. Page and J. Harbour, "2.703: Principles of Naval Ship Design." Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, 2017.
- [66] G. Warwick, "Darpa Challenges Combat Vehicle Designers: Do It Quicker," Aviation Week and Space Technology, 2012. [Online]. Available: http://aviationweek.com/awin/darpa-challenges-combat-vehicle-designers-do-it-quicker. [Accessed: 28-Sep-2018].
- [67] D. J. Singer, N. Doerry, and M. E. Buckley, "What is Set-Based Design?," Nav. Eng. J., vol. 121, no. 4, pp. 31–43, 2009.
- [68] B. London, "A Model-Based Systems Engineering Framework for Concept Development," Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 2012.
- [69] D. Dori, "EM.411 Fundamentals of System Design and Management Lecture Notes: MBSE with OPM." MIT, Cambridge, MA, 2017.
- [70] N. Doerry, "A Vision for Ship Design and Analysis Tools," 2008.
- [71] R. Carelli, T. Rapp, and A. Sponseller, "T-AH 21: Next Generation Hospital Ship." Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, 2019.
- [72] T. R. D. Saputri and S.-W. Lee, "Ensuring Traceability in Modeling Requirement Using Ontology Based Approach," in *Requirements Engineering Toward Sustainable World*, 2016, pp. 3–17.
- [73] "AIAA S-117A-2016 Space Systems Verification Program and Management Process." American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, 2016.
- [74] T. Huang *et al.*, "Integrated Computational Materials Engineering and Cost Models Development for Ship Production." Materials Systems Laboratory, MIT, 2018.
- [75] M. Bustamante, R. Roth, and R. Kirchain, "Process-Based Cost Modeling to Support Economic Optimization of Shipyard Construction Practices." Materials Systems Laboratory, MIT, Cambridge, MA, 2018.
- [76] P. Koenig, "Shipbuilding Operations and Technology." Massachusetts Institute of Technology Naval Construction and Engineering Professional Summer, Cambridge, MA, 2017.
- [77] "LCS Production Manager", Sample Shipbuilding Integrated Master Schedule. "Shipyard A," 2018.
- [78] "Oracle Crystal Ball," *Oracle*, 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.oracle.com/applications/crystalball/. [Accessed: 10-Mar-2019].
- [79] J. Mun, "Understanding and Choosing the Right Probability Distributions," in Advanced Analytical Models: Over 800 Models and 300 Applications from the Basel II Accord to Wall Street and Beyond, Wiley & Sons, 2008, pp. 899–917.
- [80] B. J. Bronnenberg, J. Dubé, M. Gentzkow, and J. M. Shapiro, "Do Pharmacists Buy Bayer? Informed Shoppers and the Brand Premium," Q. J. Econ., vol. 130(4), pp. 1669– 1726, 2015.
- [81] M. V. Arena, I. Blickstein, O. Younossi, and C. A. Grammich, "Why Has the Cost of Navy Ships Risen? A Macroscopic Examination of the Trends in U.S. Naval Ship Costs Over the Past Several Decades." RAND Coporation, 2006.
- [82] S. Nagano, "Solid Verification Program Enables Cost-Effective Acquisition of Complex Yet Reliable Space Systems," in *American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics SPACE Conference and Exposition*, 2007.
- [83] R. Claghorn, "Deployment Package Verification and Validation (V&V)." International Council on Systems Engineering (INCOSE), 2013.

- [84] S. Nagano, "Space Systems Verification Program and Management Process," *Syst. Eng.*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 27–38, 2008.
- [85] "Enhanced Ground Testing," *The Charles Stark Draper Laboratory, Inc.*, 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.draper.com/explore-solutions/egt. [Accessed: 02-Aug-2019].
- [86] M. Auguston, C. Whitcomb, and K. Giammarco, "A New Approach to System and Software Architecture SpecificationBased on Behavior Models." Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, CA, 2010.
- [87] N. G. Leveson and J. P. Thomas, "STPA Handbook." Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, 2018.
- [88] S. Abaimov and P. Ingram, "Hacking UK Trident: A Growing Threat." British American Security Information Council, London, United Kingdom, 2017.
- [89] F. Kautz and N. Brock, "Cyber Model-Based Engineering (CMBE) Research Meetings/Discussions." The Charles Stark Draper Laboratories, Cambridge, MA, 2019.
- [90] "Marriott Announces Starwood Guest Reservation Database Security Incident," *Marriott International*, 2018. [Online]. Available: http://news.marriott.com/2018/11/marriott-announces-starwood-guest-reservation-database-security-incident/.
- [91] T. Wang and R. de Neufville, "Real Options 'In' Projects," in 9th Real Options Annual International Conference, 2005.
- [92] M. Austin, "Model-Based Systems Engineering for Cyber-Physical Systems," in *International Conference on Systems*, 2014.
- [93] W. Young, "Applying STPA-SEC to Support Mission Assurance and Security." Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, 2014.
- [94] "Trident II (D-5) Strategic Weapon System Guide for Potential Subcontractors." Strategic Systems Project Office, Washington, D.C., 1982.
- [95] L. O. Mailloux, "Engineering Secure and Resilient Cyber-Physical Systems." Air Force Institute of Technology, 2017.
- [96] D. J. Bodeau and R. Graubart, "Cyber Resiliency Engineering Framework." The MITRE Corporation, Bedford, MA, 2011.
- [97] D. Dori, "OPCAT 3.0 Guide." Enterprise Systems Modeling Laboratory, 2007.
- [98] J. D. Sterman, Business Dynamics: Systems Thinking and Modeling for a Complex World. McGraw-Hill, 2000.
- [99] "Report to Congress on the Annual Long-Range Plan for Construction of Naval Vessels for Fiscal Year 2019." Office of the Chief of Naval Operations, 2018.
- [100] J. Thomas, "Extending and Automating a Systems-Theoretic Hazard Analysis for Requirements Generation and Analysis," Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 2013.
- [101] S. E. McIntosh, "The Wingman-Philosopher of MiG Alley: John Boyd and the OODA Loop," *Air Power Hist.*, vol. 58, no. 4, pp. 24–33, 2011.
- [102] E. Schmitt, "Iraq-Bound Troops Confront Rumsfeld Over Lack of Armor," *The New York Times*, New York, NY, 08-Dec-2004.
- [103] S. J. Pereira, G. Lee, and J. Howard, "System-Theoretic Hazard Analysis Methodology for a Non-advocate Safety Assessment of the Ballistic Missile Defense System," in ALAA Missile Sciences Conference, 2006.